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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the action
to be taken you should immediately consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent professional
adviser duly authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (“FSMA”), if you are in the United Kingdom
or, if not, another appropriately authorised independent financial adviser.
If you have sold or transferred all of your Existing Ordinary Shares in Armstrong Ventures PLC (the “Company”), please send this document,
together with the accompanying Form of Proxy, as soon as possible to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent
through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee. If you have sold part only of your holding of
Existing Ordinary Shares, you should retain these documents.
The Existing Ordinary Shares are admitted to trading on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange (“AIM”). Application will
be made for the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital to be admitted to trading on AIM. The Existing Ordinary Shares are not traded on any other
recognised investment exchange and no application has been made for the Consideration Shares to be admitted to trading on any other
recognised investment exchange. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital
will commence on AIM on 16 May 2016.

ARMSTRONG VENTURES PLC
Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 05628362

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF MELODYVR LTD
CHANGE OF NAME TO EVR HOLDINGS PLC
APPROVAL OF WAIVER OF OBLIGATIONS UNDER RULE 9 OF THE TAKEOVER CODE
SHARE CONSOLIDATION
ADMISSION OF THE ENLARGED SHARE CAPITAL TO TRADING ON AIM
AND
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Nominated Adviser
SPARK Advisory Partners Limited
Authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority

Broker
Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited
Authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority

AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than
to larger or more established companies. AIM securities are not admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority. A prospective
investor should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after careful
consideration and, if appropriate, consultation with an independent financial adviser. Each AIM company is required pursuant to the
AIM Rules for Companies published by the London Stock Exchange (the “AIM Rules”) to have a nominated adviser. The nominated
adviser is required to make a declaration to the London Stock Exchange on admission in the form set out in Schedule Two to the AIM
Rules for Nominated Advisers. The London Stock Exchange has not itself examined or approved the contents of this document. The
AIM Rules are less demanding than the listing rules of the UK Listing Authority. It is emphasised that no application is being made
for admission of these securities to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority. The Existing Ordinary Shares are not dealt in on any
other recognised investment exchange.
The Company, the Existing Directors and the Proposed Directors, whose names appear on page 5 of this document, accept responsibility,
individually and collectively, for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Company, the
Existing Directors and the Proposed Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained
in this document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
A copy of this document, which is drawn up as an admission document in accordance with the AIM Rules, has been issued in connection with
the application for admission to trading on AIM of the issued and to be issued ordinary share capital of the Company. This document does not
constitute an offer to the public requiring an approved prospectus under section 85 of FSMA and, accordingly, this document does not
constitute a prospectus for the purposes of FSMA and the Prospectus Rules and has not been pre-approved by the Financial Conduct Authority
(“FCA”) pursuant to section 85 of FSMA.
Copies of this document will be available free of charge to the public during normal business hours on any day (Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays excepted) at the offices of SPARK Advisory Partners, 5 St John’s Lane, London, EC1M 4BH, from the date of this document until
one month from the date of Admission in accordance with the AIM Rules. This document will also be available for download from the
Company’s website at www.EVRHoldings.com.
The distribution of this document and/or the accompanying Form of Proxy in jurisdictions other than the UK may be restricted by law and
therefore persons into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about and observe any of those restrictions. Any
failure to comply with any of those restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.
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This document should be read as a whole. Your attention is drawn to the letter from the Chairman which is set out on pages 12 to 29 of this
document and which recommends that you vote in favour of the resolutions to be proposed at the General Meeting referred to below and the
Risk Factors set out in Part II of this document.
Notice convening a General Meeting of the Company to be held at the offices of Fieldfisher LLP, 9th Floor, Riverbank House, 2 Swan Lane,
London EC4R 3TT on 13 May 2016 at 11.00 a.m. is set out at the end of this document. Shareholders will find enclosed with this document
a Form of Proxy for use in connection with the General Meeting. To be valid, the Form of Proxy must be signed and returned in accordance
with the instructions printed thereon so as to be received by Neville Registrars Limited, Neville House, 18 Laurel Lane, Halesowen B63 3DA
as soon as possible but in any event by not later than 11.00 a.m. on 11 May 2016. Completion and posting of the Form of Proxy does not
prevent a Shareholder from attending and voting in person at the General Meeting.
SPARK Advisory Partners, which is authorised and regulated in the UK by the FCA, is acting as financial adviser and nominated adviser to
the Company in connection with Admission for the purposes of the AIM Rules and for no-one else in connection with the proposals described
in this document and, accordingly, will not be responsible to any person other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to
clients of SPARK Advisory Partners or for providing advice in relation to such proposals. The responsibilities of SPARK Advisory Partners
as nominated adviser under the AIM Rules, are owed solely to the London Stock Exchange and are not owed to the Company or any Existing
Director or Proposed Director or to any other person in respect of their decision to acquire Ordinary Shares in reliance on any part of this
document.
Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited (“Peterhouse”), which is authorised and regulated in the UK by the FCA and is a member of the London
Stock Exchange, is the Company’s broker and is acting exclusively for the Company and no one else in connection with the matters described
herein and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to clients of Peterhouse or for
advising any other person in respect of Admission or any acquisition of shares in any company.
No person has been authorised to give any information or make any representations other than those contained in this document and, if given
or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been so authorised. No representation or warranty, express or
implied, is made by SPARK Advisory Partners or Peterhouse as to any of the contents of this document. Neither SPARK Advisory Partners
nor Peterhouse has authorised the contents of any part of this document for any purpose and no liability whatsoever is accepted by SPARK
Advisory Partners or Peterhouse for the accuracy of any information or opinions contained in this document. Neither the delivery of this
document hereunder nor any subsequent subscription or sale made for Ordinary Shares shall, under any circumstances, create any implication
that the information contained in this document is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of this document.

OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS
This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation to buy, Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation
is unlawful. In particular, this document is not, subject to certain exceptions, for distribution in or into the United States of America, Canada,
Australia, the Republic of South Africa, or Japan. The Ordinary Shares have not been nor will be registered under the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, nor under the securities legislation of any state of the United States or any province or territory of Canada, Australia,
the Republic of South Africa, Japan, or in any country, territory or possession where to do so may contravene local securities laws or
regulations. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not, subject to certain exceptions, be offered or sold directly or indirectly in or into the
United States of America, Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, Japan, or to any national, citizen or resident of the United States
of America, Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa or Japan. The distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions may be
restricted by law. No action has been taken by the Company or by SPARK Advisory Partners or Peterhouse that would permit a public offer
of Ordinary Shares or possession or distribution of this document where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose possession this
document comes should inform themselves about, and observe any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may
constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.
Holding Ordinary Shares may have implications for overseas shareholders under the laws of the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Overseas
shareholders should inform themselves about and observe any applicable legal requirements. It is the responsibility of each overseas
shareholder to satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in connection therewith, including the obtaining
of any governmental, exchange control or other consents which may be required, or the compliance with other necessary formalities which
are required to be observed and the payment of any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such jurisdiction.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this document are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not based on historical
facts but rather on the Existing Directors’ and Proposed Directors’ expectations regarding the Enlarged Group’s future growth,
results of operations, performance, future capital and other expenditures (including the amount, nature and sources of funding
thereof), competitive advantages, planned exploration and development activity and the results of such activity, business prospects and
opportunities. Such forward-looking statements reflect Existing Directors’ and Proposed Directors’ current beliefs and assumptions
and are based on information currently available to management. Forward-looking statements involve significant known and
unknown risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the
forward-looking statements including risks associated with vulnerability to general economic and business conditions, competition,
environmental and other regulatory changes, the results of exploration and development drilling and related activities, actions by
governmental authorities, the availability of capital markets, reliance on key personnel, uninsured and underinsured losses and other
factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Company. These forward-looking statements are subject to, among other things,
the risk factors described in Part II of this document. Although the forward-looking statements contained in this document are based
upon what the Existing Directors and Proposed Directors believe to be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors
that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements.
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ADMISSION STATISTICS
Issue price per Consideration Share and Adviser Share

£0.011

Number of Existing Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of this document

23,175,034,357

Number of Existing Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of the General Meeting

23,175,034,400

Share Consolidation ratio

100:1

Number of New Ordinary Shares in issue pursuant to the Share Consolidation,
prior to the Acquisition and issue of Adviser Shares

231,750,344

Number of Consideration Shares and Adviser Shares to be issued

486,611,833

Number of New Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission

718,362,177

Percentage of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital constituted by the
Consideration Shares

64.8 per cent.

Number of New Ordinary Shares under warrant and option on Admission

110,241,369

Number of New Ordinary Shares on a fully diluted basis on Admission*

828,603,546

Market capitalisation of the Enlarged Group on Admission**

£7.90 million

AIM symbol***

EVRH

Current International Security Identification Number (“ISIN”)

GB00B1FJP363

ISIN post Admission

GB00BD2YHN21

*on the basis that all warrants in existence on Admission have been exercised
**based on the closing share price of 0.011p per Existing Ordinary Share on 25 April 2016
***the new AIM symbol shall become effective only if the Resolutions are passed at the General Meeting

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS
2016
Publication of this document

27 April

Latest time and date for receipt of CREST voting intentions

11.00 a.m. on 11 May

Latest time and date for receipt of Forms of Proxy for the General Meeting

11.00 a.m. on 11 May

Time and date for the General Meeting

11.00 a.m. on 13 May

Last day of dealings in the Existing Ordinary Shares

13 May

Record time and date for the Share Consolidation

5.00 p.m. on 13 May

Change of Name effective

16 May

Completion of the Proposals and commencement of dealings of the Enlarged
Ordinary Share Capital on AIM
CREST accounts expected to be credited with the New Ordinary Shares

8.00 a.m. on 16 May
As soon as practicable after
8.00 a.m. on 16 May

Despatch of definitive share certificates in respect of the New Ordinary Shares by
Note: All references to times in this timetable are to London times. The times and dates may be subject to change.
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EXISTING DIRECTORS, PROPOSED DIRECTORS,
SECRETARY AND ADVISERS
Existing Directors

Sean Nicolson (Non-Executive Chairman)
Peter Read (Non-Executive Director)

Proposed Directors

Anthony Matchett (Chief Executive Officer)
Steven Hancock (Chief Operating Officer)
Simon Cole (Non-Executive Director)

Company Secretary

Sean Nicolson

Registered Office

18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6LB

Nominated Adviser

SPARK Advisory Partners Limited
5 St John’s Lane
Farringdon
London EC1M 4BH

Broker

Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited
3 New Liverpool House
New Eldon Street
London EC2M 7LD

Solicitors to the Company

Fieldfisher LLP
Riverbank House
2 Swan Lane
London EC4R 3TT

Solicitors to the Nominated Adviser dwf LLP
Bridgewater Place
Leeds LS11 5DY
Reporting Accountant and Auditor
(Member firm of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales)

Haysmacintyre
26 Red Lion Square
London WC1R 4AG

Public Relations

Buchanan Communications Limited
107 Cheapside
London EC2V 6DN

Registrar

Neville Registrars Limited
Neville House
18 Laurel Lane
Halesowen B63 3DA

Company’s Website

http://www.armstrongventures.com (prior to Admission)
http://www.EVRHoldings.com (following Admission)
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DEFINITIONS
The following definitions apply throughout this document unless the context otherwise requires:
“Acquisition”

the proposed acquisition by the Company of the entire issued share
capital of MelodyVR, pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement;

“Acquisition Agreement”

the conditional acquisition agreement dated 26 April 2016 between
the Company and the Vendors in relation to the sale and purchase of
the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR, further details of
which are set out in paragraph 15.1 of Part VII of this document;

“Act”

the Companies Act 2006, as amended;

“acting in concert”

has the meaning given to it in the Takeover Code;

“Admission”

the admission of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital to trading on
AIM becoming effective in accordance with the AIM Rules for
Companies;

“Admission Agreement”

the conditional agreement dated 26 April 2016 between the
Company, the Existing Directors, the Proposed Directors, SPARK
Advisory Partners and Peterhouse relating to Admission, details of
which are set out at paragraph 15.2 of Part VII of this document;

“Adviser Shares”

20,909,091 New Ordinary Shares to be issued to SRG in
satisfaction of fees due to them in connection with services
provided by SRG to MelodyVR, details of which are set out at
paragraph 15.17 of Part VII of this document;

“Advisory Board”

the Company’s advisory board, details of which are set in
paragraph 5.4 of Part I of this document;

“AIM”

the market of that name operated by the London Stock Exchange;

“AIM Rules”

the AIM Rules for Companies and the AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers;

“AIM Rules for Companies”

the rules which set out the obligations and responsibilities in
relation to companies whose shares are admitted to AIM as
published by the London Stock Exchange from time to time;

“AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers”

the rules which set out the eligibility, obligations and certain
disciplinary matters in relation to nominated advisers as published
by the London Stock Exchange from time to time;

“Articles”

the articles of association of the Company from time to time;

“Board”

the directors of the Company from time to time;

“Business Day”

a day (other than Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday), on which
banks in the City of London are open for business generally;

“Certificated” or “in
Certificated Form”

a share or other security recorded on the relevant register of the
relevant company as being held in certificated form and title to
which may be transferred by means of a stock transfer form;

“Chairman”

Sean Nicolson, The non-Executive Chairman of the Company;

6

167186

Proof 9

Tuesday, April 26, 2016

22:32

“Change of Name”

the proposed change of name of the Company to EVR
Holdings PLC, further details of which are set out in paragraph 9 of
Part I of this document;

“Company”

Armstrong Ventures PLC, a company registered in England and
Wales with registered number 05628362;

“Concert Party”

Anthony Matchett, Steven Hancock, the other Vendors, together
with SRG, Chris Akers, Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent (as
connected advisers under the Code) as more fully described in
paragraph 1 of Part VI of this document;

“Consideration Shares”

the 465,702,743 New Ordinary Shares (following the Share
Consolidation) to be issued to the Vendors at the Issue Price in
consideration for the transfer of the entire issued share capital of
MelodyVR as set out in the Acquisition Agreement;

“Corporate Governance Code”

the Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial
Reporting Council, as amended;

“CREST”

the computerised settlement system to facilitate the transfer of title
of shares in uncertificated form operated by Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited;

“CREST Regulations”

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755),
as amended;

“Deferred Shares”

the Initial Deferred Shares and the Subsequent Deferred Shares;

“Directors”

the Existing Directors and/or the Proposed Directors, as the context
requires;

“DTRs” or “Disclosure and
Transparency Rules”

the rules and regulations made by the FCA in its capacity as the
UKLA under Part VII of FSMA, and contained in the UKLA
publication of the same name, as amended;

“EMI Options”

Enterprise Management Incentive options granted to employees
pursuant to the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003;

“Enlarged Group”

the Company, MelodyVR and its subsidiary undertaking,
Immersive, upon completion of the Acquisition;

“Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital” the share capital of the Company upon Admission, comprising the
Existing Ordinary Share Capital (following the Share
Consolidation), the Consideration Shares and the Adviser Shares;
“Existing Directors”

Sean Nicolson and Peter Read;

“Existing Ordinary Shares”

ordinary shares of £0.0001 each in issue as at the date of this
document;

“Existing Ordinary Share Capital”

the ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of this
document, comprising 23,175,034,357 Existing Ordinary Shares;

“Existing Warrants”

the warrants in existence as at the date of this document to subscribe
for a total of 5,046,351,364 Existing Ordinary Shares;

“Financial Conduct Authority”
or “FCA”

the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority;
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“Form of Proxy” or “Proxy Form”

the form of proxy enclosed with this document for use by
Shareholders in connection with the GM;

“FSMA”

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended;

“General Meeting” or “GM”

the general meeting of the Company, convened for 11.00 a.m. on
13 May 2016, and any adjournment thereof, notice of which is set
out at the end of this document;

“Historical Financial
Information on the Company”

the Company’s historical financial information for the three years
ended 31 December 2013, 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2015;

“Historical Financial
Information on MelodyVR”

MelodyVR’s historical financial information for the period from
incorporation on 22 April 2015 to 31 December 2015;

“HMRC”

Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs;

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union;

“Immersive”

Immersive Construction Limited, a company registered in England
and Wales with registered number 09726159, a subsidiary
undertaking of MelodyVR;

“Independent Shareholders”

shareholders entitled to vote on the Whitewash Resolution, being all
Shareholders except for members of the Concert Party;

“Initial Deferred Shares”

the deferred shares of £0.0095 each in the capital of the Company;

“IPR”

intellectual property rights;

“Issue Price”

£0.011 being the price at which the Consideration Shares and the
Adviser Shares are to be issued;

“ITEPA”

the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003;

“Lock-in Agreements”

the lock-in agreements entered into by the Locked-in Persons,
described in paragraph 12 of Part I and paragraph 15.3 of Part VII
of this document;

“Locked-in Persons”

the Directors and the Proposed Directors;

“London Stock Exchange”

the London Stock Exchange PLC;

“MelodyVR”

MelodyVR Ltd, a company registered in England and Wales with
registered number 09555357;

“MelodyVR Group”

MelodyVR and its subsidiary undertaking, Immersive;

“New Ordinary Shares”

ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the Company
following the Share Consolidation;

“New Share Option Scheme”

the proposed new share option scheme of the Company to be
adopted following Admission, further details of which are set out in
paragraph 11.4 of Part VII of this document;

“New Warrants”

the warrants to subscribe for New Ordinary Shares in the Company
granted to (i) the Existing Directors, Proposed Directors, members
of the Advisory Board, consultants to the Company, and (ii) SPARK
Advisory Partners, in each case on the terms set out in
paragraphs 15.6 and 15.13 of Part VII of this document;
8
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“Notice”

the notice of the General Meeting set out at the end of this
document;

“Official List”

the definitive record of whether a company’s securities are officially
listed in the United Kingdom maintained by the FCA pursuant to
Part VI of FSMA;

“Ordinary Shares”

ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time;

“Panel”

the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers;

“Peterhouse”

Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited, the Company’s broker at the
date of this document;

“Proposals”

the Acquisition, the Change of Name, the Rule 9 Waiver, the Share
Consolidation, the renewal of share authorities, the General
Meeting and Admission;

“Proposed Directors”

the persons to be appointed directors pursuant to the GM, whose
names are set out on page 5 of this document;

“QCA Code”

the Corporate Governance Code for Small and Mid-Size Quoted
Companies published by the Quoted Companies Alliance;

“Record Date”

13 May 2016;

“Registrar”

Neville Registrars Limited;

“Relationship Agreement”

the agreement dated 26 April 2016 between the Company, the
Proposed Directors and SPARK Advisory Partners, details of which
are set out in paragraph 15.5 of Part VII of this document;

“Resolutions”

the resolutions to be proposed at the General Meeting, details of
which are set out in the Notice;

“Rule 9 Waiver”

the waiver of the obligations of the Concert Party to make a general
offer for the Enlarged Group under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code
which may otherwise arise as a consequence of the issue of the
Consideration Shares to the Concert Party, granted by the Panel
conditional upon approval of the Independent Shareholders voting
on a poll, further details of which are set out in paragraph 8 of Part I
of this document;

“Share Consolidation”

the proposed consolidation of every 100 Existing Ordinary Shares
into 1 New Ordinary Share;

“Shareholders”

the persons who are registered as holders of the Ordinary Shares
from time to time;

“Share Options”

options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme;

“SPARK Advisory Partners”

SPARK Advisory Partners Limited, the Company’s nominated
adviser at the date of this document;

“SRG”

Sports Resource Group Limited, 2nd Floor, 18 Buckingham Gate,
London, SW1E 6LB, a company registered in England and Wales
with registered number 04046907;

“Sterling” or “£” or “p” or “pence”

the legal currency of the UK;
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“Subsequent Deferred Shares”

the deferred shares of £0.0024 each in the capital of the Company;

“Takeover Code” or “Code”

the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

“UK” or “United Kingdom”

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“UKLA”

the United Kingdom Listing Authority, being the FCA acting in its
capacity as the competent authority for the purposes of Part VII of
FSMA;

“Unapproved Options”

options granted to employees which do not qualify as EMI Options;

“Uncertificated” or “in
Uncertificated Form”

a share or other security recorded on the relevant register of the
relevant company concerned as being held in uncertificated form in
CREST and title to which, by virtue of the CREST Regulations,
may be transferred by means of CREST;

“US” or “United States”

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any
states of the United States of America and the District of Columbia
and all other areas subject to its jurisdiction;

“US$”

the legal currency of the United States;

“VAT”

value added tax;

“Vendors”

the shareholders of MelodyVR, being Anthony Matchett, Steven
Hancock, Mark Newton, Stefan Glaenzer and Alex Pearce, further
details of whom are set out in paragraph 1 of Part VI of this
document;

“Warrants”

the Existing Warrants and the New Warrants; and

“Whitewash Resolution”

the Resolution numbered 1 in the Notice.
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
The following table provides an explanation of certain technical terms and abbreviations used in this
document. The terms and their assigned meanings may not correspond to standard industry meanings or
usage of these terms.
“4K”

4K resolution refers to a display device or content having horizontal
resolution of the order of 4,000 pixels;

“App” or “Application”

a self-contained program or piece of software;

“Beta stage”

the second phase in a software release life cycle;

“Binaural format”

a method of playing sound that has been recorded using two
microphones, arranged with the intent to create a three dimensional
(3-D) stereo sound sensation for the listener of actually being in the
room with the performers or instruments;

“CGI”

computer generated imagery;

“DK1”

the Oculus Rift Development Kit 1;

“HMD”

head-mounted display, a display device, worn on the head or as part
of a helmet, that has a small display optic in front of one (monocular
HMD) or both eyes (binocular HMD);

“Interactive”

refers to the way in which users interact with all forms of digital
technology emphasising innovation and human-/user-centered
approaches;

“MBPS”

millions of bits per second, a measure of bandwidth (the total
information flow over a given time) on a telecommunications
medium;

“MelodyVR App”

an app which allows users to browse through VR performances,
exclusively created by MelodyVR, and then purchase content via
in-app purchases in a manner similar to that currently being utilised
within the iTunes/Google Play stores;

“Oculus Rift”

the Oculus Rift is a virtual reality HMD developed by Oculus VR
(now owned by Facebook, Inc.) making it one of the first
consumer-targeted VR headsets. It has a resolution of 1080×1200
per eye, a 90 Hz refresh rate, and a wide field of view. It has
integrated headphones which provide a 3-D audio effect. The
Oculus Rift has rotational and positional tracking. The positional
tracking is performed by a USB stationary IR sensor, which
normally sits on the user’s desk, allowing for use of the Oculus Rift
while sitting, standing, or walking around the same room in which
the sensor sits;

“SaaS”

software as a service;

“Smart phone”

a mobile phone that performs many of the functions of a computer,
typically having a touchscreen interface, Internet access, and an
operating system capable of running downloaded apps;

“USP”

unique selling point;

“VR”

virtual reality, the computer-generated simulation of a
three-dimensional image or environment that can be interacted with
in a seemingly real or physical way by a person using special
electronic equipment; and

“VSAT”

very small aperture terminal, a satellite communications system.
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PART I
LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF ARMSTRONG VENTURES PLC
ARMSTRONG VENTURES PLC
Incorporated and registered in England & Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registered number 05628362

Directors:

Registered Office:

Sean Nicolson (Non-Executive Chairman)
Peter Read

18 Buckingham Gate
London
SW1E 6LB
27 April 2016

24.3 d(ii)

Dear Shareholder,
PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF MELODYVR LTD
APPROVAL OF WAIVER OF OBLIGATIONS UNDER RULE 9 OF THE TAKEOVER CODE
CHANGE OF NAME TO EVR HOLDINGS PLC
SHARE CONSOLIDATION
ADMISSION OF THE ENLARGED SHARE CAPITAL TO TRADING ON AIM
AND
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING
1.

INTRODUCTION

The Company announced earlier today that it has agreed terms in respect of the acquisition of MelodyVR.
As a result, a number of proposals are to be put to Shareholders at the General Meeting. This document sets
out the details of, and reasons for, the Proposals.
The Acquisition, if completed, will constitute a reverse takeover under the AIM Rules and therefore is
subject to the approval of Shareholders at the General Meeting. Further details of the General Meeting are
set out in paragraph 22 of this Part I. Further details of the terms and conditions of the Acquisition are set
out in paragraph 6 of this Part I.
The consideration for the Acquisition of £5.12 million is to be satisfied by the issue of 465,702,743 New
Ordinary Shares at a price of £0.011 per share, which values the Existing Share Capital at £2.6 million.
Following implementation of the Proposals, certain Shareholders of the Company and others who are
deemed to be acting in concert, the Concert Party, will hold 489,811,833 New Ordinary Shares, representing
approximately 68.18 per cent. of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital. If all Warrants held by members of
the Concert Party were exercised, the Concert Party would hold a total of 514,762,282 New Ordinary Shares
representing 69.25 per cent. of the Company’s then issued share capital. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code,
the Concert Party would normally be obliged to make an offer to all Shareholders (other than the Concert
Party) to acquire their New Ordinary Shares. Following an application by the Concert Party to the Panel, the
Panel has agreed to waive this obligation, subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders (on a poll)
at the General Meeting. Your attention is drawn to the Rule 9 Waiver section contained in paragraph 8 of this
Part I.
The Directors believe that it is appropriate, should the Acquisition be approved by Shareholders at the
General Meeting and the Acquisition completed, that the name of the Company be changed to EVR Holdings
PLC.
The Directors are proposing the Share Consolidation (whereby every 100 Existing Shares of £0.0001 are
converted into 1 New Ordinary Share of £0.01) as they consider that it is in the best interests of the
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Company’s long term development as a public quoted company to have a lower number of shares in issue
and a higher nominal value such that Ordinary Shares are traded in pence rather than fractions of a penny.
The purpose of this document is to provide Shareholders with further information regarding the matters
described above and to seek your approval of the Resolutions, which include the Rule 9 Waiver, at the
General Meeting. The notice of General Meeting is set out at the end of this document. The Proposals are
conditional, among other things, on the passing of the Resolutions and Admission. If the Resolutions are
approved by Shareholders, it is expected that Admission will become effective and dealings in the Enlarged
Ordinary Share Capital will commence on AIM on or around 16 May 2016. The General Meeting of the
Company at which the Resolutions will be proposed has been convened for 11.00 a.m. on 13 May 2016 at
the offices of Fieldfisher LLP, 9th Floor, Riverbank House, 2 Swan Lane, London EC4R 3TT.
You should read the whole of this document and not just rely on the information contained in this
letter. In particular, you should consider carefully the “Risk Factors” set out in Part II of this
document. Your attention is also drawn to the information set out in Parts III to VII of this document.
2.

BACKGROUND TO AND REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION

The Company has been an investing company since August 2012, and has since then been seeking suitable
acquisitions that fit within its investing policy, which policy covered activities in resources and energy
sectors between 2012 and 2015. In July 2015 shareholders approved a change to the Company’s investing
policy to focus on opportunities in the media, technology and healthcare sectors.

Annex 1, 5.1.5

The Existing Directors believe that the acquisition of MelodyVR fits within that policy, and that the
Acquisition presents the Company and its Shareholders with an exciting opportunity to benefit from
a business with significant potential in a developing technological sector.
Accordingly, the Directors propose that, subject to approval of the Resolutions by the Shareholders at the
General Meeting, the Company should acquire the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR. The Enlarged
Group’s operations would thereafter constitute exclusively those of the MelodyVR Group, which is a group
developing a premium music service and which specialises in creating immersive virtual reality music
experiences. Details of the business and operations of MelodyVR are set out in paragraph 3 below.
3.

INFORMATION ON MELODYVR

3.1

Virtual Reality

24.3 (ii)

24.3 (a) (c)

Virtual Reality (“VR”) has seen a resurgence over the last three years since the initial technology
became available in the 1980s. Consumer and investor interest in VR was reignited by Palmer
Luckey’s Kickstarter campaign for the Oculus Rift (DK1). On 1 August 2012, the Kickstarter
campaign set out to raise US$250,000 with the goal of developing an up to date VR headset capable
of providing a comfortable and immersive experience when playing computer games. Luckey’s
campaign closed a month after launch having raised US$2.4 million in funding. Palmer Luckey’s
garage start-up, Oculus VR LLC, was subsequently acquired by Facebook Inc. for US$2 billion
two years later in 2014. Oculus’s first consumer product, the Oculus Rift, launched on 28 March 2016.
Google released its own Head-Mounted Display (“HMD”), the Google Cardboard, in 2014. Google
announced that, in the year and a half since its release, 5 million headsets have been sold, along with
over 25 million downloads of VR enabled apps from its store.
Other manufacturers have also entered the market. Samsung’s headset, the Gear VR (which utilises
Oculus technology) works with the latest generation of Samsung smartphones and is now being
shipped free of charge with all pre-orders of their flagship smartphone, the Galaxy S7. HTC released
its own Oculus Rift competitor, the HTC Vive, in early April 2016. HTC stated more than 15,000 units
were sold in the first 10 minutes when pre-orders for the Vive opened on 29 February 2016. Sony has
announced that it will release its headset, the PlayStation VR, in October 2016.
The Directors believe that the principal driver of the VR market is going to be the rate at which HMD
devices are sold to consumers. Consequently, they expect the VR market to see a surge in growth in
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2016 as the aforementioned manufacturers are expected to release a variety of products onto the
market.
Market research indicates that, following the launch of HMD devices, the market is likely to expand
rapidly. According to Kzero Worldwide’s VR Market Sizing report (Q3 2014), HMD unit sales are
forecast to grow from 200,000 in 2014 to 38.8 million in 2018 with cumulative unit sales estimated
to reach 83.1 million by 2018. This report states that HMD revenues are estimated to grow from
US$70 million to US$3.8 billion annually over the same period. Goldman Sachs has predicted that
the market for recorded videos and live events alone could reach US$7.3 billion by 2025 with over
175 million users. According to the Virtual Reality Consumer Survey published by Greenlight VR and
Touchstone Research in October 2015, 85 per cent. of gaming enthusiasts across all gaming platforms
(mobile, PC, game systems and consoles), are expected to try VR.
The Directors believe that the market research and significant investment from some of the world’s
leading technology businesses are reasonable indicators of the potential scale of the VR market over
the coming years. The gaming industry is predicted to be one of the biggest beneficiaries of the growth
in VR.
According to a report by SuperData Research, published in January 2016, people who play video
games are predicted to spend US$5.1 billion on VR gaming hardware, accessories and software in
2016. Whilst gaming is expected to be the primary driver of HMD device sales, other entertainment
applications are expected to become widespread. These applications are anticipated to include live
entertainment, immersive cinema and social experiences. According to Kzero Worldwide’s VR
Market Sizing report, VR software revenues are estimated to grow from US$960,000 in 2014 to
US$4.6 billion annually by 2018. VR can bring live entertainment fans a new, immersive experience
that is an alternative to being physically present at a live event. The survey, published by Greenlight
VR and Touchstone Research in October 2015, found that in response to the question of whether or
not the respondents would like to try a specific type of VR experience, ranging from “definitely
would” to “definitely would not”, 59 per cent. responded that they definitely, or probably, would be
interested in experiencing a VR live event. The survey found that live music events were in the top
four experiences most wanted to be tried by three out of the four age group categories surveyed.
The sporting industry has already combined VR with live events (for example, the US Open Golf
Tournament in 2015 and the opening game of the NBA’s 2015-2016 season). The Directors believe
the music industry will follow this trend.
3.2

Background to MelodyVR
MelodyVR was incorporated on 22 April 2015 by Anthony Matchett and Steven Hancock. MelodyVR
was formed to capitalise on the expected wave of virtual reality hardware scheduled for release during
2015 and 2016. Recognising that a significant investment had been made in VR hardware, but that
there was only a limited amount of forthcoming VR content in late 2014, the founders began building
an end-to-end virtual reality content production and distribution business.
The founders’ vision and consumer proposition is to allow music fans to experience a recorded music
event or concert, via virtual reality.
The Directors believe that their proposition will appeal to many music fans that are unable to attend
a live event due to geographical or financial constraints, age restrictions or simply to an event being
sold out.

3.3

Description of the MelodyVR business
MelodyVR has developed technologies, products and services that enable users to consume
immersive VR music experiences. The directors have developed, using commercially available parts,
360 degree cameras that record audio-visual material for the purposes of capturing the performances
which occur at live music events. This includes the live performances themselves, as well as additional
backstage and interview content.
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MelodyVR currently holds a number of contracts with music brands and event partners granting
MelodyVR exclusive rights to create and exploit 360 degree/virtual reality content for a period of five
years or more, described in paragraph 3.6.
MelodyVR has developed a proprietary post-production workflow that enables the aforementioned
recorded material to be processed into MelodyVR 360 degree panoramic video content. It is intended
that this material will then be exploited via various distribution channels and monetisation models,
including through the MelodyVR App which has been designed by the team at Immersive,
MelodyVR’s subsidiary undertaking, described in paragraph 3.7.
The Directors believe that MelodyVR’s USP will lie in its ability to offer an end-to-end, integrated
offering, taking an artist’s performances, repackaging them within an immersive VR format, and then
distributing such performances to the end consumer.
3.4

Filming
MelodyVR has developed 360 degree cameras that the team use to capture music events in 4K video
quality. These cameras can be placed in strategic positions throughout the venue which enables the
VR viewer to view the performance from multiple positions, whether in the audience or on stage with
the artist/performer. The Directors believe these usually inaccessible locations/experiences to be a
core driver of user conversion/adoption.
Once an event has been recorded and produced, MelodyVR obtains final approval from the rights’
holders to enable it to release the material. This includes consent from the performer that they are
satisfied with their performance, in keeping with standard music industry practice. Further details of
these rights, permissions and clearances are set out in paragraph 3.6.

3.5

Content
All the experiences captured by MelodyVR are interactive, in that viewers have the freedom to move
between different camera locations/viewpoints and/or to look around the event in any direction during
the playback of recorded content as if they were actually present in person.
The audio is usually provided in a binaural format compatible with head tracking which lends to a
more immersive experience. There is also often an option for consumers to select the “clean” audio
which has been recorded directly from the sound/mixing desk.
Once the MelodyVR App has been launched, the available content will consist of three distinct
offerings:
Recorded music:
From its current catalogue, comprising over 255 artists, MelodyVR intends to license and curate a
library of content that consumers will be able to browse and purchase via the MelodyVR App. Content
will be available in the form of VR experiences, which will either contain a performance of an
individual song or a segment of a live event or concert.
Live streams:
The Directors intend to launch live streamed VR experiences in 2016. Live experiences will offer
consumers the ability to watch a concert or event as it happens in real time.
The Directors believe that live streaming and “VR tickets” to events could develop into a significant
revenue stream over the coming years.
Interactive experiences:
The Directors intend to develop a number of highly interactive music experiences. These experiences
will react to a user’s inputs and movements in real time, and are expected to take the form of a short
video game/CGI music video. The Directors believe that these experiences, which are to be developed
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in close partnership with artists, will provide an even greater degree of interaction and consumer
engagement than recorded content and will therefore warrant a higher retail price than recorded
content.
3.6

Rights, permissions and waivers
MelodyVR operates a business which, among other things: (i) records and produces audiovisual
material and footage capturing the activities and performances which may occur at live music events
(including, where applicable, additional back-stage and interview content); (ii) edits and creates
footage intended for or capable of being used to create 360 degree panoramic images or to create
content intended for use on virtual reality devices (“footage”); and (iii) exploits the Footage by means
of various distribution channels and monetisation models.
In order to facilitate this there are a number of rights, permissions and clearances which may need to
be considered. These include:
(i)

Performing artists: performers (includes singers, backing singers, musicians and dancers) are
entitled to certain rights in their live performances. Performers’ rights can be divided into two
distinct categories: property rights, which are assignable, and non-property rights, which are
non-assignable but may be waived.
•

Performers’ property rights: these rights include: (i) the right to make a copy of a
recording of a performance; (ii) the right to issue copies of such recording to the public;
and (iii) the right to make available a recording of a performance to the public over the
internet. It is necessary to obtain a licence or assignment over these performers’ rights
to exploit the Footage.

•

Performers’ non-property rights: a performer’s consent is required for the recording and
exploitation of their performances. It is necessary to obtain consent from a performer to
produce the Footage.

•

Equitable remuneration: performers also have a right to equitable remuneration
(payment) when: (i) a sound recording embodying the performer’s performance is
broadcast or otherwise communicated to the public (other than by on-demand
exploitation); and (ii) where the performer’s rental right in a film or sound recording is
transferred to its producer. It is necessary to ensure that performers are paid for their
performances and for such payments to be categorised as fulfilling the requirement for
performers to be paid “equitable remuneration”.

•

Moral rights: performers are also entitled to exercise moral rights in relation to their
performance (the right to be identified as the performer of a performance, and the right
to object to derogatory treatment of a performance). It is prudent to obtain relevant
waivers from performers in respect of their moral rights.

•

Image rights: although English law generally does not recognise an “image right”, it is
considered good practice to obtain from performing artists consent to use those artists’
name, likeness, image and biography in connection with exploitation of the Footage.

Generally, performers’ rights are controlled by the performers themselves, meaning that the
requisite consents and rights must be obtained from the performers directly by means of a
standard form of release. However, if a performing artist is subject to an exclusive recording
agreement with a record label then the performers’ property rights will need to be obtained
from the label instead.
(ii)

Venues: it is necessary to obtain: (i) access rights for permission to use the venue for recording;
and (ii) licences to use any logos, names and other branding displayed in and around the venue
which may be captured by the Footage.
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(iii)

Members of the public: it is considered good practice to obtain consents from members of the
public who attend events which are to be recorded. Often this is done by means of the venue’s
ticket terms and conditions, or through prevalent signage at the venue explaining that recording
will occur in the area.

(iv)

Musical compositions: to the extent that performances of musical compositions are embodied
in the Footage, it is necessary to obtain a:
•

reproduction licence: to cover both the initial fixation of the performance of the
compositions in the Footage, and the subsequent reproduction of such Footage;

•

communication to the public licence: to cover the transmission, performance and other
exploitation of the compositions (as embodied in the Footage); and

•

waiver of moral rights: similarly to performers’ moral rights, composers are entitled to
exercise so-called “moral rights” (the right to be identified as the author, the right to
object to derogatory treatment, and the right not to suffer false attribution). It is therefore
prudent to obtain a waiver of such rights (or to procure that the rightsholder obtains such
waiver from the composer) or to ensure that the exploitation of the Footage is
undertaken in a manner which does not infringe such moral rights.

Musical compositions are likely to be controlled by either: (i) the original composer (to the
extent the composer is not affiliated with a music publisher or a collection society); (ii) a music
publisher representing the original composer; or (iii) a collection society representing the
original composer or their music publisher. It is therefore necessary to establish which entity
controls these rights and to obtain the necessary licences. It should be noted that some musical
compositions have more than one composer and can therefore be controlled by multiple
entities.
(v)

Sound recordings: to the extent that sound recordings are embodied in the Footage (which is
less likely since the performances are being given live, but may still be relevant in the case of
DJs), it is necessary to obtain a:
•

reproduction licence: to cover both the initial fixation of the performance of the sound
recordings in the Footage, and the subsequent reproduction of such Footage; and

•

communication to the public licence: to cover the transmission, performance and other
exploitation of the sound recordings (as embodied in the Footage).

Sound recordings are likely to be controlled by either: (i) the initial producer of the sound
recording; or (ii) a record label to which the artist is signed. It is therefore necessary to establish
which entity controls these rights and to obtain the necessary licences.
(vi)

Lighting design and choreography: to the extent that the Footage includes recordings of a light
sequence, choreographed movement, sound design, set design or creative direction in which
copyright subsists, then it may also be necessary to obtain a licence and permissions from the
relevant copyright owners (i.e. lighting designers, choreographers, sound designers, set
designers, and directors). However, in our experience, such peripheral clearances are rarely
obtained, unless more high-profile venues and artists are involved.

(vii) Footage: under English copyright law, the automatic first owner of the copyright in a film is the
producer and principal director (or their employer (where applicable)). Unless there is an
employment relationship between the producer, director and the ultimate operating business, it
is necessary to obtain an express, written assignment from whoever produces the recordings to
transfer ownership of copyright. Furthermore, it is good practice to obtain an acknowledgement
from certain parties (such as the performing artists and the venues) that ownership in the
recordings does not transfer to them.
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It should also be noted that, with respect to major labels in particular, it is common for such
rightsholders to insist that recordings made of their artists are assigned to and owned by the
applicable label – it is then usual practice for the record label to license back such recording on
an exclusive basis for a particular period (say three years), after which time the licence
becomes non-exclusive and the label is free to use the recording for its own purposes.
MelodyVR has entered into a number of agreements with artists, venues and promoters regarding the
necessary rights, permissions and artist waivers to exploit recorded and live content.
Agreements with Artists
MelodyVR has entered into various agreements with featured performing artists. The artist
agreements comprise, among other things, the artists’ consent for certain performances being filmed
by MelodyVR for the purposes of producing 360 degree VR footage, and exclusive ownership by
MelodyVR of all footage, subject to any separate agreement between MelodyVR and the artists’
record label (if any). The Directors believe that over 50 per cent. of the footage currently captured
features artists who are not party to an exclusive recording contract with a record label.
Negotiations with Music Rights Holders
MelodyVR is in active negotiations with various major and independent music labels and publishers,
with a view to formalising on-going relationships to build and exploit content featuring established
artists and music content.
Partnership Agreements
MelodyVR has agreements with nine companies specialising in event promotion and venues,
including Ibiza Rocks Group Limited and Broadwick Live Limited. These agreements provide for a
period of exclusivity to capture and create VR or 360 degree content of events organised or hosted by
the partner, ownership by MelodyVR of all VR content filmed by MelodyVR and consent to include
venue branding in such content.
MelodyVR’s VR music experiences will provide an additional revenue stream to event promoters and
venues as MelodyVR will enable such promoters and venues to make their events available beyond
the capacity of the venue to a significant number of users at any given time through immersive VR
footage accessible via the users’ smart phones. The Directors believe that this will be of particular
interest to promoters and venues that typically host sold out performances.
3.7

The MelodyVR App
MelodyVR has developed an app, called MelodyVR. Once launched, it will be able to be downloaded
free of charge and it is expected to be available in stores accessible by most current generation smart
phones (i.e., it is not pre-installed on smart phones) and/or VR devices. Customers will then be able
to browse through performances, exclusively created by MelodyVR, and purchase content via in-app
purchases comparable to that currently utilised by iTunes/Google Play.
MelodyVR’s subsidiary, Immersive, developed the software, including the MelodyVR App and has
assigned all rights in and to the software that Immersive developed to MelodyVR.
The directors of MelodyVR have consulted with Facebook/Oculus and HTC on the development of
the MelodyVR App and expect that the MelodyVR App will feature in the devices’ relevant app
stores.

3.8

Competition
The Directors are aware of a number of content creation VR companies that may potentially compete
with MelodyVR. These include:
•

JauntVR, which is involved in the capture, post production and distribution of VR related
media.
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•

NextVR, which states that it focuses on live VR experiences in both music and sports.

•

Immersive Media, which claims to have introduced the first 360 degree full digital camera in
2004 and supplied the cameras and drivers for Google Street View.

The Directors are not currently aware that any of these companies have publicly announced their
intention to launch a comparable music platform to MelodyVR’s.
4.

FUTURE STRATEGY OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

Investing in supply
The Enlarged Group intends to continue to invest in recording and post production equipment and staff, to
record and capture content. As part of this investment, the Enlarged Group will supplement its camera
inventory with further hardware enabling the Enlarged Group to capture more content in multiple locations,
simultaneously. The Enlarged Group also intends to enhance its post-production capacity enabling faster and
more efficient content turnaround and delivery. The Directors believe that investing in capture and postproduction will enable the Enlarged Group to exploit its first mover advantage within the music industry and
to further increase the value of its content library.
In the future, the Enlarged Group may seek to explore new content verticals such as sport, theatre and
education and is interested in pursuing opportunities to deploy its existing technology as a white label SaaS
solution, enabling broadcasters to launch their own VR platforms and channels.
5.

EXISTING DIRECTORS, PROPOSED DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND
ADVISORY BOARD

Brief biographical details of the Existing Directors, Proposed Directors, senior management and members
of the advisory board are set out below:
5.1

Existing Directors
The current composition of the Board of the Company is as follows:
Sean Nicolson (Non-executive Chairman) aged 50
Sean is an Executive Director of e-Therapeutics PLC, an AIM quoted drug discovery and development
company. He has over 20 years’ experience as a corporate finance lawyer and was previously an
equity partner in the corporate team of Bond Dickinson. Sean has many years’ experience of advising
companies in the media, technology and healthcare sectors on flotations, venture capital and private
equity fundraisings, mergers and acquisitions, takeovers, joint ventures and corporate governance
matters.
Peter Read, FCA (Non-executive Director) aged 59
Peter began his career with KPMG in 1976, becoming a partner in 1990 and Head of Transaction
Services for the telecoms, media, technology (TMT) practice in 1998 and Head of the TMT practice
in 2003. In 2008, Peter was appointed Chairman of KPMG’s TMT practice and Chairman (EMA) of
the global Japanese practice. He held these positions until retiring from KPMG in 2013. Over this six
year period he was also the lead partner for key TMT clients including WPP, IBM, Informa and
DMGT and European sub-groups of Japanese clients, including Sony, Sumitomo, Mazda and Hitachi.

5.2

Proposed Directors
On Admission it is intended that the following individuals will be appointed to the Board:
Anthony Matchett (Chief Executive Officer) aged 27
Anthony is the Chief Executive Officer of MelodyVR. He has extensive music industry experience
and began his career as an audio engineer before moving on from the music industry to the world of
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post-production for advertising. In 2011, Anthony was tasked with founding Wave Recording Studios’
first interactive division, focused on servicing the audio requirements of game developers and
publishers. During his time at Wave, he secured clients such as Microsoft Studios, Sony Computer
Entertainment, King.com and Ubisoft, and spearheaded numerous projects on their behalf. In 2015,
Anthony’s background and passion for music and technology inspired him to create Melody
MelodyVR, together with Steven Hancock.
Steven Hancock (Chief Operations Officer) aged 33
Steven is the Chief Operations Officer of MelodyVR. Prior to this, Steven gained over 15 years’
experience at senior management level, within events management where he worked with music
artists around the globe and also numerous FTSE 100 companies, managing more than 150 staff on a
daily basis. More recently, Steven was the Commercial Manager at Ibiza Rocks, one of the fastest
growing youth lifestyle brands in Europe, where he oversaw sales and marketing. In 2015, Steven
joined forces with Anthony Matchett to create MelodyVR.
Simon Cole (Non-executive director) aged 57
Following spells at the BBC and at Piccadilly Radio, where he helped establish PPM Radiowaves, an
independent production company, in 1989 Simon founded The Unique Broadcasting Company
(“Unique”). Unique became a market leader in both the production of network radio programmes for
commercial radio throughout the UK and BBC Radio. In 2000, Unique floated on the London Stock
Exchange as part of UBC Media Group PLC (“UBC”) (now called 7Digital Group PLC), with Simon
as Chief Executive. UBC were leaders in content production and software development for the global
radio and online communities. Simon has overseen the acquisition of several production companies
in both London and Manchester and driven UBC’s move into new online platforms. He was formerly
a non-executive director of AIM quoted Audioboom Holdings PLC.
5.3

Senior Management
In addition to the Board, details of key senior management personnel within the Enlarged Group are
set out below:
Sebastian Theron (Chief Financial Officer) aged 34
Conditional upon Admission, Sebastian Theron has agreed to join the Company as Chief Financial
Officer with effect from 1 May 2016. Sebastian Theron is a chartered accountant who most recently
held the position of Finance Director of Affectv Ltd, ranked number 11 in the Sunday Times Tech
Track 100, where he successfully raised significant funding and restructured the business to scale
efficiently. Prior to this he was Group Financial Controller and Board Secretary of Interactive Investor
PLC, a leading retail execution only stockbroker.

5.4

Advisory Board
The Advisory Board comprises the following individuals:
Christopher Gilbert aged 64
Chris has developed a number of successful businesses, with specific responsibility for fundraising,
executive business management and their subsequent disposals. Chris co-founded Infectious Records,
an independent record company which grew to be one of the most successful independent record
companies in the UK until it was sold to News Corporation in 1999. Following this he founded Auriga
Networks, a satellite transmission company which has developed a technology to deliver mpeg 3
video over VSAT networks and numbers among its clients NATO, the British and US Army, BBC, Fox
Television and CBS News. In addition, Chris co-founded DarkStar Technologies, a hi-tech start up
providing internet security and data management services to the entertainment industry with such
clients as EMI, Sony, BMG, Warner Brothers Pictures and Universal-NBC, which was subsequently
sold in 2010. In 2005, Chris co-founded Crosstown Songs, a buy & build music publishing venture
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funded by Cargill which became a major independent music publishing company which was sold to
KKR/Bertelsmann in 2009. Chris is currently Chief Executive Officer of AIM quoted Fox Marble
Holdings PLC.
Annie MacManus aged 37
Dublin born, Annie Mac has spent the last decade carving out a career as broadcaster, tastemaker,
talent-finder and international DJ. Radio 1’s champion of new music, the successor to Zane Lowe and
John Peel, Annie Mac now presents the primetime weekday evening show from Monday to Thursday
as well as her primetime specialist Friday night Dance Show, while maintaining huge success as a live
DJ in demand from stadiums to major clubs. Her own Annie Mac Presents brand (“AMP”) not only
hosts events with stellar line-ups personally curated by Annie at venues and festivals worldwide
(including the 2015 launched brand new AMP Lost & Found Festival in Malta, which sold out in just
a few days); but also delivers the highly anticipated annual compilation series which have topped the
UK iTunes album charts for the past 3 years running.
Spencer Hyman aged 52
Spencer Hyman is an entrepreneur and investor in internet technology, media and consumer products.
He is currently launching Cocoarunners.com, a service that aims to bring the world’s best chocolate
bars to its customers door. Prior to this, he founded and was Chief Executive Officer of Artfinder,
Chief Operations Officer of Last.fm, and General Manager of technology products for Amazon in
Europe, where he launched Amazon’s Software, Video games, Electronics and Toy stores.
He currently sits on the board/advisory boards of a number of other institutions including Lux Fix, the
Pigeon Hole, Flixmedia and the Foundling Museum.
6.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE ACQUISITION

The Company has entered into the Acquisition Agreement, pursuant to which it has conditionally agreed to
acquire the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR for a consideration of £5.12 million, to be satisfied by
the issue of the Consideration Shares. The Acquisition Agreement is conditional, among other things, on the
passing of the Resolutions and Admission becoming effective on or before 10 June 2016. The Company and
each of the Vendors have given certain customary warranties pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement. Further
details of the Acquisition Agreement are set out in paragraph 15.1 of Part VII of this document.
7.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Historical financial information on the Company and on MelodyVR is set out in Parts III and IV respectively
of this document. An unaudited pro forma net assets statement showing the hypothetical net assets of the
Enlarged Group after the Acquisition and the Share Consolidation is set out in Part V of this document.
8.

IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSALS UNDER THE CODE

Background to the Concert Party
The Vendors and their connected advisers (see below) are deemed under the Code to be acting in concert in
relation to the Proposals and where relevant are referred to as the Concert Party throughout this document.
Further details of the Concert Party are set out in Part VI of this document. Persons acting in concert include
persons who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate, to obtain
or consolidate control of that company. Under the Code a concert party arises, among other things, when
persons acting together pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate
to obtain or consolidate control of, or frustrate the successful outcome of an offer for, a company to which
the Code applies. Control means an interest or interests in shares carrying an aggregate of 30 per cent. or
more of the voting rights of the company irrespective of whether the holding or holdings give de facto
control.
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SRG, Chris Akers, Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent are “connected advisers”, in their capacity as
financial advisers to MelodyVR, and as such are treated as members of the Concert Party. SRG, Chris Akers,
Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent each have no relationship to the other Concert Party members, other
than in this professional capacity.
Concert Party
The Concert Party’s existing shareholdings in the Company and its proposed interest in the Enlarged Group
immediately following Admission are set out in the table below.

Name
Anthony Matchett
Steven Hancock
Mark Newton
Stefan Glaenzer
Alex Pearce
Chris Akers2
Russell Backhouse2
Rodger Sargent2
Total

Current interest
in the Company
% of the
Number of
Existing
Existing
Ordinary
Ordinary
Share
Shares
Capital
–
–
–
–
–
300,000,000
20,000,000
–
–––––––––––
320,000,000
–––––––––––

–
–
–
–
–
1.29%
0.09%
–
–––––––––––
1.38%
–––––––––––

Proposed interest in the
Enlarged Group post
Admission (and assuming
all Warrants held by
Concert Party members are exercised)1
% of issued
Enlarged
Ordinary
Share
Capital
Number of
(assuming
Number of New Ordinary
Warrants
New Ordinary Shares under
have been
exercised)
Shares
Warrant1
215,357,796
176,876,784
48,525,867
24,262,933
679,362
9,969,697
7,169,697
6,969,697
–––––––––––
489,811,833
–––––––––––

11,537,725
11,537,725
–
–
–
625,000
416,666
833,333
–––––––––––
24,950,449
–––––––––––

30.52%
25.35%
6.53%
3.26%
0.09%
1.43%
1.02%
1.05%
–––––––––––
69.25%
–––––––––––

1

The Warrants held by Messrs Matchett and Hancock may be exercised at a price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share, and those
held by Messrs Akers, Backhouse and Sargent at a price of £0.014 per New Ordinary Share (in each case at any time after
Admission), further details of which are set out in paragraph 2.3 (b) of Part VI of this document.

2

SRG, who is a connected adviser to the Concert Party under the Code, has received a financial advisory fee in relation to the
Acquisition, as set out in paragraph 15.16 of Part VII of this document. This fee is to be settled by the issue of 20,909,091 New
Ordinary Shares in the Company (“Adviser Shares”) at £0.011 per share, being the closing mid-market price of Existing Ordinary
Shares (adjusted for the Share Consolidation) at 25 April 2016. These shares are included in the table above – with 6,969,697
New Ordinary Shares each to Chris Akers, Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent respectively.

In aggregate, the Concert Party will be interested in 489,811,833 New Ordinary Shares, representing a
maximum of 68.18 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital following Admission assuming: (a) no exercise
of any outstanding warrants; and (b) no other share issues.
Maximum Potential Controlling Position
As at the date of this document, the members of the Concert Party are interested in 320,000,000 Existing
Ordinary Shares. Immediately following Admission, the Concert Party will hold in aggregate 489,811,833
New Ordinary Shares, representing 68.18 per cent. of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital which, without a
waiver of the obligations under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, would oblige the Concert Party to make a
general offer to Shareholders under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code. Assuming only the Warrants held by
members of the Concert Party are exercised, the Concert Party will hold 514,762,282 New Ordinary Shares
representing 69.25 per cent. of the Ordinary Share Capital.
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The issue of the Consideration Shares and the Adviser Shares to the Concert Party would ordinarily incur an
obligation under Rule 9 of the Code for the Concert Party to make a general offer for the remainder of the
entire issued share capital of the Company. Additionally, the exercise of Warrants (if the aggregate holding
of the Concert Party at that time was below 50 per cent.) would also ordinarily incur an obligation under
Rule 9 of the Code for the Concert Party to make a general offer for the remainder of the entire issued share
capital of the Company. However, the Panel has agreed to waive these obligations subject to the approval of
the Independent Shareholders voting on a poll at the General Meeting.
Further details regarding the provisions of the Code, the Whitewash Resolution and the interests of the
Concert Party in the Company are set out below in the Section headed “Waiver of Rule 9 of the Code” of
this Part I and in Part VI of this document.
Intentions of the Concert Party
At present the Company is an “investing company” with no trading business. The Company’s objective has
been to acquire a trading business, and the Existing Directors believe that the acquisition of MelodyVR
fulfils this objective. The Concert Party has confirmed that following completion of the Proposals its
intention is that the business of the Company be changed to that of developing the MelodyVR business as
described under “Future Strategy of the Enlarged Group” above.
Following the Acquisition, the future business of the Group will change as set out in “Future Strategy of the
Enlarged Group” in paragraph 4 above.
Other than this, the Concert Party has confirmed that no changes will be made regarding:

24.2 (a) (b)
(i)

–

the location of the Company’s places of business;

–

the continued employment of the Company’s employees and management, including any material
changes in employment;

(ii)
(iii)
(v)
(iv)

–

employer contributions into the Company’s pension schemes, the accrual of benefits for existing
members and the admission of new members; or

–

the maintenance of any existing trading facilities for the Ordinary Shares (i.e., the trading of the
Company’s shares on AIM),

nor will there be any redeployment of the fixed assets of the Company as result of the Proposals.
Waiver of Rule 9 of the Code
The Code is issued and administered by the Panel. The Company is a company to which the Code applies
and its Shareholders are entitled to the protections afforded by the Code. Under Rule 9 of the Code, any
person who acquires an interest (as defined in the Code) in shares which, taken together with shares in which
he is already interested and in which persons acting in concert with him are interested, carry 30 per cent. or
more of the voting rights of a company which is subject to the Code, is normally required to make a general
offer to all the remaining shareholders to acquire their shares.
Rule 9 of the Code further provides that where any person, together with persons acting in concert
with him, is interested in shares which in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights
of a company but does not hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of such voting rights and such
person, or any such person acting in concert with him, acquires an interest in any other shares which
increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in which he is interested, such person or
persons acting in concert with him will normally be required to make a general offer to all remaining
shareholders to acquire their shares.
Rule 9 of the Code further provides, among other things, that where any person who, together with
persons acting in concert with him holds over 50 per cent. of the voting rights of a company, then they
will not generally be required to make a general offer to the other shareholders to acquire the balance
of their shares, although individual members of the concert party will not be able to increase their
percentage interest in shares through or between a Rule 9 threshold, without Panel consent.
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An offer under Rule 9 of the Code must be made in cash at the highest price paid by the person
required to make the offer, or any person acting in concert with him, for any interest in shares of the
company during the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer.
The Company has applied to the Panel for a waiver of Rule 9 of the Code in order to permit the
Acquisition without triggering an obligation on the part of the Concert Party to make a general offer
to Shareholders. Subject to the approval of the Independent Shareholders taken on a poll in General
Meeting, the Panel has agreed to waive the obligation to make a general offer for the entire issued
share capital of the Company that would otherwise arise as a result of the issue of the Consideration
Shares and Adviser Shares in connection with the Acquisition, or any subsequent exercise of Warrants.
Accordingly, the Whitewash Resolution being proposed at the General Meeting will be taken by means
of a poll of Independent Shareholders attending and voting at the General Meeting. None of the
members of the Concert Party (nor any adviser connected to them) are permitted to exercise their
voting rights in respect of the Whitewash Resolution but may exercise their voting rights in respect of
the remainder of the Resolutions.

Appendix 1
Section 4(e)

Appendix 1
Section 2(e)

The waiver to which the Panel has agreed under the Code will be invalidated if any purchases are made by
any member of the Concert Party, or any person acting in concert with it, in the period between the date of
this document and the General Meeting. Furthermore, other than as set out in paragraph 2.3(a) of Part VI of
this document no member of the Concert Party, nor any person acting in concert with it, has purchased
Ordinary Shares in the 12 months preceding the date of this document.
The Concert Party will not be restricted from making an offer for the Ordinary Shares in the
Company which it will not own post-Admission.

Appendix 1
Section 4(f)

In each case above it is assumed that no other person has converted any convertible securities or exercised
any option or any other right to subscribe for shares in the Company following the date of this document.
Independent Advice
SPARK Advisory Partners has provided advice to the Existing Directors in respect of the Proposals as
required under Rule 3 of the Code.

Appendix 1
Section 4(a)
Rule 3

9.

CHANGE OF NAME

Subject to Shareholders’ approval of Resolution 10 as a special resolution, the name of the Company will be
changed to EVR Holdings PLC.
The Directors believe the Company’s name should be changed to EVR Holdings PLC to better represent the
operations of the Enlarged Group.
If the special resolution to approve the change of name of the Company is passed at the General Meeting,
the Company’s AIM symbol will be changed to EVRH and its website address will be changed to
www.EVRHoldings.com following the General Meeting.
10.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION

The Admission is conditional upon the approval and completion of the Proposals, including the Share
Consolidation. The Company’s Existing Ordinary Share Capital comprises 23,175,034,357 Existing
Ordinary Shares.
The Share Consolidation, which is expected to take place after close of business on the Record Date, will
involve every 100 Existing Ordinary Shares being consolidated into 1 New Ordinary Share. Accordingly,
subject to the passing of Resolution 3 at the General Meeting, Shareholders will receive one New Ordinary
Share in exchange for every 100 Existing Ordinary Shares held. The rights attached to the New Ordinary
Shares will be the same as the rights attaching to the Existing Ordinary Shares and the new Ordinary Shares
will trade on AIM in place of the Existing Ordinary Shares.
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Following the Share Consolidation, Shareholders will own the same proportion of Ordinary Shares in the
Company as they did previously (subject to fractional entitlements) but will hold fewer New Ordinary Shares
than the number of Existing Ordinary Shares currently held. The Share Consolidation will result in an issued
ordinary share capital of 231,750,344 New Ordinary Shares. The Deferred Shares will not be affected by the
Share Consolidation.
In order to ensure that a whole number of New Ordinary Shares is created, it is proposed that the Company
may issue Existing Ordinary Shares to the Registrar. The number of Existing Ordinary Shares to be issued
will be 43 which will result in the total number of Existing Ordinary Shares being exactly divisible in
accordance with the consolidation ratio.
No Shareholder will be entitled to a fraction of a New Ordinary Share and where, as a result of the Share
Consolidation, any Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to a fraction only of a New Ordinary Share in
respect of their holding of Existing Ordinary Shares on the date of the General Meeting (a “Fractional
Shareholder”), such fractions will, in so far as possible, be aggregated with the fractions of New Ordinary
Shares to which other Fractional Shareholders of the Company would be entitled so as to form full New
Ordinary Shares (“Fractional Entitlement Shares”). These Fractional Entitlement Shares shall be sold on
behalf of the relevant Fractional Shareholders in accordance with article 49 of the Articles. The net proceeds
of the sale shall be retained for the benefit of the Company.
The provisions set out above mean that any such Fractional Shareholders will not have a resultant proportionate
shareholding of New Ordinary Shares exactly equal to their proportionate holding of Existing Ordinary Shares,
and as noted above, Shareholders with only a fractional entitlement to a New Ordinary Share (i.e., those
Shareholders holding a total of fewer than 100 Existing Ordinary Shares at the Record Date) will cease to be a
Shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Shareholders currently holding fewer than 100 Existing Ordinary
Shares who wish to remain a Shareholder of the Company following the Share Consolidation would need to
increase their shareholding to at least 100 Existing Ordinary Shares prior to the Record Date. Shareholders in
this position are encouraged to obtain independent financial advice before taking any action.
The Company will issue new share certificates to those Shareholders holding shares in certificated form to
take account of the Change of Name and the Share Consolidation. Following the issue of new share
certificates, share certificates in respect of Existing Ordinary Shares will no longer be valid. Shareholders
will still be able to trade in Ordinary Shares during the period between the passing of the Resolutions and
the date on which Shareholders receive new share certificates.
11.

ADMISSION TO AIM AND DEALINGS IN NEW ORDINARY SHARES

If all of the Resolutions are passed at the General Meeting, application will be made for the Enlarged
Ordinary Share Capital to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that Admission will become effective
and dealings in the New Ordinary Shares will commence on 16 May 2016. No application has been or will
be made for any Warrants to be admitted to trading on AIM.
If any of the Resolutions save for Resolution 8, are not passed at the General Meeting, the Acquisition
will not proceed and the Directors will consider alternative options for the Company.
SPARK Advisory Partners and Peterhouse have been retained as the Company’s nominated adviser and
broker respectively in relation to Admission. Further details of SPARK Advisory Partners’ and Peterhouse’s
engagements are set out at paragraphs 15.10, 15.11 and 15.4 respectively of Part VII of this document.
12.

LOCK-INS AND ORDERLY MARKET ARRANGEMENTS

The Locked-in Persons have undertaken to the Company and SPARK Advisory Partners that they will not
dispose of any interest they hold in New Ordinary Shares for a period of 12 months following Admission.
The Locked-in Persons have undertaken that, for a further period of 12 months thereafter, they shall only
dispose of an interest in New Ordinary Shares having first notified SPARK Advisory Partners. For this
further period, all the Locked-In Persons will only dispose of any interest on an orderly market basis through
the Company’s then broker.
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Further details of the lock-in and orderly market arrangements are set out in paragraph 15.3 of Part VII of
this document.
13.

WARRANTS

At the date of this document, the Company has Existing Warrants in issue in respect of 5,046,351,364
Existing Ordinary Shares. Following the Share Consolidation the holders of such Warrants will be entitled
to subscribe for 50,463,513 New Ordinary Shares.
Subject to Admission, the Board proposes to issue New Warrants to subscribe for up to 52,594,234 New
Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.011 per share to Existing Directors, Proposed Directors, members
of the Advisory Board and certain key employees and consultants.
This issue includes the following awards of New Warrants to Existing Directors and Proposed Directors:
Mr Peter Read
Mr Sean Nicolson
Mr Anthony Matchett
Mr Steven Hancock
Mr Simon Cole

4,615,090
4,615,090
11,537,725
11,537,725
4,615,090

In addition, the Company has agreed to issue New Warrants to subscribe for 7,183,622 New Ordinary Shares
at £0.011 to SPARK Advisory Partners on Admission.
These New Warrants are exercisable at any time up to the third anniversary of Admission, at which time they
will lapse.
Further details of the Existing Warrants and the New Warrants are set out in paragraphs 10.1, 11.1,
paragraphs 15.6 to 15.8 and paragraph 15.13 of Part VII of this document.
Resolution 8 at the General Meeting will seek Shareholders’ approval of the issue of New Warrants to
the Existing Directors: Peter Read and myself. The Existing Directors will not vote their Existing
Ordinary Shares on this Resolution.
14.

OPTIONS

At the date of this document, the Company has no options outstanding.
It is proposed that following Admission the Company will establish the New Share Option Scheme to
incentivise the directors and employees and to align their interests with the interests of Shareholders. The
total number of options which may be granted under the scheme is capped at 10 per cent. of the Company’s
issued share capital from time to time.
Further details of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in paragraph 11.4 of Part VII of this
document.
15.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The nature of the Enlarged Group’s business means that it is unlikely that the Directors would be in a
position to recommend a dividend in the early years following Admission. The Directors believe that the
Enlarged Group should seek to generate capital growth for its Shareholders but may recommend
distributions at some future date, depending upon the generation of sustainable profits, if and when it
becomes commercially prudent to do so. There can be no assurance that the Company will declare and pay,
or have the ability to declare and pay, any dividends in the future.
16.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Directors and Proposed Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance and the
Enlarged Group will comply with QCA Code, as published by the Quoted Companies Alliance, to the extent
they consider appropriate in light of the Enlarged Group’s size, stage of development and resources.
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The Enlarged Group will hold board meetings periodically as issues arise which require the attention of the
Board. The Board will be responsible for the management of the business of the Enlarged Group, setting the
strategic direction of the Enlarged Group and establishing the policies of the Enlarged Group. It will be the
Board’s responsibility to oversee the financial position of the Enlarged Group and monitor the business and
affairs of the Enlarged Group on behalf of the Shareholders, to whom the Directors are accountable. The
primary duty of the Board will be to act in the best interests of the Enlarged Group at all times. The Board
will also address issues relating to internal control and the Enlarged Group’s approach to risk management.
The Enlarged Group has also established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with formally delegated duties and responsibilities.
The Remuneration Committee, which will comprise Simon Cole as Chairman, Sean Nicolson and Peter
Read, will meet not less than twice each year. The committee will be responsible for the review and
recommendation of the scale and structure of remuneration for senior management, including any bonus
arrangements or the award of share options with due regard to the interests of the Shareholders and the
performance of the Enlarged Group.
The Audit Committee, which will comprise Peter Read as Chairman and Simon Cole will meet not less than
twice a year. The committee will be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of auditors and the audit fee and for ensuring that the financial performance of the Enlarged
Group is properly monitored and reported. In addition, the Audit Committee will receive and review reports
from management and the auditors relating to the interim report, the annual report and accounts and the
internal control systems of the Enlarged Group.
The Enlarged Group has adopted and will operate a share dealing code governing the share dealings of the
directors of the Company and applicable employees with a view to ensuring compliance with the AIM Rules.
17.

TAXATION

General information regarding UK taxation is set out in paragraph 21 of Part VII of this document. These
details are intended only as a general guide to the current tax position under UK taxation law. If an investor
is in any doubt as to his tax position he should consult his own independent financial adviser immediately.
Investors subject to tax in other jurisdictions are strongly urged to contact their tax advisers about the tax
consequences of holding Ordinary Shares.
18.

CREST

CREST is a paperless settlement system enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate
and transferred otherwise than by written instrument in accordance with the CREST Regulations.
The New Ordinary Shares will be eligible for CREST settlement. Accordingly, following Admission,
settlement of transactions in the New Ordinary Shares may take place within the CREST system if a
Shareholder so wishes. CREST is a voluntary system and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain share
certificates are able to do so.
For more information concerning CREST, Shareholders should contact their stockbroker or Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited at 33 Cannon Street, London EC4M 5SB or by telephone on +44 (0) 20 7849 0000.
19.

BRIBERY ACT 2010

The government of the United Kingdom has issued guidelines setting out appropriate procedures for
companies to follow to ensure that they are compliant with the UK Bribery Act 2010 which came into force
with effect from 1 July 2011. The Company has conducted a risk review into its operational procedures to
consider the impact of the Bribery Act 2010 and has drafted and implemented an anti-bribery policy as
adopted by the Board and also implemented appropriate procedures to ensure that the Directors, employees
and consultants comply with the terms of the legislation.
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RISK FACTORS

Shareholders and other prospective investors in the Company should be aware that an investment in
the Company involves a high degree of risk. Your attention is drawn to the risk factors set out in
Part II of this document.
21.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Shareholders should read the whole of this document, which provides additional information on the
Company, MelodyVR and the Proposals, and should not rely on summaries of, or individual parts only of,
this document. Your attention is drawn, in particular, to Parts II to VII of this document.
22.

GENERAL MEETING

You will find set out at the end of this document a notice convening the General Meeting of the Company to
be held at 11.00 a.m. on 13 May 2016 at the offices of Fieldfisher LLP, 9th Floor, Riverbank House, 2 Swan
Lane, London EC4R 3TT, at which the following Resolutions will be proposed:
Resolution 1: to approve the Whitewash Resolution;
Resolution 2: to approve the Acquisition;
Resolution 3: to approve the Share Consolidation;
Resolution 4: to appoint Anthony Matchett as a director of the Company;
Resolution 5: to appoint Steven Hancock as a director of the Company;
Resolution 6: to appoint Simon Cole as a director of the Company;
Resolution 7: to authorise the Directors to allot New Ordinary Shares;
Resolution 8: to approve the issue of New Warrants to Peter Read and Sean Nicolson;
Resolution 9: to dis-apply statutory pre-emption provisions to enable the Directors in certain circumstances
to allot New Ordinary Shares for cash other than on a pre-emptive basis; and
Resolution 10: to approve the Change of Name.
23.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN

A Form of Proxy is enclosed for use by Shareholders at the General Meeting. Whether or not Shareholders
intend to be present at the General Meeting, they are asked to complete, sign and return the Proxy Form by
post or by hand to the Company’s Registrars, Neville Registrars Limited, Neville House, 18 Laurel Lane,
Halesowen, B63 3DA, as soon as possible but in any event so as to arrive no later than 48 hours before the
General Meeting. The completion and return of a Form of Proxy will not preclude a Shareholder from
attending the General Meeting and voting in person should he or she wish to do so.
24.

RECOMMENDATION

The Board is of the opinion that the Resolutions numbered 2 to 7 and 9 to 10 (inclusive) are in the best
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Existing Directors
unanimously recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of each of these Resolutions, as the Existing
Directors intend to do in respect of their own beneficial shareholdings, which amount in aggregate to
737,187,499 Existing Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 3.18 per cent. of the Existing
Ordinary Share Capital.
None of the Existing Directors are able to give any recommendation in respect of the Whitewash
Resolution (Resolution 1), given that they will receive New Warrants as set out in paragraph 13 above
following Admission. SPARK Advisory Partners, as Rule 3 Adviser under the Code, believe that the
Proposals are fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Independent Shareholders.

28

167186

Proof 9

Tuesday, April 26, 2016

22:33

Accordingly, SPARK Advisory Partners recommends that Independent Shareholders vote in favour of
Resolution 1. The Existing Directors are unable to vote their Shares on Resolution 1, nor are members
of the Concert Party.
In respect of Resolution 8, which proposes the issue of New Warrants to the Existing Directors, the
Existing Directors will not vote their shares on this Resolution, and do not make any recommendation
on this Resolution to Shareholders.
Yours faithfully

Sean Nicolson
Chairman
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PART II
RISK FACTORS
There are significant risks associated with the Enlarged Group. Prior to making an investment
decision in respect of the Ordinary Shares, prospective investors should consider carefully all of the
information within this document, including the following risk factors. The Board believes the
following risks to be the most significant for potential investors. However, the risks listed do not
necessarily comprise all of those associated with an investment in the Enlarged Group. In particular,
the Enlarged Group’s performance may be affected by changes in market or economic conditions and
in legal, regulatory and/or tax requirements. The risks listed are not set out in any particular order of
priority. Additionally, there may be risks not mentioned in this document of which the Board is not
aware or believes to be immaterial but which may, in the future, adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s
business and the market price of the Ordinary Shares.
If any of the following risks were to materialise, the Enlarged Group’s business, financial condition,
results or future operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such cases, the market price
of the Ordinary Shares could decline and an investor may lose part or all of his investment. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Board, or which the Board currently deems
immaterial, may also have an adverse effect upon the Enlarged Group and the information set out
below does not purport to be an exhaustive summary of the risks affecting the Enlarged Group.
Before making a final investment decision, prospective investors should consider carefully whether an
investment in the Enlarged Group is suitable for them and, if they are in any doubt should consult with
an independent financial adviser authorised under FSMA who specialises in advising on the
acquisition of shares and other securities.
RISKS RELATING TO THE ACQUISITION
Conditionality of the Acquisition
Completion of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, where applicable) of a number of
conditions, including, among other things, the passing of all of the Resolutions (save for Resolution 8) and
Admission.
There is no guarantee that the conditions will be satisfied (or waived, if applicable), in which case the
Acquisition will not complete. Additionally, under the AIM Rules for Companies, as an investing company
the Company has until 17 July 2016 to fulfil its investing policy or complete a reverse takeover of a suitable
business under AIM Rule 14. Failure to do so in this time frame will lead to suspension of the Company’s
shares from trading on AIM.
Limited recourse under the Acquisition Agreement
Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the Company is receiving warranties in relation to certain
matters from the Vendors. The consideration under the Acquisition comprises the Consideration Shares
rather than cash and the Company is not aware of the financial standing of the Vendors. Therefore the
Company may have limited recourse for breaches of warranty and other breaches of the Acquisition
Agreement. In addition, there are customary limitations on the ability of the Company to bring claims for
breach of warranty both as to the time period during which claims may be brought and the quantum that may
be recovered.
RISKS RELATING TO THE ENLARGED GROUP AND ITS BUSINESS
Attraction and retention of key management and employees
The successful operation of the Enlarged Group will depend partly upon the performance and expertise of
its current and future management and employees. The loss of the services of certain of these members of
the Enlarged Group’s key management or employees, particularly Anthony Matchett and Steven Hancock,
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or the inability to identify, attract and retain a sufficient number of suitably skilled and qualified employees
may have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group. Expansion of the Enlarged Group may require
considerable management time which may in turn inhibit management’s ability to conduct the day to day
business of the Enlarged Group.
Early stage of operations
MelodyVR is a very early stage company with limited trading history. Consequently, even with significant
planning and preparation by the Company’s management, the Enlarged Group could fail to prove its value
proposition in the market, which would make profitable growth difficult. There is also the potential for cost
over-runs resulting from recognised cost items which may prove to be underappreciated, or from additional
unanticipated costs.
Retaining in-demand content producers
MelodyVR is yet to sign deals with the major labels that would potentially deliver access to major
international artists with significant fan bases. Should such major labels choose to sign deals with rival VR
content producers, this could both restrict MelodyVR’s ability to attract audiences, while also drawing
audiences to the offerings of MelodyVR’s competitors. Similarly, if MelodyVR is unable to obtain all the
rights, clearances or waivers necessary to exploit its content, the prospects of the Enlarged Group could be
adversely affected.
Rate of market adoption and consumer penetration
The Enlarged Group’s prospects, among other things, rest upon the rate of consumer penetration and ultimate
market size for the VR headsets upon which MelodyVR’s content will run. Should the rate of adoption be
slower, or the ultimate size of the VR market be materially smaller than is presently forecast by various
commentators, this could significantly inhibit the Enlarged Group’s revenue and prospects.
Whilst pre-release interest in the purchase of HMDs has been high, VR is a format in its infancy. As a result
it is difficult to know what consumer adoption rates will be. This will have a direct impact on the potential
market size for related media content as limited uptake of the HMDs will drastically limit the available
market MelodyVR is able to target.
The Directors believe that 2016 will be a key year for VR as the availability of quality HMDs will likely
increase significantly and consumer awareness of the potential usage of VR will be heightened. In many
industries those participants which achieve a first mover advantage are able to build an audience and brand
equity within their niche, which can work in their favour and become part of their competitive advantage.
Delay in launching the MelodyVR App
The Directors believe that there will be a first mover advantage to the Enlarged Group if the MelodyVR App
is one of the first music-content related apps available for use with HMDs. The Enlarged Group intends to
launch the MelodyVR App in 2016; any delay, particularly if other competitors were to make an alternative
App available ahead of MelodyVR’s, will have an adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s prospects.
Viability of the MelodyVR App
It is important that MelodyVR successfully releases a functional version of its App, which is presently at the
beta stage. There remains execution risk that MelodyVR App and the content it delivers are not well received
by users. Failure to launch the app, or failure to design the app in a manner which is easily usable by the
intended users could adversely impact on the Enlarged Group’s ability to fulfil its potential.
Rate of consumer adoption of the MelodyVR App
Even with significant consumer adoption and purchase of HMDs, there is no guarantee that such consumers
will download the MelodyVR App in the quantities or in the timeframe which the Enlarged Group targets.
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Quality of Internet connection
The Enlarged Group’s business relies on its customers’ ability to have access to a quality Internet connection.
If the customers’ access to or use of a quality Internet connection was restricted, the quality of the Enlarged
Group’s product offering would be reduced, which could have an adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s
business, operations and financial position.
Competition
Given the nascent and dynamic state of the market in which MelodyVR operates, there may be new
competitors which could include well resourced, international players in the entertainment and music
industries which have greater market presence, name recognition, financial resources and economies of scale
or lower cost bases than the Enlarged Group and may be able to withstand or respond more swiftly to
changes in market conditions, any of which could give them a competitive advantage over MelodyVR.
In addition, competitors may seek to copy or improve on the Enlarged Group’s business strategy, which
could significantly harm MelodyVR’s competitive position.
Feasibility of live streaming
The logistics of live streaming present additional technical challenges. Live streaming requires an
uninterrupted high-speed internet connection through which to upload the content, the feasibility of which
may be limited in the outdoor, more remote music festivals. Failure to address these technical issues may
adversely impact the Enlarged Group’s prospects.
Delay in introduction of VR Headsets to the consumer markets
The Enlarged Group will generate its income from sales through its MelodyVR App, which will be available
through HMDs upon its launch. Any delay in the anticipated introduction of future HMDs may have a
corresponding knock on effect on the ability of the Enlarged Group to generate sales.
Relationship with content owners
The content that MelodyVR captures remains the property of the record companies and associated artists,
which is then licensed back to MelodyVR under the rights agreements. As a result it is imperative that
MelodyVR maintains good relationships with the content owners to ensure that it continues to enjoy the
commercial use of the content that they own.
Reliance on app platforms
The MelodyVR App will be offered exclusively on VR app platforms. Accordingly, MelodyVR is beholden
to changes in those platforms’ terms and conditions.
Future funding requirements
In the longer term, the Enlarged Group will need to raise additional funding to undertake work beyond that
being funded by the current cash deposits of the Enlarged Group. There is no certainty that this will be
possible at all or on acceptable terms. In addition, the terms of any such financing may be dilutive to, or
otherwise adversely affect, Shareholders.
RISKS RELATING TO AN INVESTMENT IN THE ORDINARY SHARES
Trading and performance of Ordinary Shares
The AIM Rules are less demanding than those of the Official List and an investment in a company whose
shares are traded on AIM is likely to carry a higher risk than an investment in a company whose shares are
quoted on the Official List. It may be more difficult for investors to realise their investment in a company
whose shares are traded on AIM than to realise an investment in a company whose shares are quoted on the
Official List. The share price of publicly traded, early stage companies can be highly volatile. The price at
which the Ordinary Shares will be traded and the price at which investors may realise these investments will
be influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Enlarged Group and its operations and some
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which may affect quoted companies generally. The value of Ordinary Shares will be dependent upon the
success of the operational activities undertaken by the Enlarged Group and prospective investors should be
aware that the value of the Ordinary Shares can go down as well as up. Furthermore, there is no guarantee
that the market price of an Ordinary Share will accurately reflect its underlying value.
Volatility of share price
The trading price of the Ordinary Shares may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of
events and factors, such as variations in operating results, announcements of innovations or new services by
the Enlarged Group or its competitors, changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities
analysts, the share price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable to the
Company, news reports relating to trends in the Company’s markets, large purchases or sales of Ordinary
Shares, liquidity (or absence of liquidity) in the Ordinary Shares, currency fluctuations, legislative or
regulatory changes and general economic conditions. These fluctuations may adversely affect the trading
price of the Ordinary Shares, regardless of the Company’s performance.
Future sales of Ordinary Shares could adversely affect the price of the Ordinary Shares
Certain existing Shareholders have given lock-in undertakings that, save in certain circumstances, they will
not until twelve months following Admission, be permitted to dispose of the legal or beneficial ownership
of, or any other interest in, Ordinary Shares held by them. There can be no assurance that such parties will
not effect transactions upon the expiry of the lock-in or any earlier waiver of the provisions of their lock-in.
The sale of a significant number of Ordinary Shares in the public market, or the perception that such sales
may occur, could materially adversely affect the market price of the Ordinary Shares.
Shareholders not subject to lock-in arrangements and, following the expiry of twelve months following
Admission (or earlier in the event of a waiver of the provisions of the lock-in), the Locked-In Persons, may
sell their Ordinary Shares in the public or private market and the Company may undertake a public or private
offering of Ordinary Shares. The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of Ordinary Shares
will have on the market price of the Ordinary Shares. If the Company’s existing shareholders were to sell, or
the Company was to issue a substantial number of Ordinary Shares in the public market, the market price of
the Ordinary Shares could be materially adversely affected. Sales by the Company’s existing Shareholders
could also make it more difficult for the Company to sell equity securities in the future at a time and price
that it deems appropriate.
Dilution of Shareholders’ interests as a result of additional equity fundraising
The Company may need to raise additional funds in the future to finance, among other things, working
capital, expansion of the Enlarged Group, new developments relating to existing operations or new
acquisitions. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of new equity or equity-linked securities of
the Company other than on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders, the percentage ownership of the existing
Shareholders may be reduced. Shareholders may also experience subsequent dilution and/or such securities
may have preferred rights, options and pre-emption rights senior to the Ordinary Shares. The Company may
also issue shares as consideration shares on acquisitions or investments which would also dilute
Shareholders’ respective shareholdings.
Dividends
There can be no assurance as to the level of future dividends. The declaration, payment and amount of any
future dividends of the Company are subject to the discretion of the Shareholders or, in the case of interim
dividends to the discretion of the Directors, and will depend upon, among other things, the Company’s
earnings, financial position, cash requirements, availability of profits, as well as provisions for relevant laws
or generally accepted accounting principles from time to time.
Although the Board intends to pay dividends to Shareholders in the future, there can be no assurance that the
Company will declare and pay, or have the ability to declare and pay, any dividends in the future.
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The specific and general risk factors detailed above do not include those risks associated with the
Enlarged Group which are unknown to the Directors.
Although the Directors will seek to minimise the impact of the risk factors, investment in the Company
should only be made by investors able to sustain a total loss of their investment. Investors are strongly
recommended to consult an investment adviser authorised under FSMA who specialises in
investments of this nature before making any decision to invest.
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PART III
(A) HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

Rule 24.3 (a) and
(b)

The Directors
Armstrong Ventures PLC
18 Buckingham Gate
London
SW1E 6LB
The Directors
SPARK Advisory Partners Limited
5 St John’s Lane
London
EC1M 4BH

24.3 (iv)

24.315 d (i)

27 April 2016
Dear Sirs
Armstrong Ventures PLC
We report on the historical financial information on Armstrong Ventures PLC (“Armstrong”) set out in Part
III(B) of the AIM Admission Document dated 27 April 2016. This financial information has been prepared
on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the financial information set out in Part III(B) of
the Admission Document (the “Financial Information”). This report is required by paragraph (a) of Schedule
Two of the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for
no other purpose.
Responsibility
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Financial Information on the basis of preparation set out in
note 1 to the Financial Information and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Financial Information as to whether the financial
information gives a true and fair view, for the purposes of the Admission Document, and to report our
opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules to any person as
and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any liability to any person other than the addressees of this letter for any
loss suffered by any such person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our
statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two
of the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates
and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the Financial Information and whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
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financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.
Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in the United States of America or other jurisdictions outside the United Kingdom and accordingly
should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.
Opinion
In our opinion the Financial Information gives for the purpose of the Admission Document dated 27 April
2016 a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Armstrong Ventures PLC as at 31 December 2013, 2014
and 2015 and of the losses, cash flows and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Declaration
For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible for
this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure
that the information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in
compliance with paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies.
Yours faithfully

haysmacintyre
Chartered accountants
26 Red Lion Square
London
WC1R 4AG
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(B) HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON
ARMSTRONG VENTURES PLC
Statement of Comprehensive Profit and Loss

Notes
Administrative expenses
Impairments against investments and loans
and receivables
5

Operating loss
Finance income – interest received
Loss before tax
Tax (credit)/expense

7

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of
Armstrong Ventures PLC and total comprehensive loss
Earnings per share attributable to the owners of
Armstrong Ventures PLC
Basic and diluted

37

(159,533)

(184,079)

(326,788)

(102,973)
––––––––
(262,406)
–
––––––––
(262,406)
–
––––––––

–
––––––––
(184,079)
–
––––––––
(184,079)
–
––––––––

–
––––––––
(326,788)
4,602
––––––––
(322,186)
–
––––––––

(262,406)

(184,079)

(322,186)

–––––––– –––––––– ––––––––
8

The results reflected above relate solely to continuing activities.

Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
2015
£
£
£

(0.012)p

(0.008)p

(0.003)p

–––––––– –––––––– ––––––––
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Statement of Financial Position
Notes
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

10
11

Total assets

2013
£

2014
£

2015
£

2,369
19,315
5,024
413,349
564,759 2,401,021
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
415,718
584,074 2,406,045

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Total liabilities

29,914
31,714
16,667
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
29,914
31,714
16,667

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
385,804

Net assets
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings

13

Total equity

552,360

2,389,378

818,360
975,503 2,925,753
4,262,258 4,425,200 4,523,392
(4,694,814) (4,848,343) (5,059,767)
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
385,804
552,360 2,389,378

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Share
capital
£
As at 1 January 2013
Loss for the year
As at 31 December 2013
Loss for the year
Shares issued
Share issue costs
Grant of share options
As at 31 December 2014
Loss for the year
Shares issued
Share issue costs
Grant of share options
As at 31 December 2015

818,360
–
––––––––
818,360
–
157,143
–
–
––––––––
975,503
–
1,950,250
–
–
––––––––
2,925,753

––––––––

39

Share
premium
account
£

Retained
earnings
£

4,262,258
–
––––––––
4,262,258
–
172,857
(9,915)
–
––––––––
4,425,200
–
392,042
(293,850)
–
––––––––
4,523,392

(4,432,408)
(262,406)
––––––––
(4,694,814)
(184,079)
–
–
30,550
––––––––
(4,878,893)
(322,186)
–
–
110,762
––––––––
(5,059,767)

––––––––

––––––––

Total
£
648,210
(262,406)
––––––––
385,804
–
330,000
(9,915)
30,550
––––––––
552,360
(322,186)
2,342,292
(293,850)
110,762
––––––––
2,389,378

––––––––
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Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss after taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest received
Share based payment charge
Impairments against investments and loans and receivables
Operating cash flows before working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Net cash flow from operating activities
Investing activities
Interest received
Net cash generated in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Share issue costs
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(262,406)

(184,079)

(322,186)

–
–
102,873
––––––––
(159,533)
73,237
(1,306)
––––––––
(87,602)
––––––––

–
30,550
–
––––––––
(153,529)
(16,946)
1,800
––––––––
(168,675)
––––––––

(4,602)
110,762
–
––––––––
(216,026)
14,290
(15,046)
––––––––
(216,782)
––––––––

–
––––––––
–
––––––––

–
––––––––
–
––––––––

4,602
––––––––
4,602
––––––––

–
–
––––––––
–
––––––––
(87,602)
500,951
––––––––
413,349

330,000
(9,915)
––––––––
320,085
––––––––
151,410
413,349
––––––––
564,759

2,342,292
(293,850)
––––––––
2,048,442
––––––––
1,836,262
564,759
––––––––
2,401,021

––––––––

40

2015
£

––––––––

––––––––
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
General information
Armstrong Ventures PLC is a public limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The shares of
the Company are listed on the AIM. The principal activity of the company is to invest in businesses in the
media, technology and healthcare sectors which have some or all of the following characteristics:
•

strong management with a proven track record;

•

ready for investment without the need for material re-structuring by the Company;

•

generating positive cash flows or imminently likely to do so;

•

an injection of new finances or specialist management will enhance the prospects and therefore the
future value of the investment; and

•

the potential to deliver significant returns for the Company.

1.

Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Company’s financial information are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union. The financial statements have been prepared using the
measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (“£”) which is the functional currency of the
Company.
An overview of standards, amendments and interpretations to IFRSs issued but not yet effective, and which
have not been adopted early by the Company are presented below under ‘Statement of Compliance’.
Going concern
The Directors have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Company’s financial
statements.
Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. These estimates and
assumptions are based upon management’s knowledge and experience of the amounts, events or actions.
Actual results may differ from such estimates.
The estimates and assumptions that may cause material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and
liabilities relate to:
Share based payments
The calculation of the fair value of equity-settled share based awards and the resulting charge to the
statement of comprehensive income requires assumptions to be made regarding future events and market
conditions. These assumptions include the future volatility of the Company’s share price. These assumptions
are then applied to a recognised valuation model in order to calculate the fair value of the awards.
Fair value of unquoted investments
Unquoted investments are valued in accordance with the techniques set out in the accounting policy note
“Available for sale investments”.
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Share-based payments
All share based payments are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2 – “Share-based payments”. The
Company issues equity-settled share based payments in the form of share options to certain directors and
employees. Equity settled share based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of equity-settled share based payments is expensed on a straight line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.
Fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, on the basis of management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations. At each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to retained
earnings.
Taxation
Current taxation is the taxation currently payable on taxable profit for the year.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is
generally provided on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax
bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the
related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Temporary differences
include those associated with shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures and are only not recognised if the
Company controls the reversal of the difference and it is not expected for the foreseeable future. In addition,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to the Company are assessed
for recognition as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full, with no discounting. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against
future taxable income. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are
expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted
at the statement of financial position date. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in the income statement, except where they relate to items that are charged or
credited to equity in which case the related deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to equity.
Financial assets
The Company’s financial assets comprise available for sale investments, and cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Available for sale investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.
Investments classified as available for sale are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Fair
value is defined as the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants at
the reporting date and is therefore an estimate and as such requires the use of judgement. Where possible fair
value is based upon observable market prices, such as listed equity markets or reported merger and
acquisition transactions. Alternative bases of valuation may include contracted proceeds or best estimate
thereof, implied valuation from further investment and long-term cash flows discounted at a rate which is
tested against market data. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in
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other comprehensive income, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is included in the net profit
or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement for equity investments classified
as available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through the income statement.
The Company determines the fair value of its Investments based on the following hierarchy:
Level 1 – Where financial instruments are traded in active financial markets, fair value is determined by
reference to the appropriate quoted market price at the reporting date. Active markets are those in which
transactions occur in significant frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Level 2 – If there is no active market, fair value is established using valuation techniques, including
discounted cash flow models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable market data including
recent arm’s length market transactions, and comparisons to the current fair value of similar instruments; but
where this is not feasible, inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility are used.
Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs that are not based on observable market data.
Impairment of investments
Investments are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Investments are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the investment, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.
For quoted and unquoted investments classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
Financial liabilities
The Company’s financial liabilities comprise trade payables. Financial liabilities are obligations to pay cash
or other financial assets and are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.
Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.
Dividends
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in “current financial liabilities” when the
dividends are approved in general meeting prior to the statement of financial position date.
Equity
Equity comprises the following:
•

“Share capital” represents the nominal value of equity shares.

•

“Share premium” represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received
for equity shares, net of expenses of the share issue.

•

“Retained losses” represents retained losses.

2.

Financial instruments – risk management

Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
•

to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to provide
returns and benefits for shareholders;
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•

to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Company’s risk management capability.
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The Company actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure an optimal capital
structure and equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Company
and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. Management regards total equity as capital
and reserves, for capital management purposes.
Credit risk
The main credit risk relates to liquid funds held at banks. The credit risk in respect of these bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.
Liquidity risk
The Company seeks to manage financial risk, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable
needs.
An analysis of trade and other payables is given in note 12. These payables are payable within a year.
Categories of financial instruments
The IAS 39 categories of financial asset included in the statement of financial position and the headings in
which they are included are as follows:
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables

413,349
–
–––––––––
413,349

564,759
10,000
–––––––––
574,759

2,401,021
–
–––––––––
2,401,021

14,317

8,314

1,847

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
3.

2015
£

Segmental information

The Company is organised around business class and the results are reported to the Chief Operating Decision
Maker according to this class. There is one continuing class of business, being an investment company. From
August 2012 until June 2015 the Company had been focused on investing in the natural resource and energy
sector but, in June 2015, the Company changed its investment focus to businesses in the media, technology
and healthcare sectors.
Given that there is only one continuing class of business, operating within the UK no further segmental
information has been provided.
4.

Financial instruments

Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
•

to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to provide
returns and benefits for shareholders;

•

to support the Company’s growth; and
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to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Company’s risk management capability.

The Company actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure an optimal capital
structure and equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Company
and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. Management regards total equity as capital
and reserves, for capital management purposes.
Credit risk
The main credit risk relates to liquid funds held at banks. The credit risk in respect of these bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.
Liquidity risk
The Company seeks to manage financial risk, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable
needs.
An analysis of trade and other payables is given in note 12. These payables are payable within a year.
Categories of financial instruments
5.

Loss from operations

The operating loss is stated after charging:
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit fees
Tax services

10,000
420
––––––––
10,420

Total auditor’s remuneration
6.

––––––––

10,000
500
––––––––
10,500

––––––––

2015
£

10,000
1,180
––––––––
11,180

––––––––

Directors’ remuneration

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) incurred in the year were as follows:
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
Wages and salaries
Share based payment costs

56,000
–
––––––––
56,000

54,000
30,550
––––––––
84,550

32,000

24,000

––––––––
––––––––

Highest paid director

––––––––
––––––––

2015
£

121,516
110,762
––––––––
232,278

––––––––
––––––––

35,600

Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
2015
Number
Number
Number
Average monthly number of permanent employees
Directors

2

–––––––

3

–––––––

3

–––––––

Apart from the directors, the Company had no other employees in the three years ended 31 December 2015.
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Taxation
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£

Current tax
Current income tax on loss for the year

–

–––––––

–

2015
£
–

–––––––

–––––––

The tax on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK applied
to the loss for the year as follows:
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
(262,406)
23.25%
(61,009)
1,520
59,489
––––––––
–

Loss before tax
Effective standard rate of corporation tax
Loss before tax at effective standard rate
Non-deductible expenses
Unrelieved tax losses
Total tax

––––––––

(184,079)
20.0%
(36,816)
1,300
35,516
––––––––
–

––––––––

2015
£

(322,186)
20.0%
(64,437)
22,152
42,285
––––––––
–

––––––––

No deferred tax asset has been recognised as the Directors cannot be certain that future profits will be
sufficient for this asset to be realised. As at 31 December 2015 the Company has tax losses carried forward
of approximately £1,384,000 (2014: £1,173,000; 2013: £1,029,000).
8.

Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive deferred shares into
ordinary shares.
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
£
£
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic
and fully diluted earnings per share
Loss per share
Basic and diluted

2015
£

(262,406)
––––––––

(184,079)
––––––––

(322,186)
––––––––

Number

Number

Number

2,101,105,791 2,398,170,370 12,611,922,485
–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
(0.012)p

(0.008)p

(0.003)p

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
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Available for sale investments
Cost
£

At 1 January 2013
Impairment in year

49,900
–
––––––––
49,900

At 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015

––––––––

Impairment
£
–
(49,900)
––––––––
(49,900)

––––––––

Net book
value
£
49,900
(49,900)
––––––––
–

––––––––

The available for sale investments are valued in accordance with IFRS 7 and Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Their fair value and the methodology adopted is determined on the basis of a combination of either
their net assets or, where a sale is imminent, the best estimate of the eventual proceeds. Given the
methodology adopted, it is not envisaged that the adoption of alternative assumptions/methodologies,
sensitivity analysis, would have a material impact upon the investments.
10.

Trade and other receivables

Unpaid share subscriptions
Prepayments and accrued income

2013
£

2014
£

2015
£

–
2,369
––––––––
2,369

10,000
9,315
––––––––
19,315

–
5,024
––––––––
5,024

––––––––

––––––––

––––––––

The fair value of the trade and other receivables is considered by the Directors not to be materially different
to the carrying amounts.
11.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank

2013
£

2014
£

2015
£

413,349

564,759

2,401,021

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents represents their fair value.
12.

Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables
Accruals

2013
£

2014
£

2015
£

14,317
15,597
––––––––
29,914

8,314
23,400
––––––––
31,714

1,847
14,820
––––––––
16,667

––––––––

––––––––

––––––––

The fair value of trade and other payables is considered by the Directors not to be materially different to
carrying amounts.
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Share capital
Number of
shares

At 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013:
Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each
Deferred shares of £0.0024 each
Deferred shares of £0.0095 each

Share
capital
£

Share
premium
£

2,101,105,791
210,111
150,520,616
361,249
26,000,000
247,000
–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
818,360
4,262,258
1,571,428,569
157,143
172,857
(9,915)

At 31 December 2013
Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each issued in year
Share issue costs
At 31 December 2014:
Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each
Deferred shares of £0.0024 each
Deferred shares of £0.0095 each

3,672,534,360
367,254
150,250,616
361,249
26,000,000
247,000
–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
975,503
4,425,200
19,502,499,995
1,950,250
392,042
(293,850)

At 31 December 2014
Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each issued in year
Share issue costs
At 31 December 2015:
Ordinary shares of £0.0001 each
Deferred shares of £0.0024 each
Deferred shares of £0.0095 each

23,175,034,355
2,317,503
150,250,616
361,249
26,000,000
247,000
–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
2,925,753
4,523,392

At 31 December 2015

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––

The deferred shares do not confer upon the holders the right to any dividends or the right to attend or vote
at general meetings of the Company.
14.

Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:
Share premium

The amount of capital contributed in excess of the nominal value of each ordinary
share

Retained earnings

All other net gains and losses and transactions with owners (e.g. dividends) not
recognised elsewhere

15.

Share options

Equity-settled share option scheme
The Company operates share-based payment arrangements to remunerate directors and key employees in the
form of a share option scheme. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Company’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions.
On 18 February 2014, Haresh Kanabar and Manish Kotecha were granted options to subscribe for
147,077,405 and 63,033,173 new ordinary shares, respectively, at an exercise price of £0.00025 per share.
The options (which have since lapsed) were stated to vest when the mid market closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares is at or above £0.0004 at close of business on 5 consecutive trading days and are
exercisable at any time within ten years from the date of grant. The fair value of these options was
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and was £0.0001454 per option.
On 31 July 2015 the Company issued 461,509,020 warrants to both Sean Nicolson and Peter Read as part of
their remuneration terms. These warrants are exercisable at 0.012p per ordinary share and have an expiry
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date of 31 July 2020. The fair value of these options was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and was 0.01199p per option.
The significant inputs to the model in respect of the options granted in 2014 and 2015 were as follows:

Grant date share price
Exercise share price
No. of share options
Risk free rate
Expected volatility
Expected option life
Calculated fair value per share

2014

2015

0.025p
0.025p
210,110,578
0.5%
50%
10 years
0.01454p

0.020p
0.012p
923,018,040
0.5%
50%
5 years
0.0120p

The total share-based payment expense recognised in the income statement for the year ended 31 December
2015 in respect of share options granted was £110,762 (2014: £30,550; 2013: £nil).
The following table sets out the details of the options and warrants granted:
Haresh
Kanabar

Number of shares under option
Manish
Kotecha
Peter Read

At 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013
–
Issued in year
147,077,405
At 31 December 2014
Lapsed in year
Issued in year
At 31 December 2015

–
63,033,173

Sean
Nicolson

–
–

–
–

–
–
461,509,020

–
–
461,509,020

461,509,020

461,509,020

––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– –––––––––––
147,077,405
(147,077,405)
–

63,033,173
(63,033,173)
–

––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– –––––––––––
––––––––––– ––––––––––– ––––––––––– –––––––––––
–

–

In addition to the above, Messrs Nicolson and Read are also each beneficially interested in 41,666,666 share
subscription warrants exercisable at 0.014p per share exercisable on or before 31 July 2018. Half of the interest
in the share subscription warrants held by Sean Nicolson are owned legally and beneficially by his wife.
16.

Related party transactions

The following related party transactions occurred during the three years ended 31 December 2015:
Transaction amount*
Year ended 31 December
2013
2014
2015
£
£
£
Management services of Haresh
Kanabar from Poonam & Roshni
Limited, a company controlled
by Haresh Kanabar
Management services of Manish
Kotecha from Remkey Limited,
a company controlled by
Manish Kotecha
Management services of Peter
Redmond from Catalyst
Corporate Limited, a company
controlled by Peter Redmond

Balance owed
At 31 December
2013
2014
£
£

2015
£

32,000
–––––––

24,000
–––––––

35,600
–––––––

2,000
–––––––

2,400
–––––––

–
–––––––

24,000
–––––––

24,000
–––––––

29,000
–––––––

2,000
–––––––

2,000
–––––––

–
–––––––

–
–––––––

6,000
–––––––

11,458
–––––––

–
–––––––

2,000
–––––––

–
–––––––

*: The amount of the transaction above excludes any VAT charged on the transaction.
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Events after the reporting date

On 13 January 2016 and 30 March 2016 the Company invested £212,500 and £57,500, respectively, in
MelodyVR by means of secured convertible loan notes (“Loan Notes”). The Loan Notes bear interest at a
rate of 10% per annum and are repayable on or before 31 March 2017. The Loan Notes may be converted at
the option of the Company into equity shares in MelodyVR on 31 March 2017 or, if earlier, upon the sale or
listing of MelodyVR or the raising of equity finance by MelodyVR.
18.

Ultimate controlling party

The Directors do not consider that there is a single ultimate controlling party.
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PART IV
(A) ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON MELODYVR LIMITED
The Directors
Armstrong Ventures PLC
18 Buckingham Gate
London
SW1E 6LB
Rule 24.3 (a)

The Directors
SPARK Advisory Partners Limited
5 St John’s Lane
London
EC1M 4BH

and (b)

27 April 2016
Dear Sirs
MelodyVR Limited
We report on the historical financial information on MelodyVR Limited set out in Part IV(B) of the AIM
Admission Document dated 27 April 2016. This financial information has been prepared on the basis of the
accounting policies set out in note 1 to the financial information set out in Part IV(B) of the Admission
Document (the “Financial Information”). This report is required by paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the
AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for no other
purpose.
Responsibility
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Financial Information on the basis of preparation set out in
note 1 to the Financial Information and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Financial Information as to whether the financial
information gives a true and fair view, for the purposes of the Admission Document, and to report our
opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules to any person as
and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility
and will not accept any liability to any person other than the addressees of this letter for any loss suffered
by any such person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required
by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for
Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates
and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the Financial Information and whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
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financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.
Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in the United States of America or other jurisdictions outside the United Kingdom and accordingly
should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.
Opinion
In our opinion the Financial Information gives for the purpose of the Admission Document dated 27 April
2016 a true and fair view of the state of affairs of MelodyVR Ltd as at 31 December 2015 and of the losses,
cash flows and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the period then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Declaration
For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible for
this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure
that the information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in
compliance with paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies.
Yours faithfully

haysmacintyre
Chartered accountants
26 Red Lion Square
London
WC1R 4AG
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PART IV
(B) HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON MELODYVR
Statement of Comprehensive Profit and Loss
Note
Administrative expenses
4

Loss for the period before taxation
Taxation
Net loss and total comprehensive income for the period

53

2015
£
186,558
––––––––
(186,558)
–
––––––––
(186,558)

––––––––
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Statement of changes in equity
for the period ended 31 December 2015

Shares issued in the period
Loss for the period and total
comprehensive loss for the period
Balance at 31 December 2015

Share
capital
£

Share
Premium
£

Retained
Losses
£

Total
Equity
£

9,500

148,500

–

158,000

–
––––––––
9,500

–
––––––––
148,500

––––––––

54

––––––––

(186,558)
––––––––
(186,558)

––––––––

(186,558)
––––––––
(28,558)

––––––––
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Statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015
Note
Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets

2015
£

7
8

2,150
39,894
––––––––
42,044

Current assets
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

9
10

17,510
13,115
––––––––
30,625

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

11

101,227
––––––––
(28,558)

Net liabilities

––––––––

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings

12
12

Total equity

9,500
148,500
(186,558)
––––––––
(28,558)

––––––––
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Statement of cash flows
for the period ended 31 December 2015
2015
£
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation

(186,558)

Operating cashflow before working capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible fixed assets
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

7,413
––––––––
(179,145)
(8,000)
14,439
––––––––
(172,706)
––––––––
(2,150)
(47,307)
––––––––
(49,457)
––––––––

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Loans from directors
Issue of shares

77,278
158,000
––––––––
235,278
––––––––
13,115
–
––––––––
13,115

Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward

––––––––
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
General information
MelodyVR Ltd is a private limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The Company’s principal
activity is the operation of immersive video recording technology.
1.

Principal accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. The financial statements have been prepared using the
measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (“£”) which is the functional currency of the
company.
An overview of standards, amendments and interpretations to IFRSs issued but not yet effective, and which
have not been adopted early by the Company are presented below under ‘Statement of Compliance’.
Going concern
The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts through to 31 December 2017. On this basis, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue operating for the
foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
Company’s financial statements.
Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statement in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and
assumptions are based upon management’s knowledge and experience of the amounts, events or actions.
Actual results may differ from such estimates.
The estimates and assumptions that may cause material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and
liabilities relate to:
Statement of compliance
The financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union. At the date of authorisation
of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations affecting the Company, which have
not been applied in these financial statements, were in issue, but not yet effective. The company does not
plan to adopt these standards early.
•

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

•

IFRS 11 (amendments) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

•

IAS 16 and IAS 38 (amendments) Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

•

IAS 19 (amendments) Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

•

IAS 27 (amendments) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

•

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contributions of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate of Joint Venture
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•

Annual improvements to IFRSs: 2010-2012 Amendments to: IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, IFRS 3
Business Combinations, IFRS 8 Operating Segments, IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures and IAS 38 Intangible Assets

•

Annual improvements to IFRSs: 2011-2013 Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement and IAS 40 Investment Property.

•

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2012-2104 Cycle Amendments to: IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IAS 19 Employee
Benefits and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

Taxation
Current taxation is the taxation currently payable on taxable profit for the period.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is
generally provided on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax
bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the
related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Temporary differences
include those associated with shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures and are only not recognised if the
Company controls the reversal of the difference and it is not expected for the foreseeable future. In addition,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to the Company are assessed
for recognition as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full, with no discounting. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against
future taxable income. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are
expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted
at the statement of financial position date. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in the income statements, except where they relate to items that are charged or
credited to equity in which case the related deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to equity.
Financial assets
The Company’s financial assets comprise intangible and tangible fixed assets and cash and cash equivalents.
Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are stated at fair value less amortisation. It is amortised to the statement of
comprehensive income over its estimated economic life.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated to write down
the cost of all tangible fixed assets by equal monthly instalments over their estimated useful lives at the
following rates:
Audio-visual production equipment – 33% straight line
Computer equipment – 33% straight line
Office equipment – 25% straight line
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Financial liabilities
The Company’s financial liabilities comprise trade payables. Financial liabilities are obligations to pay cash
or other financial assets and are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.
Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.
Equity
Equity comprises the following:
•

“Share capital” represents the nominal value of equity shares.

•

“Share premium” represents the amount paid for equity shares over the nominal value.

•

“Retained earnings” represents retained profits.

Categories of financial instruments
The IAS 39 categories of financial asset included in the statement of financial position and the headings in
which they are included are as follows:
2015
£
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

9,510
13,115
––––––––
22,625

––––––––
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables
Loans from directors

18,950
77,278
––––––––
96,228

––––––––
2.

Segmental information

There is one continuing class of business, being the operation of immersive video recording technology.
Given that there is only one continuing class of business, operating within the UK no further segmental
information has been provided.
3.

Financial Instruments

Capital Risk Management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
•

to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to provide
returns and benefits for shareholders;

•

to support the Company’s growth; and

•

to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Company’s risk management capability.

The Company actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure an optimal capital
structure and equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Company
and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
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expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. Management regards total equity as capital
and reserves, for capital management purposes.
Credit risk
The main credit risk relates to liquid funds held at banks. The credit risk in respect of these bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.
Liquidity risk
The Company seeks to manage financial risk, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable
needs.
An analysis of trade and other payables is given in note 9. These payables are payable within a period.
4.

Operating loss

The operating loss is stated after charging:
£
Depreciation
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees
5.

7,413
5,000

––––––––

Directors’ remuneration

During the period the directors received no remuneration.
6.

Taxation
2015
£

Current tax on loss for the period

–

––––––––

The tax on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average rate applicable to profits of the Company is as follows:
2015
£
Factors affecting the tax charge
Loss before tax
Loss before tax multiplied by rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20%
Unrelieved tax losses
Accelerated capital allowances not recognised
Non-deductible expenses
Total tax

(186,558)
(37,311)
42,043
(7,971)
3,247
––––––––
–

––––––––

No deferred tax asset has been recognised as Directors cannot be certain that future profits will be sufficient
for this asset to be realised. As at 31 December 2015 the Company has tax losses carried forward of
approximately £210,000.
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Intangible fixed assets
Trademark
£

Cost
Additions and at 31 December 2015

2,150
––––––––

Depreciation
Charge for the period and at 31 December 2015

–
––––––––

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2015
8.

––––––––

Property, plant and equipment

Cost
Additions and
at 31 December 2015
Depreciation
Charge for the period and
at 31 December 2015
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2015
9.

2,150

Audiovisual
production
£

Office
Equipment
£

Computer
Equipment
£

Total
£

31,138
––––––––

585
––––––––

15,584
––––––––

47,307
––––––––

5,524
––––––––

73
––––––––

1,816
––––––––

7,413
––––––––

25,614

––––––––

512

––––––––

13,768

––––––––

––––––––

39,894

Other receivables
2015
£

Other receivables
Prepayments

9,510
8,000
––––––––
17,510

––––––––
10.

Cash and cash equivalents
2015
£

Cash at bank

13,115
––––––––
13,115

Cash and cash equivalents

––––––––

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalent represents their fair value.
11.

Trade and other payables
2015
£

Trade payables
Other creditors
Loans from directors

18,949
5,000
77,278
––––––––
91,717

––––––––
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The fair value of trade and other payables is considered by the Directors not to be materially different to
carrying amounts.
12.

Issued share capital

Issued and fully paid
At 31 December 2015:
Ordinary shares of £1 each

Number of
Shares
No.

Nominal
Value
£

Share
premium
£

9,500

––––––––

1

––––––––

––––––––

148,500

The Company issued 100 ordinary shares of £1 each on incorporation, being 22 April 2015. On 19 October
2015, 7,900 ordinary share of £1 each were issued at par value and a further 1,500 shares were issued on
30 October 2015 at £100 per share.
13.

Post balance sheet events

On 13 January 2016 and 30 March 2016 the Company borrowed £212,500 and £57,500, respectively, from
Armstrong by means of the issue of secured convertible loan notes (“The Loan Notes”). The Loan Notes bear
interest at a rate of 10% per annum and are repayable on or before 31 March 2017. The Loan Notes may be
converted, at the option of Armstrong, into equity shares in the Company on 31 March 2017 or, if earlier,
upon the sale or listing of or raising of equity finance by the Company. On 27 April 2016, Armstrong
announced that, subject to its shareholders’ approval, it had reached agreement to acquire the entire issued
share capital in the Company by means of a share for share exchange.
14.

Ultimate controlling party

At the period end the Directors consider Anthony Matchett to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of
his 55% shareholding in the Company. Since the period end, as a result of the transaction referred to in
note 13, the ultimate parent company will, subject to shareholder approval, become Armstrong Ventures
PLC.
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PART V
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
OF THE ENLARGED GROUP
The following unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group (the “pro forma financial
information”) has been prepared to illustrate the effect on the net assets of the Company as if the acquisition
of MelodyVR Limited had taken place on 31 December 2015.
The pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and, because of its
nature, addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Enlarged Group’s actual
financial position.
The pro forma statement of net assets is based on the net assets of Armstrong Ventures plc and MelodyVR
Limited as at 31 December 2015, as set out in the historical financial information set out in Parts III and IV
in this Document and has been prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the
Company in preparing such information and on the basis set out in the notes below.

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)
1.

General

Company at
31 December
2015
£’000

MelodyVR at
31 December
2015
£’000

Investment in
MelodyVR
£’000

Pro forma of
the Enlarged
Group
£’000

–
––––––––
–
––––––––

2
40
––––––––
42
––––––––

2,737
–
––––––––
2,737
––––––––

2,739
40
––––––––
2,779
––––––––

5
2,401
––––––––
2,406
––––––––
2,406

18
13
––––––––
31
––––––––
73

–
(485)
––––––––
–
––––––––
(485)

23
1,929
––––––––
1,952
––––––––
4,731

(17)
––––––––
(17)
––––––––
2,389

(101)
––––––––
(101)
––––––––
(28)

–
––––––––
–
––––––––
2,252

(118)
––––––––
(118)
––––––––
4,613

––––––––
––––––––

––––––––
––––––––

––––––––
––––––––

––––––––
––––––––

The pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group has been prepared as an aggregation of the following items:

2.

•

the net assets of Armstrong Ventures plc as at 31 December 2015, as extracted from the audited financial statements;

•

the net assets of MelodyVR Limited as at 31 December 2015, as extracted from the audited financial statements;

•

the issue of 465,702,743 new ordinary shares of £0.01 each at an agreed value of £0.011 per share by the Company to
acquire the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR Limited expected to be completed by the Company on 16 May 2016;
and

•

no adjustment has been made to reflect trading results since 31 December 2015.

Basis of consolidation
An adjustment has been made to reflect the estimated intangible assets, including goodwill, arising on the acquisition of
MelodyVR Limited. This is an approximation only and may differ from the intangible assets and goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements of the Enlarged Group. In calculating the intangible assets the acquisition of MelodyVR Limited has been
treated as a reverse acquisition in view of the current shareholders of MelodyVR Limited having an interest of 65% in the share
capital of the Enlarged Group.
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No fair value adjustments have been made to the net assets of the Company in preparing the pro forma financial information.
Accordingly, the net assets of the Company will be subject to a fair value restatement at the effective date of the transaction.
Actual intangibles included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements may therefore be materially different from that
included in the pro forma statement of net assets.
For the purposes of the pro forma financial information, intangible assets, including goodwill, are measured as the excess of the
consideration attributable to MelodyVR Limited over the net fair value of the Company’s identifiable assets and liabilities.
Consideration has been calculated based on 465,702,743 Armstrong Ventures plc’s shares at the agreed value of £0.011 per share.
The determination of the fair value of the equity issued may be materially different to that included in the pro forma statement
of net assets.
3.

Intangibles
The intangible assets arising on the reverse acquisition of MelodyVR Limited are calculated as follows:
£’000
Consideration effectively paid (465,702,743 shares in the Company at £0.011 per share)
Net assets of Armstrong Ventures plc as at 31 December 2015
Estimated intangible assets arising on consolidation

4.

5,123
2,389
––––––––
2,734

––––––––

The cash expenses of the transaction payable by the Company are expected to total approximately £485,000.
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PART VI
INFORMATION ON THE CONCERT PARTY AND ADDITIONAL
DISCLOSURES REQUIRED UNDER THE TAKEOVER CODE
1.

Information on the Concert Party

The members of the Concert Party are made up of existing shareholders of MelodyVR Limited (who by
virtue of presumption 9 of the definition of acting in concert under the Code, whereby shareholders in a
private company who sell their shares in that company in consideration for the issue of new shares in a
company to which the Code applies are presumed under the Code to be acting in concert). Separately SRG,
Chris Akers, Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent are connected advisers to the Concert Party under the
engagement letter set out in paragraph 15.17 of Part VII of this document, and are therefore treated as
members of the Concert Party under the Code. Full details of the members of the Concert Party are shown
below.
Members of the Concert Party hold 320,000,000 Existing Ordinary Shares at present comprising 1.38% of
the current issued share capital) (as set out in paragraph 2.2 below), and warrants over 187,499,999 Existing
Ordinary Shares (as set out in paragraph 2.3 below). Set out below is a table showing the potential interests
of the members of the Concert Party in the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital:
No. of New
Ordinary
Shares held on
Admission
215,357,796
176,876,784
48,525,867
24,262,933
679,362
9,969,697
7,169,697
6,969,697
–––––––––––
489,811,833

Name
Anthony Matchett
Steven Hancock
Mark Newton
Stefan Glaenzer
Alex Pearce
Chris Akers
Russell Backhouse
Rodger Sargent
Total

New Ordinary
Shares
subject to
Warrants
11,537,725
11,537,725
–
–
–
625,000
416,666
833,333
–––––––––––
24,950,449

Maximum
No. of New
Ordinary
Shares
226,895,521
188,414,509
48,525,867
24,262,933
679,362
10,594,697
7,586,363
7,803,030
–––––––––––
514,762,282

24.3a i
24.3d ii

––––––––––– ––––––––––– –––––––––––

The maximum controlling position of the Concert Party is 514,762,282 New Ordinary Shares representing
69.25 per cent. of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital. This is based on the following assumptions:
•

completion of: (i) the Share Consolidation; (ii) the Acquisition (resulting in the issue of the
Consideration Shares); and (iii) the issue of the Adviser Shares;

•

the Vendors exercising all Warrants held by them in full on the earliest opportunity; and

•

there is no other issue of shares, or conversion of Warrants in the share capital of the Company.

2.

Information on certain members of the Concert Party

(i)

Further details about Anthony Matchett and Steven Hancock are set out in paragraph 5.2 of Part I of
this document.

(ii)

Mark Newton, of 1-5 Springfield Mount, Leeds, LS32 9NG is one of the UK’s leading promoters with
15 years’ experience working in live and electronic music. Having gained a degree in Event
Management BA Hons, he began organising shows in the early 2000s and has worked with many
chart-topping artists from the beginning of, and throughout their careers. Over the years he has built
a solid reputation and is a well known and respected name in the music industry. As well as hosting
concerts and club events across many of the major cities in the UK, Mark has also set up a number of
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leading music events in Europe, including Hideout and Unknown festivals in Croatia, and Reclaim
The Dancefloor in Ibiza. Mark is also co-owner and operator of Canal Mills in Leeds, a constantly
evolving space for all mediums of creative output.
(iii)

Stefan Glaenzer of White Bear Yard, 144A Clerkenwell Road, London, EC1R 5DF is founding
partner at Passion Capital in London. He was recently named the best angel investor in Europe by
readers and editors of TechCrunch Europe, and was the first investor and executive chairman of
Last.fm, seeing that company through to its sale to CBS (2007 US$ 280 million). Prior to that Stefan
was co-founder of Ricardo.de, one of the first European online auction and classified sites, which he
took public in 1999 and sold to QXL ricardo in 2000 (2008 sold to Naspers for US$ 1.8 billion). He
was first investor and executive chairman in Mendeley (2013 sold to Elsevier for c US$ 100 million)
and first investor in Dailydeal (2011 sold to Google for US$ 130 million).

(iv)

Alex Pearce of 37-39 Tileyard Studios, Ground Floor, Tileyard Road, London N9 graduated from the
University of the West of England in 2010 with a BSc in Audio & Music Technology. He has 13 years’
professional experience in the tech side of the entertainment industry including live sound for festivals
such as Glastonbury and Bestival, recorded sound, radio production for Annie Mac’s BBC and
SiriusXM shows, film production, high end corporate audio and video, and stage and production
management.

(v)

SRG, Chris Akers, Russell Backhouse and Rodger Sargent are connected advisers and hence members
of the Concert Party under the Code.
Chris Akers of 18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1 has served on several public and private company
boards, including several AIM companies. He began his career in media, as a research analyst for
Saatchi and Saatchi, and moved on to work for both the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, and
then for Citicorp. He was Chairman and Chief Executive of Leeds United PLC from 1996-98. In 1999,
he founded Sports Internet Group PLC, which was admitted to AIM later that year and acquired by
British Sky Broadcasting PLC in 2000 for £300 million.
Russell Backhouse of 18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1 is an experienced finance director and
corporate financier and has served on a number of company boards, both quoted and private, with a
particular focus on the TMT sector. Russell was finance director at Transcomm plc (AIM Listed) prior
to its disposal to British Telecom, and more recently has been a director of United Wireless Holdings
Limited (a privately held technology company) and Swindon Town Football Company Limited.
Rodger Sargent of 18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1 has been the founder and finance director of
a number of quoted and private companies over the past 15 years, including Sports Internet Group
PLC, Hydrodec Group PLC, AudioBoom Group PLC and Litebulb Group Limited. He previously ran
the family office of Betfair founder, Andrew Black. He qualified as a chartered accountant with
PricewaterhouseCoopers, London in 1996.

2.1

Definitions
For the purposes of this Part VI:
(a)

references to persons “acting in concert” comprise persons who, pursuant to an agreement or
understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate to obtain or consolidate control (as
defined below) of a company or to frustrate the successful outcome of an offer for a company.
A person and each of its affiliated persons will be deemed to be acting in concert with each
other. Without prejudice to the general application of this definition, the following persons will
be presumed to be persons acting in concert with other persons in the same category unless the
contrary is established:
(i)

a company, its parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, and their associated
companies, and companies of which such companies are associated companies, all with
each other (for this purpose ownership or control of 20 per cent. or more of the equity
share capital of a company is regarded as the test of associated company status);
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(ii)

a company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives and related
trusts);

(iii)

a company with any of its pension funds and the pension funds of any company covered
in (i);

(iv)

a fund manager (including an exempt fund manager) with any investment company, unit
trust or other person whose investments such fund manager manages on a discretionary
basis, in respect of the relevant investment accounts;

(v)

a connected adviser with its client and, if its client is acting in concert with an offeror or
with the offeree company, with that offeror or with that offeree company respectively, in
each case in respect of the interests in shares of that adviser and persons controlling,
controlled by or under the same control as that adviser (except in the capacity of an
exempt fund manager or an exempt principal trader); and

(vi)

directors of a company which is subject to an offer or where the directors have reason
to believe a bona fide offer for their company may be imminent;

(b)

an “arrangement” includes any indemnity or option arrangement and any agreement or
understanding, formal or informal, of whatever nature, relating to Relevant Securities which
may be an inducement to deal or refrain from dealing;

(c)

a “connected adviser” means an organisation which is advising the offeror or the offeree
company;

(d)

“connected person” means in relation to any person a person whose interest in shares is one in
which the first mentioned person is also taken to be interested pursuant to Part 32 of the Act;

(e)

“control” means a holding, or aggregate holdings, of shares in the capital of a company
carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of such company, irrespective of whether the
holding or holdings give de facto control;

(f)

“dealing or dealt” include:
(i)

acquiring or disposing of Relevant Securities, the right (whether conditional or absolute)
to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting rights allocated to Relevant Securities or
general control of Relevant securities;

(ii)

taking, granting, acquiring, disposing of, entering into, closing out, terminating,
exercising (by either party) or varying an option in respect of any Relevant Securities;

(iii)

subscribing or agreeing to subscribe for Relevant Securities (whether in respect of new
or existing securities);

(iv)

exercising or converting any Relevant Securities carrying conversion or subscription
rights;

(v)

acquiring, disposing of, entering into, closing out, exercising (by either party) of any
rights under, or varying of, a derivative referenced directly or indirectly, to Relevant
Securities;

(vi)

entering into, terminating or varying the terms of any agreement to purchase or sell
Relevant Securities; and

(vii) any other action resulting, or which may result, in an increase or decrease in the number
of Relevant Securities in which a person is interested or in respect of which he has a
short position;
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(g)

“derivative” includes any financial product whose value in whole or in part is determined,
directly or indirectly, by reference to the price of an underlying security but which does not
include the possibility of delivery of such underlying securities;

(h)

“disclosure date” means 26 April 2016, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this document;

(i)

“disclosure period” means the period of 12 months ending on the disclosure date;

(j)

an “exempt fund manager” means a person who manages investment accounts on a
discretionary basis and is recognised by the Panel as an exempt fund manager for the purposes
of the Code;

(k)

an “exempt principal trader” means a person who is recognised by the Panel as an exempt
principal trader for the purposes of the Code;

(l)

being “interested” in Relevant Securities includes where a person (otherwise than through a
short position):
(i)

owns Relevant Securities; or

(ii)

has the right (whether conditional or absolute) to exercise or direct the exercise of the
voting rights attaching to Relevant Securities or has general control over them; or

(iii)

by virtue of an agreement to purchase, option or derivative, has the right or option to
acquire Relevant Securities or to call for their delivery or is under an obligation to take
delivery of them, whether the right, option or obligation is conditional or absolute and
whether it is in the money or otherwise; or

(iv)

is party to any derivative whose value is determined by reference to their price and
which results, or may result, in his having a long position in them;

(m)

“Relevant Securities” means securities which comprise equity share capital (or derivatives
referenced thereto) and securities convertible into rights to subscribe for and options (including
traded options) in respect of any such securities; and

(n)

“short position” means any short position (whether conditional or absolute and whether in the
money or otherwise) including any short position under a derivative, any agreement to sell or
any delivery obligation or right to require another person to purchase or take delivery.

Interests of the Concert Party in the Company

24.4 a (i)

Other than as set out below, no member of the Concert Party is currently interested in any voting rights
of the Company.
Name

No of Shares

Mr Chris Akers
Mr Rodger Sargent
Mr Russell Backhouse

300,000,000
–
20,000,000

Messrs Akers, Sargent and Backhouse are associated with SRG, MelodyVR’s financial adviser, and
hence classed as connected advisers in relation to the Code.

2 (e)

(a)

24.4 a (ii) a / b

2.3
Save as set out below, no member of the Concert Party nor any member of his immediate
family, related trusts or connected persons had an interest in or a right to subscribe for, or had
any short position in relation to any Relevant Securities of the Company, nor had any such
person dealt in such securities during the disclosure period:
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Date

No of Shares

Transaction

22/06/2015
24/06/2015
25/06/2015
25/06/2015
01/07/2015
17/07/2015
17/07/2015
27/07/2015
28/07/2015
28/07/2015
04/08/2015
10/08/2015
14/08/2015
24/08/2015
24/08/2015
28/08/2015
02/09/2015
10/09/2015
14/09/2015
15/09/2015
16/09/2015
17/09/2015
18/09/2015
23/09/2015
24/09/2015
28/09/2015
28/09/2015
29/09/2015
30/09/2015
02/10/2015
19/10/2015
19/10/2015
19/10/2015
20/10/2015
20/10/2015
20/10/2015
20/10/2015
22/10/2015
23/10/2015
23/10/2015
27/10/2015
27/10/2015
06/11/2015
10/11/2015
11/11/2015
11/11/2015
11/11/2015
17/11/2015
19/11/2015
27/11/2015
31/12/2015

100,000,000
10,000,000
50,000,000
140,000,000
50,000,000
403,854,167
250,000,000
6,145,833
154,000,000
179,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
1,000,000
104,000,000
104,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
40,000,000
50,000,000
5,000,000
45,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000
10,000,000
20,000,000
40,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
100,000,000
20,000,000
10,000,000
40,000,000
10,000,000
40,000,000
14,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
100,000,000
100,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
25,000,000
100,000,000
31,000,000
269,000,000
300,000,000

Purchase
Purchase
Sale
Purchase
Purchase
Purchase(2)
Purchase(1)
Purchase
Purchase
Sale
Purchase
Sale
Sale
Sale
Purchase
Purchase
Purchase
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Purchase
Purchase
Purchase
Purchase
Purchase
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Purchase
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale
Purchase
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Price
£0.00017
£0.00018
£0.00025
£0.00022
£0.00022
£0.00014
£0.00014
£0.00022
£0.00022
£0.00021
£0.00019
£0.00024
£0.0002
£0.00021
£0.00021
£0.00020
£0.00020
£0.00020
£0.00019
£0.00019
£0.00020
£0.00020
£0.00020
£0.00019
£0.00018
£0.00017
£0.00016
£0.00016
£0.00014
£0.00016
£0.00014
£0.00016
£0.00016
£0.00017
£0.00017
£0.00018
£0.00018
£0.00017
£0.00017
£0.00018
£0.00016
£0.00016
£0.00014
£0.00015
£0.00015
£0.00016
£0.00016
£0.00015
£0.00015
£0.00015
£0.00013
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Date

No of Shares

Transaction

17/7/2015
17/7/2015
19/8/2015
20/8/2015
17/7/2015
17/7/2015
10/8/2015
11/8/2015
3/9/2015
8/9/2015

403,854,167
333,333,333
367,187,499
370,000,000
403,854,167
166,666,666
50,000,000
50,000,000
200,000,000
30,000,000

Purchase(2)
Purchase(1)
Sale
Sale
Purchase(2)
Purchase(1)
Sale
Sale
Sale
Sale

22:35

Price
£0.00014
£0.00014
£0.0002
£0.0002
£0.00014
£0.00014
£0.00022
£0.0002
£0.000195
£0.000202

The dealings by Mr Chris Akers were undertaken by a fully discretionary broker acting on his
personal account without his knowledge, influence or control.
(1) by way of subscription in the placing by Armstrong that took place in June 2015; and
(2) these shares were issued as consideration for services provided as set out in paragraph 15.12 of Part VII of this
document.

(b)

Save as set out below no person acting in concert with the members of the Concert Party had
an interest in or a right to subscribe for, or had any short position in relation to, any Relevant
Securities of the Company, nor had any such person dealt in any such securities during the
disclosure period.
The following Warrants (with an exercise price of £0.00014) to subscribe for Existing Ordinary
Shares are owned by these connected advisers:
Mr Chris Akers
Mr Rodger Sargent
Mr Russell Backhouse

62,500,000
83,333,333
41,666,666

These warrants were acquired in the Placing of Existing Ordinary Shares (as set out in
paragraph 5.4.2 of Part VII of this document) in which one warrant to subscribe for an Existing
Ordinary Share at £0.00014 per share was issued for every four Existing Ordinary Shares
subscribed in the Placing.
(c)

3.

no member of the Concert Party nor any person acting in concert with them had borrowed or
lent any Relevant Securities of the Company, save for any borrowed shares which have either
been on-lent or sold.

24.4a (iv)

Middle Market Quotations

The following table sets out the middle market quotations for an Existing Ordinary Share, as derived from
the AIM Appendix to the Daily Official List of London Stock Exchange, for the first business day of each
of the six months immediately preceding the date of this document and for 26 April 2016 (being the latest
practicable date prior to the publication of this document):
Date

Price per Existing Ordinary Share (p)

2 November 2015
1 December 2015
4 January 2016
1 February 2016
1 March 2016
1 April 2016
26 April 2016

0.0155
0.0145
0.0140
0.0125
0.0135
0.0125
0.01075

70

24.3d (viii)

167186

4.

Proof 9

Tuesday, April 26, 2016

22:35

Additional disclosures required by the Code

At the close of business on the disclosure date, save as disclosed in this paragraph 4 of Part VI of this
document and paragraph 10.1 of Part VII of this document:

25.4a (i) a

(a)

none of the Company nor the Existing Directors (including any members of such Existing Directors’
respective immediate families, related trusts or connected persons) had any interest in or a right to
subscribe for, or had any short position in relation to, any Relevant Securities of the Company;

25.4a (ii) b

(b)

no person acting in concert with the Company had any interest in, or right to subscribe for, or had any
short position in relation to any Relevant Securities of the Company;

25.4a (i) (ii)

(c)

other than as set out in paragraph 10 of Part VII of this document, neither the Company nor any of the
Existing Directors (including any members of such Existing Directors’ respective immediate families,
related trusts or connected persons) had any interest in or right to subscribe for, or had any short
position in relation to any Relevant Securities of the Company, nor has any such person dealt in any
such securities during the disclosure period;

25.4 (a) ii (a)

(d)

the Company has not redeemed or purchased any of its Relevant Securities during the disclosure
period;

(e)

there were no arrangements which existed between the Company or any person acting in concert with
the Company or any other person;

24.6
25.4 a (iv)
24.9

(f)

neither the Company nor any person acting in concert with the Company had borrowed or lent any
Relevant Securities of the Company, save for any borrowed shares which have either been on-lent or
sold;

(g)

no member of the Concert Party nor any person acting in concert with them has entered into an
agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any compensation arrangement) with any of the
Existing Directors, recent directors, Shareholders, recent Shareholders or any other person interested
or recently interested in Existing Ordinary Shares which are connected with or dependent upon the
outcome of the Proposals; and

(h)

no member of the Concert Party has entered into agreement, arrangement or understanding to transfer
any interest acquired in the Company, pursuant to the Proposals.
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PART VII
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1.

RESPONSIBILITY

1.1

The Existing Directors and the Proposed Directors, whose names appear on page 5 of this document,
and the Company accept responsibility, both individually and collectively, for the information
contained in this document (other than the information concerning the Concert Party and its intentions
for which the Concert Party takes sole responsibility). To the best of the knowledge and belief of the
Existing Directors, the Proposed Directors and the Company (who have taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this document for which they accept
responsibility is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of
that information. All of the Existing Directors and the Proposed Directors accept individual and
collective responsibility for compliance with the AIM Rules. The Existing Directors accept sole
responsibility for the recommendation set out on in the first paragraph of the “Recommendation”
section set out in Part I.

4 (h) 19.2 (a) EE

4 (h) 19.2 (a) OR

1.2

Each member of the Concert Party, whose names are set out in paragraph 1 of Part VI of this
document, accepts responsibility for the information contained in this document relating to
themselves. To the best of the knowledge and belief of each member of the Concert Party (having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this document
for which he is responsible is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect
the import of such information.

2.

THE EXISTING DIRECTORS AND PROPOSED DIRECTORS

The Existing Directors and Proposed Directors and their respective functions are as follows:
Existing Directors
Sean Torquil Nicolson (Non-Executive Chairman), appointed 17 July 2015
Peter Read (Non-Executive Director), appointed 17 July 2015
Proposed Directors
Anthony Roland Matchett (Chief Executive Officer)
Steven Robert Hancock (Chief Operations Officer)
Simon Andrew Cole (Non-Executive Director)
3.

THE COMPANY

3.1

The Company was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 18 November 2005 under the
Act as a private limited company with the name Elm Investments Limited and registered number
05628362. On 19 January 2006, the Company re-registered as a public limited company under the Act
with the name Elm Investments plc. The Company has undergone the following name changes:

3.2

Previous name

New name

Date of change

Elm Investments Limited
Elm Investments plc
iPoint-media plc

Elm Investments plc
iPoint-media plc
Armstrong Ventures plc

19 January 2006
18 September 2006
31 July 2012

The liability of the Company’s members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the Ordinary
Shares.
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3.3

The Company is governed by, and its securities were created under, the Act and the regulations made
thereunder.

3.4

The Company’s registered office is located at 18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6LB. The
principal place of business is 37-39 Tileyard Studios, Ground Floor, Tileyard Road, London N7 9AH.
The Company is domiciled in the UK. The telephone number of the Company is 01993 880000.

3.5

The business address of the Existing Directors is 18 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6LB.

3.6

The business address of the Proposed Directors is 37-39 Tileyard Studios, Ground Floor, Tileyard
Road, London N7 9AH.

3.7

The Company has no administrative, management or supervisory bodies other than the Board and,
from Admission, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.

3.8

The Company’s principal activity following Admission will be to act as the holding company of the
Enlarged Group.

4.

THE ENLARGED GROUP

4.1

As at the date of this document, the Company holds 1,000,000 ordinary shares in iPoint UK Limited,
a company incorporated in England and Wales with company number 07427914. This holding is
approximately 2.3 per cent. of the entire issued share capital of iPoint UK Limited.

4.2

As at the date of this document, the Company has one subsidiary.
Name
EVR Holdings
Limited

4.3

Country of
incorporation
England and Wales

Registered office

Activity

18 Buckingham Gate,
London, SW1E 6LB

Dormant

Ownership
interest
100%

On Admission, the Company will be the holding company of the following subsidiaries:
Name

Country of
incorporation

MelodyVR Ltd England and Wales

Immersive
Construction
Limited

England and Wales

Registered office

Activity

69 Knowl Piece,
Wilbury Way, Hitchin
Hertfordshire
SG4 0TY
Unit 11, Hove
Business Centre,
Fonthill Road, Hove,
East Sussex BN3 6HA

Production and
distribution of
digital music
content
Development of
virtual reality
software

Ownership
interest
100%

50.98%

5.

SHARE CAPITAL

5.1

The issued, fully paid, share capital of the Company as at 26 April 2016 (being the latest practicable
date before publication of this document) was as follows:

Existing Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each
Deferred Shares of £0.0024 each
Deferred Shares of £0.0095 each
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Number

Nominal Value

23,175,034,357
150,520,616
26,000,000

£2,317,503.44
£361,249.48
£247,000.00
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Immediately following Admission the issued, fully paid, share capital of the Company will be as
follows:

New Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each
Deferred Shares of £0.0024 each
Deferred Shares of £0.0095 each

Number

Nominal Value

718,864,705
150,520,616
26,000,000

£7,188,647.05
£361,249.48
£247,000.00

5.3

The Acquisition will result in the allotment and issue of 486,611,833 New Ordinary Shares,
comprising the Consideration Shares and the Adviser Shares and diluting holders of New Ordinary
Shares immediately following the Share Consolidation by 67.7 per cent.

5.4

As at 31 December 2012 the share capital comprised 2,101,105,791 Existing Ordinary Shares of
£0.0001, 150,520,616 deferred shares of £0.0024 and 26,000,000 deferred shares of £0.0095. The
changes to the issued share capital of the Company which occurred between 1 January 2013 and
26 April 2016 are as follows:
5.4.1 On 23 October 2014, 1,571,428,569 Existing Ordinary Shares were issued at
£0.00021 per share in a placing and issue of shares in lieu of fees to advisers.
5.4.2 On 17 July 2015, 19,402,916,660 Existing Ordinary Shares were issued at £0.00012 per share
in a placing.
5.4.3 On 30 November 2015, 99,583,335 Existing Ordinary Shares were issued following the
exercise of warrants at £0.00014 per share.

5.5

Save as disclosed in paragraphs 5, 7 and 12 of this Part VII:
5.5.1 no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued or is proposed to be issued;
5.5.2 there are no Ordinary Shares or Deferred Shares in the Company not representing capital;
5.5.3 there are no shares in the Company held by or on behalf of the Company itself;
5.5.4 there are no outstanding convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with
warrants issued by the Company;
5.5.5 there are no acquisition rights and/or obligations over authorised but unissued share capital of
the Company and the Company has made no undertaking to increase its share capital; and
5.5.6 no share or loan capital of the Company is under option and the Company has not agreed
conditionally or unconditionally to put any share or loan capital of the Company under option.

6.

SECURITIES BEING ADMITTED

6.1

The New Ordinary Shares will be ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the Company, issued
in British Pounds Sterling.

6.2

The International Security Identification Number (ISIN) of the Existing Ordinary Shares is
GB00B1FJP363 and the Stock Exchange Daily Official List (SEDOL) number will be B1FJP36.
The ISIN for the New Ordinary Shares will be GB00BD2YHN21.

6.3

The New Ordinary Shares will be in registered form. They will be capable of being held in certificated
form or in uncertificated form in CREST. The Company’s register of members will be kept by
Euroclear UK & Ireland, the operator of the CREST system and the Company’s registrars, Neville
Registrars, Neville House, 18 Laurel Lane, Halesowen B63 3DA.

6.4

The dividend and voting rights attaching to the New Ordinary Shares are set out in paragraphs 9.4 to
9.6 of this Part VII.
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6.5

Section 561 of the Act gives the Shareholders rights of pre-emption in respect of allotments of
securities which are or are able to be paid up in cash (other than by way of allotments to employees
pursuant to an employee share scheme as defined under section 1166 of the Act). Subject to limited
exceptions and to the extent authorised pursuant to the Resolutions, unless Shareholders’ approval is
obtained in a general meeting of the Company, the Company must normally offer Ordinary Shares to
be issued for cash to existing shareholders pro-rata to their shareholdings.

6.6

The New Ordinary Shares will have no right to share in the profits of the Company other than through
a dividend, distribution or return of capital (further details of which are set out in paragraph 9.5 of this
Part VII).

6.7

Each New Ordinary Share will be entitled on a pari passu basis with all other issued New Ordinary
Shares to share in any surplus on a liquidation of the Company.

6.8

The New Ordinary Shares will have no redemption or conversion rights.

6.9

The Resolutions proposed at the General Meeting will, if passed:
6.9.1 authorise the Directors, conditional on Admission, for the purposes of section 551 of the Act
to allot relevant securities of the Company:
(a)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £4,657,027.43 in respect of the Acquisition;

(b)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £209,091.91 in connection with the issue of the
Adviser Shares;

(c)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £597,778.56 in connection with the grant of New
Warrants; and

(d)

otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above, up to one third of the
issued share capital of the Company immediately following Admission,

that authorisation expiring on the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in a general
meeting); and
6.9.2 authorise the Directors, subject to the passing of the resolution summarised in
paragraph 6.9.1 of this Part VII, to allot equity securities of the Company:
(a)

pursuant to the authority summarised in paragraph 6.9.1(a);

(b)

pursuant to the authority summarised in paragraph 6.9.1(b);

(c)

pursuant to the authority summarised in paragraph 6.9.1(c);

(d)

to Shareholders in proportion to the number of Ordinary Shares held by them, subject to
such exclusions as the Directors deem necessary or expedient to deal with fractional
entitlements or legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory or the
requirement of any regulatory body or stock exchange; and

(e)

otherwise than pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (d) above, up to 10 per cent. of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately following Admission,

as if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to those allotments, that authorisation expiring on
the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company (unless previously renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting).
7.

TAKEOVERS

7.1

The Takeover Code applies to the Company. Rule 9 of the Takeover Code (“Rule 9”) therefore applies
to any person, or group of persons, acting in concert, who acquires, whether by a series of transactions
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over a period of time or not, an interest in shares which, taken together with shares in which persons
acting in concert with him are interested, carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the
Company. It would also apply to any person who, together with persons acting in concert with him,
is already interested in shares which in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. (but not more than
50 per cent.) of the voting rights of the Company if that person, or any person acting in concert with
him, acquires an interest in any other shares which increases the percentage of shares carrying voting
rights in which he is interested. Where Rule 9 applies, the person or concert party group is normally
required by the Panel to make a general offer in cash to acquire from the other shareholders the
remaining shares in the company at not less than the highest price paid by him or them within the
preceding twelve months. Rule 9 is subject to a number of dispensations.
7.2

In the event a bidder for shares in the Company acquires at least nine-tenths in value of the issued
share capital of the Company to which an offer relates the bidder may in accordance with the
procedure set out in section 979 of the Act require the holders of any shares he has not acquired to
sell them subject to the terms of the offer. Those Shareholders may in turn require the bidder to
purchase their shares on the same terms.

7.3

No person has made a public takeover bid for the Company’s issued share capital in the financial
period to 31 December 2015 or in the current financial year.

7.4

Investors should be aware that under the Takeover Code, if a person (or group of persons acting
in concert) holds interests in shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of the Company’s voting
rights, that person (or any person(s) acting in concert with him) will normally be entitled to
increase their holding or voting rights without incurring any further obligations under Rule 9
to make a mandatory offer, although individual members of the Concert Party will not be able
to increase their percentage interest in shares through or between a Rule 9 threshold, without
Panel consent. Such persons should, however consult with the Panel in advance of making such
further acquisitions.

7.5

As the Acquisition is being effected by a share for share exchange, the effect on the earnings and
assets and liabilities of the Enlarged Group is as set out in Part V of this document.

8.

CONTROL

8.1

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there are no persons who at the date of this document
directly or indirectly control the Company, where control means owning 30 per cent. or more of the
voting rights attaching to the share capital of the Company.

8.2

On completion of the Acquisition the Vendors will collectively own 64.8 per cent. of the Enlarged
Ordinary Share Capital and will be able to exercise control over the Company. Anthony Matchett and
Steven Hancock, the Vendors who are Proposed Directors, have therefore entered into the
Relationship Agreement with the Company and SPARK Advisory Partners governing, among other
things, their conduct in the case of a breach of warranty or indemnity claim under the Acquisition
Agreement. Further details of the Relationship Agreement are set out in paragraph 15.5 of this
Part VII.

8.3

Other than pursuant to the Acquisition, the Company is not aware of any arrangements which may at
a subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company.

9.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Articles contain, among other things, provisions to the following effect:
9.1

Objects
There are no express objects or restrictions on objects in the Company’s articles, with the effect that
the objects of the Company are unrestricted in accordance with section 31 of the Act.
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Initial Deferred Shares
The Initial Deferred Shares shall rank equally in all respects and shall constitute one class of shares.
Notwithstanding anything else in this paragraph 9, the rights and restrictions applying to the Initial
Deferred Shares are as follows:
(a)

no right to receive any dividend or other distribution;

(b)

on any return of capital whether on a winding up or reduction of capital or otherwise the
holders of Initial Deferred Shares shall be entitled to receive the amount paid up or credited as
paid up on their respective holding of Initial Deferred Shares but only after there has been paid
on each Ordinary Share the amount paid up on each Ordinary Share plus a further sum of
£1,000,000,000,000 per share but the holders of the Initial Deferred Shares shall not be entitled
to participate further in any distribution of the assets or the capital of the Company; and

(c)

no right to attend or to vote or to speak either in person or by proxy at any general meeting of
the Company.

Any reduction in capital undertaken by the Company shall not constitute a modification, variation or
abrogation of the rights attached to the Initial Deferred Shares and accordingly the Initial Deferred
Shares may be cancelled at any time for no consideration by means of a reduction in capital affected
in accordance with the Act.
The Company may from time to time create, allot and issue further shares, whether ranking equally
with or in priority to the Initial Deferred Shares. Any such creation, allotment or issue shall not be
treated as a variation of or abrogation of the rights conferred by the Initial Deferred Shares.
9.3

Subsequent Deferred Shares
The Subsequent Deferred Shares shall rank equally in all respects and shall constitute one class of
shares. Notwithstanding anything else in this paragraph 9, the rights and restrictions applying to the
Subsequent Deferred Shares are as follows:
(a)

no right to receive any dividend or other distribution;

(b)

on any return of capital, whether on a winding up or reduction of capital or otherwise the
holders of Subsequent Deferred Shares shall be entitled to receive the amount paid up or
credited as paid up on their respective holding of Subsequent Deferred Shares but only after
there has been paid on each Ordinary Share the amount paid up on each Ordinary Share plus a
further sum of £100,000,000 per share but the holders of the Subsequent Deferred Shares shall
not be entitled to participate further in any distribution of the assets or the capital of the
Company;

(c)

no right to receive notice of or to attend or to vote or to speak either in person or by proxy at
any general meeting of the Company; and

(d)

no right to transfer the Subsequent Deferred Shares without the consent of the Company.

Each holder of Subsequent Deferred Shares shall be deemed to have conferred irrevocable authority
on the Company at any time to appoint any person, for and on behalf of such holder, to:
(a)

receive notice of, attend and vote at any meeting of the class of Subsequent Deferred Shares
and sign any written resolution of such class;

(b)

agree and execute any transfer of (and any agreement to re-purchase transfer or otherwise
dispose of) some or all of the Subsequent Deferred Shares to such persons as the Company may
determine (including, without limitation, the Company itself);

(c)

agree to sell or cancel all of the Subsequent Deferred Shares then in issue for not more than
one penny for all such Subsequent Deferred Shares; and
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receive any consideration payable upon a transfer or re-purchase made pursuant to
sub-paragraphs (b) or (c) above, in each case without obtaining the sanction of the holders, of
such Subsequent Deferred Shares.

The Company may at its option re-purchase all of the Subsequent Deferred Shares then in issue, at a
price not exceeding one penny (in aggregate) for all such Subsequent Deferred Shares purchased at
any one time.
9.4

Voting
Subject to disenfranchisement in the event of any non-compliance with any statutory notice requiring
disclosure of the beneficial ownership of any shares as mentioned in (4) below, and subject to any
special terms as to voting for the time being attached to any shares (as to which there will be none
immediately following Admission), on a show of hands every member who, being an individual, is
present in person or by proxy or being a corporation, is present by a duly authorised representative
shall have one vote and on a poll each member present in person or by proxy or authorised
representative shall have one vote for every share of which he is a holder. In the case of joint holders,
the vote of the person whose name stands first in the register of members is accepted to the exclusion
of any votes tendered by any other joint holders.
A member is not entitled to vote if any calls or other monies due in respect of his shares remain unpaid
and a member may be disenfranchised where he, or a person appearing to be interested in shares fails
to comply with a notice from the Company under section 793 of the Act (“section 793 notice”) which
may require him to indicate the capacity in which he holds the shares or any interest in them.

9.5

Dividends and distributions
Dividends may be declared by ordinary resolution but must not in any event exceed the amount
recommended by the Directors.
Subject to the rights of persons (if any) entitled to shares with special dividend rights, all dividends
will be paid according to the amounts paid up (otherwise than in advance of calls) on the nominal
value of the shares on which the dividend is paid.
The Directors may from time to time pay to the members such interim dividends as appear to them to
be justified by the profits of the Company. If any member or any other person appearing to be
interested in shares held by that member representing 0.25 per cent. or more of the class of shares
concerned fails to supply to the Company any information required by any section 793 notice (see
“voting” above), the Directors may by notice to that member direct that any dividend (or any part of
it) or other amount payable on those shares (except on a winding up of the Company) will be retained
by the Company. The Company will not be obliged to pay interest on that dividend and the member
concerned will have no right to receive any additional shares in the Company in lieu of any dividends.
On a winding up of the Company, the Company’s assets available for distribution must be divided
among the members in proportion to the nominal amounts of capital paid up or credited as paid up on
the shares held by them, subject to the terms of issue of or rights attaching to any shares.

9.6

Unclaimed dividends
Any dividends unclaimed may be used for the benefit of the Company until claimed. Any dividend
which is still unclaimed twelve years after having become due for payment will, unless the Directors
resolve otherwise, be forfeited and revert to the Company.

9.7

Untraced shareholders
The Company may sell any shares in the Company of a member or person entitled to shares by
transmission who is untraceable if, during the period of twelve years prior to the date of the
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publication in both a national newspaper and a newspaper circulating in the area where the member’s
or person’s last known address is located of its intention to sell:

9.8

(a)

no cheque, warrant or money order addressed to the member or the person entitled by
transmission has been cashed;

(b)

no cash dividend has been satisfied by a transfer of funds;

(c)

the Company has paid at least three cash dividends (whether interim or final) and no such
dividend has been claimed; and

(d)

the shares have been in issue during the 12 year period and the Company has received no
communication in respect of the shares from the holder or person entitled by transmission
during either the 12 year period or period of 3 months following the publication of the later of
the two advertisements.

Variation of class rights
If at any time the capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, all or any of the
rights attached to any class of share may (unless the rights attached to the shares provide otherwise)
be varied or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-quarters in
nominal value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a resolution passed at a separate
general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.

9.9

Alteration of share capital
There are no conditions imposed by the Articles of Association regarding changes in the Company’s
capital which are more stringent than required by the laws of England and Wales. Accordingly, subject
to complying with the Act (including any requirement to pass a shareholder resolution or resolutions),
the Company may alter its share capital in the manner allowed for under the Act, including by
sub-dividing or consolidating and sub-dividing its share capital, redenominating or reducing its share
capital and purchasing its own shares. The Articles contain provisions allowing the Board to deal with
fractions arising on consolidation and division or a sub-division of shares as it thinks fit.

9.10 Transfer of shares
A member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares and the Company shall register the
transfer of any uncertificated shares in accordance with any applicable statutory provision. The
Directors may refuse to register the transfer of an uncertificated share or any renounceable right of
allotment of a share which is a participating security held in uncertificated form in accordance with
the CREST Regulations to the extent that the Company is permitted to do so by the CREST
Regulations, provided that where the uncertificated shares are admitted to AIM, such a refusal would
not prevent dealings in the shares of that class taking place on an open and proper basis and, in the
case of a transfer to joint holders, where the joint transferees exceed four in number. If the Directors
refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated share they shall, within two months of the date on
which the operator instruction relating to such a transfer was received by the Company, send to the
transferee notice of the refusal.
A member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument in writing in any usual
form, or in any other form which the Directors may approve. The instrument of transfer of a partly
paid share shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferee. The Directors may refuse to register the
transfer of a certificated share provided the exercises of such power does not disturb the market (but
if the Company’s shares are admitted to trading on AIM, only in exceptional circumstances approved
by the London Stock Exchange). The Directors may also refuse to register a transfer of a certificated
share, whether or not fully paid, unless the instrument of transfer is lodged, duly stamped or adjudged
or certified as not chargeable to stamp duty, at the transfer office, or such other place as the Directors
may appoint and is accompanied by the certificate(s) for the share(s) to which it relates (except where
the shares are registered in the name of a market nominee and no certificate has been issued for them)
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and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to
make the transfer. If the Directors refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share they shall, within
two months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged with the Company, send to
the transferee notice of the refusal.
The Directors may also refuse to register any transfer of certificated shares unless it is in respect of
only one class of share and is in favour of not more than four transferees.
The Directors may, in their absolute discretion, refuse to register the transfer of any share which is not
fully paid up.
9.11 Calls on shares
The Board may make calls on the members (and persons entitled to shares by transmission) in respect
of any amounts unpaid on their shares (whether in respect of nominal amount or premium) provided
that (except as otherwise fixed by the conditions of application or allotment) no call on any share may
exceed one quarter of the nominal value of the share. Each member must (subject to being given at
least fourteen clear days’ notice specifying when and where payment is to be made) pay to the
Company as required by the notice the amount called on his shares.
A call may be postponed or revoked in whole or in part as the Board decides. The joint holders of a
share are jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of it.
9.12 Forfeiture
If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the Board may give to the person from
whom it is due not less than seven clear days’ notice requiring payment of the amount unpaid together
with any interest which may have accrued. The notice must state a place at which payment is to be
made and that if the notice is not complied with, the shares on which the call was made will be liable
to be forfeited. Any share forfeited will become the property of the Company.
9.13 Lien
The Company has a first and paramount lien on each issued share which is a partly paid share for all
amounts payable in respect of such share. The lien takes priority over any third party’s interest in the
share and extends to all dividends or other moneys payable by the Company in respect the share. The
Board may at any time declare any share exempt in whole or in part, from the provisions of the articles
on liens.
9.14 Disclosure of interest in shares
There are no provisions in the Articles by which persons acquiring, holding or disposing of a certain
percentage of the Company’s shares are required to make disclosure of their ownership percentage.
However, the provisions of Rule 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (“DTR 5”) apply so that
(in summary), unless an exemption applies, a person is required to notify the Company of the
percentage of its voting rights which it holds as a Shareholder (as defined in the DTRs) or through its
direct or indirect holding of financial instruments falling within paragraph 5.1.3R of DTR 5 (or a
combination of such holdings) which reaches, exceeds or falls below 3% and each 1% threshold after
that.
9.15 Change in control
There are no provisions in the articles which would have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change of control of the Company.
9.16 Remuneration of Directors
The Directors shall be entitled to such remuneration by way of fees for their services in the office of
a director as the Company may by ordinary resolution determine. Such fee shall be divided between
the Directors as they agree or, failing agreement, equally except that any Director holding office for
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less than a year shall rank in the division in proportion to the fraction of the calendar year during
which he has held office.
The Directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in
connection with their attendance at meetings of the Directors or of committees of the Directors or
general meetings or separate meetings of the holders of any class of shares of the Company or in
connection with the business of the Company.
The Directors may provide benefits, whether by the payment of gratuities or pensions or by
purchasing and maintaining insurance or otherwise, for the benefit of any persons who are or were at
any time Directors or the holders of any executive or comparable office of employment with the
Company or any other company or undertaking which is or has been
(a)

a subsidiary of the Company;

(b)

otherwise allied to or associated with the Company or a subsidiary of the Company;

(c)

a predecessor in business of the Company or of any such subsidiary; or

(d)

for any member of his family (including a spouse and a former spouse) or any person who is
or was dependent on him, and may (as well before or after he ceases to hold such office or
employment) establish, maintain, subscribe and contribute to any fund and pay premiums for
the purchase or provision of any such benefit.

9.17 Appointment of Directors
Directors may be appointed by an ordinary resolution of the Company in general meeting or by the
Board.
9.18 Number of Directors and votes
Unless and until otherwise determined by the Company by ordinary resolution, the number of
Directors (other than alternate Directors) may not be less than two in number. The quorum necessary
for the transaction of business of the Board may be fixed by the Board at two or more and otherwise
is two. Questions arising at a meeting of Directors must be decided by a majority of votes.
9.19 Directors’ permitted interests
Subject to the provisions of the Act a Director may be a party to or otherwise interested in any contract
or arrangement or proposal with the Company. A Director may hold any other office or place of profit
under the Company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with the office of director and may act by
himself or through his firm in such professional capacity for the Company and in any such case on
such terms as to remuneration and otherwise as the Directors may arrange. Any remuneration shall be
in addition to any remuneration provided for by any other article.
9.20 Directors’ conflicts of interest
A Director who to his knowledge is in any way (directly or indirectly) interested in a contract,
arrangement or proposal with the Company shall declare the nature of his interest at the meeting of
the Directors at which the question of entering into such contract, arrangement or proposal is first
considered if he knows his interest then exists or in any other case at the first meeting of the directors
after he knows that he is or has become so interested.
A Director shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any resolution of the directors concerning
his own appointment (including the arrangement and varying of terms of appointment) as the holder
of any office or place of profit with the Company or any other company in which the Company is
interested. Where arrangements are under consideration concerning the appointment (including the
arrangement or varying of terms of appointment) of two or more Directors to offices or places of profit
with the Company or another company in which the Company is interested a separate resolution may
be put in relation to each Director and each of the directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be
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counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution except that concerning his own appointment and
except (in the case of an office or place of profit with another company) where the other company is
a company in which the Director owns 1 per cent. or more of any class of the equity share capital of
that company.
9.21 Voting and counting to quorum on interested matters
A Director shall not vote or count in the quorum in relation to a resolution or meeting of the Directors
in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposals whatsoever in which he has an
interest. Notwithstanding the above, a Director shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the
quorum) on:
(a)

any transaction in which he is interested by virtue of his interest in shares or debentures or other
securities of or otherwise in or through the Company;

(b)

the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity to him in respect of (i) money lent or
obligations undertaken by him or by any other person at the request of, or for the benefit of, the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings; or (ii) the giving of any guarantee, security or
indemnity to a third party in respect of a debt or obligation of the Company or any of its
subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in part
under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

(c)

any transaction relating to an offer of shares, debentures or other securities of or by the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings in which offer the Director is or may be entitled
to participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which the
Director is to participate;

(d)

any contract, transaction, arrangement or proposal to which the Company is or is to be a party
relating to another company, including any subsidiary undertaking of the Company, in which
he does not (directly or indirectly) hold an interest in shares (as that term is used in Part 22 of
the Act) whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise representing one per cent. or
more of any class of the equity share capital, or the voting rights, in that company;

(e)

any contract, transaction, arrangement or proposal for the benefit of employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiary undertakings (including in relation to a pension fund, retirement, death
or disability benefits scheme or personal pension plan or employee’s share scheme) which has
been approved by HM Revenue & Customs or is conditional upon that approval or does not
award him any privilege or benefit not awarded to the employees to whom the arrangement
relates; and

(f)

any contract, transaction, arrangement or proposal concerning insurance which the Company
proposes to maintain or purchase for the benefit of Directors or for the benefit of persons
including Directors.

The provisions of the Articles relating to the permitted interests of the Directors and their ability to
vote thereon may be suspended or relaxed and a transaction not duly authorised thereby may be
ratified, in each case by ordinary resolution.
Without prejudice to any of such provisions of the Articles the Directors have power, in accordance
with the Act, to authorise any interest of a Director which conflicts, or may conflict, with the interests
of the Company provided the interested Director(s) are not counted in the quorum at any Board
Meeting at which such matter is approved.
9.22 Directors’ qualification shares
There is no requirement for Directors to hold qualification shares.
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9.23 Directors’ retirement by rotation
At each annual general meeting: (i) any Director appointed by the Board since the last annual general
meeting; (ii) any Director who held office at the preceding two annual general meetings and who did
not retire by rotation at either of them; and (iii) any Director who agrees to do so, must retire by
rotation. A Director who retires, if willing to act, may be reappointed.
9.24 Indemnity and insurance of Directors
Subject to the provisions of the Act, every director or other officer of the Company may be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability incurred by that Director in
connection with: (i) any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the
Company or its subsidiaries; (ii) the activities of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company in its
capacity as a trustee of an occupational pension scheme; or (iii) any other liability incurred by the
Director as an officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The Directors of the Company may
purchase and maintain insurance at the expense of the Company for the benefit of any Director or
former director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries against any loss or liability which has been
or may be incurred in connection with that Director’s duties or powers in relation to the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any pension fund or employees’ share scheme of the Company or
subsidiary of the Company.
9.25 Shareholder meetings
The Board must convene and the Company must hold annual general meetings in accordance with the
Act. The Board may convene other general meetings when it decides to do so and on request by the
members under section 303 of the Act. An annual general meeting must be convened by at least
21 clear days’ notice. All other general meetings must be convened by at least 14 clear days’ notice.
The notice must comply with legislation applicable to the Company, including the Act relating to the
content of notice of meetings including by specifying the place, day and time of the meeting together
with the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting, and a statement of the
members’ right to appoint a proxy. The notice may also specify the time by which a person must be
entered on the Register of Members in order for such a person to have the right to attend and vote at
the meeting.
A general meeting shall, notwithstanding that it has been called by shorter notice than that specified
above, be deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed in the case of an annual general meeting,
by all the members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting; and in the case of any other meeting,
by a majority in number of the members having a right to attend and vote at that meeting, being a
majority together holding not less than 95 per cent. in nominal value of the shares giving that right.
9.26 Proceedings at shareholder meetings
No business may be transacted at a general meeting other than the appointment of a chairman of the
meeting, unless at least two people entitled to attend and vote are present.
At a general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting must be decided on a show of hands,
unless before, or upon the declaration of the result of, the show of hands a poll is demanded by either:
(a)

the chairman of the meeting;

(b)

at least three members present in person or by proxy having the rights to vote at the meeting;

(c)

a member or members present in person or by proxy representing not less than 10 per cent. of
the total voting rights of all the members present in person or by proxy and having the right to
vote on the resolution; or

(d)

one or more members present in person or by proxy holding shares conferring a right to vote
on the resolution on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than 10 per cent.
of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.
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Unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been
carried, or carried unanimously or by a particular majority, or lost, or not carried by a particular
majority, and an entry to that effect in the book containing minutes of the proceedings of general
meetings of the Company, is conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion
of the votes recorded in favour of or against such resolution.
9.27 Powers of borrowing and mortgaging
The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, and to mortgage or
charge the whole or any part of its undertaking, property and assets and uncalled capital, and to issue
debentures and other securities.
9.28 Reserves
The Board may set aside out of the profits of the Company and carry to reserve any amounts(s) as it
decides. The amount standing to reserve may be applied, at the Board’s discretion, for any purpose to
which the profits of the Company may properly be applied and, pending that application, may either
be employed in the business of the Company or be invested in any investments as the Board decides.
10.

INTERESTS OF THE EXISTING DIRECTORS, PROPOSED DIRECTORS AND
SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS

10.1 As at the date of this document and as expected to be immediately following completion of the
Acquisition and Admission, the interests of the Existing Directors and Proposed Directors and persons
connected to them (within the meaning of section 252 of the Act) in the share capital of the Company,
the existence of which is known to or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by the Existing
Directors and Proposed Directors, are as follows:

Name
Mr P Read1
Mr S Nicolson2
Mr A Matchett3
Mr S Hancock4
Mr S Cole5

Number of
Existing
Ordinary Shares
at the date of
this document
166,666,666
570,520,833
–
–
–

% of the
Existing
Ordinary
Share Capital
0.72%
2.46%
–
–
–

Number of
New Ordinary % of Enlarged
Shares
Ordinary
on Admission Share Capital
1,666,666
0.23%
5,705,208
0.79%
215,357,796
29.98%
176,876,784
24.62%
–
–

1

Mr Read has an interest in 166,666,666 Existing Ordinary Shares which were acquired in the placing on 17 July 2015
by Confiance Pension Services Limited as trustee of the Agility QNUPS BBRQN20382, (a trust of which Mr Read is
settlor) at a price of £0.00012 per share, and to which 41,666,666 Warrants with an exercise price of £0.00014 were
attached. As set out above Mr Read has an interest in Warrants over: (i) 41,666,666 Existing Ordinary Shares at an
exercise price of £0.00014 per Existing Ordinary Share (post Share Consolidation 416,666 New Ordinary Shares at
£0.014 per New Ordinary Share); and (ii) 461,509,020 Existing Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.00012 per
Existing Ordinary Share (post Share Consolidation 4,615,090 New Ordinary Shares at £0.012 per New Ordinary Share).
In addition, conditional upon Admission and the passing of Resolution 8 in the General Meeting, Mr Read will be
granted Warrants over 4,615,090 New Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.

2

Mr Nicolson has an interest in 166,666,666 Existing Ordinary Shares which were acquired in the placing on 17 July 2015
(83,333,333 of which are owned by his wife) at a price of £0.00012 per share, and to which 41,666,666 Warrants with
an exercise price of £0.00014 were attached (and of which 20,833,333 are owned by his wife). Mr Nicolson currently
has an interest in Warrants over: (i) 41,666,666 Existing Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of 0.014p per Existing
Ordinary Share (post Share Consolidation 416,666 New Ordinary Shares at £0.014 per New Ordinary Share) as set out
above; and (ii) 461,509,020 Existing Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.00012 per Existing Ordinary Share (post
Share Consolidation 4,615,090 New Ordinary Shares at £0.012 per New Ordinary Share). Mr Nicolson also acquired
403,854,167 Existing Ordinary Shares on 17 July 2015 in lieu of fees. In addition, conditional upon Admission and the
passing of Resolution 8 in the General Meeting, Mr Nicolson will be granted Warrants over 4,615,090 New Ordinary
Shares at an exercise price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.

3

Conditional upon Admission, Mr Matchett will be granted Warrants over 11,537,725 New Ordinary Shares at an exercise
price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.
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4

Conditional upon Admission, Mr Hancock will be granted Warrants over 11,537,725 New Ordinary Shares at an exercise
price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.

5

Conditional upon Admission, Mr Cole will be granted Warrants over 4,615,090 New Ordinary Shares at an exercise price
of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.

10.2 Save as disclosed in sub-paragraph 10.1 above and this sub-paragraph 10.2 the Company is not aware
of any interest in the Company’s ordinary share capital which amounts or would, immediately
following Admission, amount to 3 per cent. or more of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
other than the following:

Name
Mr M Patel
Mr J Healey
Barnard Nominees
Nano Cap Fund
Peterhouse Corporate
Finance Limited
Teletech Investments Ltd
Mr T Juneja

Number of
Ordinary Shares
at the date of
this document

% of the
Existing
Ordinary
Share Capital

Number of
New Ordinary % of Enlarged
Shares on
Ordinary
Admission Share Capital

1,683,333,333
1,666,666,666
1,078,500,000
1,000,000,000

7.26%
7.19%
4.65%
4.31%

16,833,333
16,666,666
10,785,000
10,000,000

2.34%
2.32%
1.50%
1.39%

895,333,333
833,333,333
833,333,333

3.86%
3.60%
3.60%

8,953,333
8,333,333
8,333,333

1.25%
1.16%
1.16%

The voting rights of the Shareholders set out in paragraphs 10.1 and 10.2 do not differ from the voting
rights held by other Shareholders.
10.3 There are no outstanding loans granted or guarantees provided by the Company to or for the benefit
of any of the Existing Directors or Proposed Directors.
10.4 Save as disclosed in this paragraph 10, no Existing Director nor any Proposed Director has any
interest, whether direct or indirect, in any transaction which is or was unusual in its nature or
conditions or significant to the business of the Company taken as a whole and which was effected by
the Company during the current or immediately preceding financial year, or during any earlier
financial year and which remains in any respect outstanding or unperformed.
10.5 Save as otherwise disclosed in this document, none of the Existing Directors, Proposed Directors nor
any member of their respective families nor any person connected with the Existing Directors or
Proposed Directors (within the meaning of section 252 of the Act) has any holding, whether beneficial
or otherwise, in the share capital of the Company.
10.6 None of the Existing Directors, Proposed Directors, nor any member of their respective families is
dealing in any related financial product (as defined in the AIM Rules) whose value in whole or in part
is determined directly or indirectly by reference to the price of the Ordinary Shares, including a
contract for differences or a fixed odds bet.
11.

OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND CONVERSION RIGHTS

11.1 The following Warrants exist in relation to the Company’s New Ordinary Shares (after adjusting for
the Share Consolidation):
11.1.1 42,229,166 Warrants to acquire New Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.014 per share
exercisable until 31 July 2018; and
11.1.2 9,230,180 Warrants to acquire New Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of £0.012 per share
exercisable until 31 July 2020.
Rule 25.5

11.2 In addition, subject to Admission, the Board proposes to issue New Warrants to subscribe for up to
59,777,856 New Ordinary Shares with an exercise price of £0.011 to Existing Directors, Proposed
Directors, members of the Advisory Board and certain key employees and consultants. Details of the
issue of New Warrants to Directors and Proposed Directors are set out in paragraph 10.1 above.
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11.3 As at the date of this document there are no outstanding options.
11.4 New Share Option Scheme
As part of its strategy for executive and key employee remuneration, the Company proposes to
establish, following Admission, the New Share Option Scheme under which Share Options may be
granted to officers and employees of the Company or other members of the Enlarged Group.
The New Share Option Scheme will also include a sub-plan under which Share Options may be
granted to non-executive directors or consultants of the Company or other members of the Enlarged
Group.
The Board shall be responsible for administering the rules of the New Share Option Scheme and may
recommend that Share Options are granted under the New Share Option Scheme from time to time.
Under the rules of the New Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant EMI Options and or
Unapproved Options. A Share Option takes the form of an individual agreement between the
Company and the employee, officer or consultant and is entered into subject to the rules of the New
Share Option Scheme.
The number of shares that may be used by the Company for Share Options is limited so that the
number of shares that may be subject to Share Options or options granted by any other employees’
share scheme adopted by the Company or another member of the Enlarged Group may not exceed
10 per cent of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.
Share Options may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme at any from the adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme.
Share Options are capable of being exercised to the extent vested. Share Options vest in accordance
with the vesting schedule set out in the relevant Share Option grant or on the occurrence of certain
events, including a change of control on a sale, takeover or scheme of reconstruction. The exercise of
Share Option must occur in compliance with the AIM Rules and any other relevant UK or overseas
regulation or enactment.
Exercise of a Share Option is conditional upon payment of the relevant exercise price (or an
undertaking to pay that amount, if the Board so permits). In the case of an Unapproved Option granted
to a consultant who provides services to the Company or a member of the Enlarged Group, the Board
has discretion to permit an arrangement where payment of the exercise price is set off against amounts
due from the Company or another member of the Enlarged Group to the relevant consultant in return
for services supplied to the Company or relevant member of the Enlarged Group.
Exercise of a Share Option is further conditional upon the option holder paying to his or her employer
an amount equal to the amount of any income taxes and, to the extent permissible, national insurance
and social security contributions for which the employer is obliged to account on the exercise of the
Share Option.
Share Options may be granted subject to performance conditions.
It is intended that Share Options shall not be granted with an exercise price per Ordinary Share which
is at a discount to the prevailing market value of an Ordinary Share at the time of grant.
Each individual Share Option grant will specify the date after which the Share Option may be
exercised subject to an earlier exercise event or lapse (in accordance with the rules of the New Share
Option Scheme).
A Share Option will generally lapse on cessation of the option holder’s employment, office or
consultancy (as applicable) with the Group other than in certain circumstances where the option
holder is a ‘Good Leaver’. An option holder who is an employee or officer of the Company or a
member of the Enlarged Group will be a ‘Good Leaver’ where the cessation is due to exceptional
circumstances, including disability, injury, ill-health, redundancy, retirement at the expected time,
death, the disposal of the business unit or group company which engages the option-holder or where
the Board so resolves at its discretion. An option holder who is consultant will be a “Good Leaver”
unless the consultant has terminated his or her consultancy agreement or the Company or relevant
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member of the Enlarged Group has terminated the consultancy agreement for a cause which allows
immediate termination under the consultancy agreement.
In the case of death of the option holder, exercise must take place within one year of death, failing
which the Share Option will lapse.
Other events that will cause the lapsing of Share Options include the following:
•

to the extent that any performance or other exercise condition becomes incapable of fulfilment
(unless waived by the Board);

•

the tenth anniversary of the date on which the relevant Share Option was granted; and

•

in the event of a change of control triggering early vesting, the expiry of the period during
which the Share Option is specified to be exercisable in accordance with the rules of the New
Share Option Scheme.

Share Options are not pensionable.
The additional principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are summarised below.
Eligibility
EMI Options may be granted to any employee of the Group selected by the Board who works either
at least 25 hours per week or commits 75 per cent of his working time to the business of the Company
or the business of the Enlarged Group and who does not already beneficially own either directly or
indirectly through his associates more than 30 per cent of the Ordinary Shares of the Company.
Employees selected for the grant of an Unapproved Option do not have to satisfy these eligibility
requirements. EMI Options may only be granted when the Company is a qualifying company for the
purposes of paragraph 8, Schedule 5 of ITEPA.
Individual Limit on Participation
An individual employee’s participation in EMI Options is limited so that the aggregate market value
of the shares placed under the EMI Option together with any unexercised EMI Options granted under
the New Share Option Scheme or other share options granted the Company or a company within the
Enlarged Group under Schedule 4 or Schedule 5 of ITEPA, valued at the date of the grant of the EMI
Option, cannot exceed £250,000. For the purpose of such valuation, any restrictions that are
applicable to the shares that are the subject of the relevant EMI Options are ignored.
Further, the aggregate market value of any EMI Options and other options under Schedule 4 or
Schedule 5 (again valued at the date of grant) which are granted to an individual employee in any three
year period cannot exceed £250,000.
These limits on individual participation do not apply for Unapproved Options.
Company Limit
The maximum value of unexercised qualifying EMI Options (valued as at the date of grant) that may
exist under the New Share Option Scheme is restricted to £3 million.
Non transferability of Share Options
Share Options are non-transferable, except on death to the personal representatives of the employee.
A Share Option shall lapse immediately if it is purportedly transferred or assigned.
Voting, Dividend and Other Rights
An option-holder has no voting or dividend rights in the Company before the exercise of a Share
Option.
Variation of share capital
For these purposes “variation” of share capital includes any capitalisation, rights issue, subdivision,
consolidation or reduction or any other variation in the ordinary share capital of the Company
occurring after the date of grant. Upon a variation of the ordinary share capital of the Company, the
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Directors may adjust either the number of Ordinary Shares an employee is entitled to acquire under
the Share Option agreement or adjust the exercise price in a manner they consider fair and reasonable.
Change of Control
In the event of a change of control, an EMI Option granted to an employee may be exchanged for
qualifying options pursuant to paragraph 42 of Schedule 5 of the ITEPA. In that case, the relevant
change of control would not result in accelerated vesting of such EMI Option.
12.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

R 25.5 (a)

Existing Directors
12.1 On 30 July 2015 Sean Nicolson entered into a letter of appointment with the Company. The letter
provides for Mr Nicolson to act as a non-executive director in consideration of a fee of
£25,000 per annum. The engagement letter has a fixed term of one year, expiring on 17 July 2016,
following which, it is terminable by six months’ notice in writing by either party. Mr Nicolson is
subject to a confidentiality undertaking that is without limit in time. Mr Nicolson does not have the
right to receive any benefits on termination of his appointment.
12.2 On 30 July 2015 Peter Read entered into a letter of appointment with the Company. The letter
provides for Mr Read to act as a non-executive director of the Company in consideration of a fee of
£25,000 per annum. The engagement letter has a fixed term of one year, expiring on 17 July 2016,
following which it is terminable by six months’ notice in writing by either party. Mr Read is subject
to a confidentiality undertaking that is without limit in time. Mr Read does not have the right to
receive any benefits on termination of his appointment.
Proposed Directors
12.3 With effect from Admission, the Proposed Directors will be appointed to the Board of the Company.
The details of their service contracts and letters of appointment are as follows:
12.4 On 26 April 2016, Anthony Matchett entered in a service agreement with the Company. The
agreement provides for Mr Matchett to act as an executive director and Chief Executive Officer or the
Company, conditional on Admission. His appointment will continue subject to twelve months’ notice
of termination by either party. Mr Matchett is required to work at such times and for such periods as
are necessary for the efficient discharge of his duties or as the needs of the Company dictate. A salary
of £120,000 per annum is to be paid by the Company to Mr Matchett. No compensation will be
payable for loss of office and the appointment may be terminated immediately if, among other things,
Mr Matchett is in material breach of the terms of the appointment.
12.5 On 26 April 2016, Steven Hancock entered in a service agreement with the Company. The agreement
provides for Mr Hancock to act as an executive director and Chief Operating Officer or the Company,
conditional Admission. His appointment will continue subject to twelve months’ notice of termination
by either party. Mr Hancock is required to work at such times and for such periods as are necessary
for the efficient discharge of his duties or as the needs of the Company dictate. A salary of £120,000
per annum is to be paid by the Company to Mr Hancock. No compensation will be payable for loss
of office and the appointment may be terminated immediately if, among other things, Mr Hancock is
in material breach of the terms of the appointment.
12.6 On 26 April 2016, Simon Cole entered into a letter of appointment with the Company. The letter
provides for Mr Cole to act as a non-executive director of the Company in consideration of a fee of
£25,000 per annum, conditional on Admission. The engagement letter has a fixed term of one year,
expiring on 26 April 2017, following which it is terminable by six months’ notice in writing by either
party. Mr Cole is subject to a confidentiality undertaking that is without limit in time. Mr Cole does
not have the right to receive any benefits on termination of his appointment.
12.7 Other than as set out in this paragraph 12, no service contracts or have been entered into or amended
in the last six months.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE EXISTING DIRECTORS AND PROPOSED
DIRECTORS

13.1 In addition to directorships of the Company, the Directors and Proposed Directors hold or have held
the following directorships or have been partners in the following partnerships within the five years
prior to the date of this document:
Director
Sean
Nicolson

Current Directorships and Partnerships
Age (other than the Company)
Past Directorships and Partnerships
50

e-Therapeutics PLC
EVR Holdings Limited
Northern Canon
Monograph LLP

Bizdocs Limited
Bond Dickinson Financial Services
Limited
Bond Dickinson Service Company
Limited
Bond Dickinson Wealth Limited
Designed and Made,
Dickinson Dees Financial Services
Limited
mima friends
Monograph Publishing Limited
Prima Director Limited
Prima Secretary Limited
Agma Holdings Limited
Ai-Oare Investments Limited
Aptus Group Limited
ASG Power Systems Limited
Aspen Hivedown Limited
Beacon Bingo Online Limited
Brierley Green Management Company
Limited
Bull Schmidt Limited
Caast Limited
Can Vives Limited
Care And Support Sunderland Limited
Carru Consulting Limited
Centrihealth UK Limited
Charge Your Car Limited
Choice Cuts Media Limited
Citipark Limited
Citipark UK Limited
Cleveland Biotech (EBT) Limited
Cleveland Biotech (Holdings) Limited
Club M (Barrow) Limited
Copenhagen 1801 Limited
Coverbox Limited
Cripps Healey Limited
Cross Solar PV Limited
Crossco (1212) Limited
Crossco (1213) Limited
Crossco (1217) Limited
Crossco (1219) Limited
Crossco (1222) Limited
Crossco (1243) Limited
Crossco (1253) Limited
Crossco (1255) Limited
Crossco (1256) Limited
89
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Current Directorships and Partnerships
Age (other than the Company)
Past Directorships and Partnerships
Crossco (1267) Limited
Crossco (1294) Limited
Crossco (1310) Limited
Crossco (1317) Limited
Crossco (1318) Limited
Crossco (1324) Limited
Crossco (1332) Limited
Crossco (1333) Limited
Crossco (1334) Limited
Crossco (1337) PLC
Crossco (1341) Limited
Crossco (1348) Limited
Crossco (1352) Limited
Crossco (1359) Limited
Crossco (1370) Limited
Crossco (1371) Limited
Crossco (1373) Limited
Crossco (1374) Limited
Crossco (1375) Limited
Crossco (1379) Limited
Crossco (1380) Limited
Crystec (EBT) Limited
Danesmoor Holdings Limited
Desco (2011) Limited
Digital Mortgages Limited
Dormant Company 8585516 Limited
Drivestyle Insure Limited
Dunham Caravans Limited
Durham Hotel Investment (No.2)
Limited
Efficient Warm Energy Limited
Ellergreen Hydro Projects Limited
Elster Solutions Limited
Elster Solutions Treasury Limited
Feversham First Steps Limited
Fine Equinity Limited
Fitton & Co Ltd
5am Music Limited
Ford & Etal (Trustees) Limited
Fortitude Environmental Holdings
Limited
Foster Findlay Associates (EBT)
Limited
4am Music Limited
Gaia Heat Limited
Garden Kitchen Newcastle Limited
Gelt House Holdings Limited
Gilkes Hydro Projects Limited
Gosforth 22 Limited
Grainger (Aldershot) Limited
Grainger Enfranchisement
No. 1 (2012) Limited

Sean
Nicolson
(continued)
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Current Directorships and Partnerships
Age (other than the Company)
Past Directorships and Partnerships
Grainger Enfranchisement
No. 2 (2012) Limited
Grainger Enfranchisement
No. 3 (2012) Limited
Grainger Invest (No.1 Holdco)
Limited
Grainger Kensington & Chelsea
Limited
Grainger Occc Limited
Grainger Ramp Limited
Grainger Southwark Limited
Greenergy Flexigrid Drivers Trustees
Limited
GSC Grays Limited
H&P Properties Limited
Hampshire Cosmetics Limited
Hicalife Retirement Developments
(No. 2) Limited
Highways North Yorkshire Limited
Holf Inc Limited
Homegrown Entertainment Limited
HS Butyl Limited
Insure Telematic Solutions Limited
J & B Bio Limited
Jamtastic Ltd
Kiln Flame Systems Enterprises
Limited
L D H (2010) Limited
L.E.T. Nominees 1 Limited
L.E.T. Nominees 2 Limited
Laing Enterprises Limited
Lambton Share Property Company
Limited
Lapicida Stone Group Limited
Lilliesleaf Limited
Livbeth Investco Limited
Macklin Property Limited
Matfen Energy Limited
Mike Pulman Holdings Limited
Mizaru Media Limited
NCFE Trading Limited
North East Finance Limited
Oare (Devon One) Limited
Oare (Pembrokeshire One) Limited
Oare (Yorkshire One) Limited
Orego-Stim Limited
Orla Protein Technologies (EBT)
Limited
Oxford Vaughan Limited
Parabola Edinburgh Park Centre
Limited

Sean
Nicolson
(continued)
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Current Directorships and Partnerships
Age (other than the Company)
Past Directorships and Partnerships
Parabola Edinburgh Park Hermiston
Limited
PD & MS (Dundee) Limited
Petersen Future Options Limited
Playground Television UK Limited
Plessey Checks Farming Limited
Pope Funeral Services Limited
PPF GRP Limited
PRC (UK) Limited
Precision Hydraulic Cylinders Global
Limited
Project Revive Limited
Pulman Skoda Limited
QE Facilities Limited
Reece Group Limited
Reece Innovation Centre Limited
Reece Property Limited
Robinson & Birdsell (Recycling)
Limited
Rubix Leisure Limited
Rydal Hydro Limited
SB (North Shields) Limited
Scandale Hydro Limited
6am Music Limited
Skelton & Gilling Estates Properties
Limited
So Homegrown Limited
Sone Products Ltd
Spark Ecommerce Group Limited
Speers London Limited
St Peter’s Investments Limited
Staunton’s Properties Limited
Stonegarth Management Company
(Whitby) Limited
Sun Concept Oakapple Renewable
Energy Limited
Sylatech Limited
TCS (Merrion House JVCo1) Limited
TCS (Merrion House JVCo2) Limited
TCS Development Management
(Merrion) Limited
Telidevice Company Limited
The Beehive Bakery Limited
The Hamilton Portfolio (Fox And
Hounds) Limited
The Hepple Spirits Company Limited
3am Music Limited
Trina Solar (UK) Limited
Unconfused Limited
Vitalise Limited
Vivimed Labs UK Limited

Sean
Nicolson
(continued)
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Current Directorships and Partnerships
Age (other than the Company)
Past Directorships and Partnerships
Walworth Investment Properties
Limited
Westcountry Solar Solutions Limited
Westoe Crown Village Centre
Management Company Limited
Whitewell Interiors Limited
Wicked Genes Limited
Wilbees Solar Farm Limited
Willows Farm Day Nursery Limited
Witherington Solar Farm Limited
Yuill Homes Limited

Sean
Nicolson
(continued)

Peter Read

59

Armstrong Ventures PLC
The Royal Automobile Club Limited
PCA Management Limited
Quayle Munro Holdings Limited
Motor Sports Association Limited
Concha PLC
Norfolk House Residents Limited

KPMG LLP
KPMG Europe LLP

Anthony
Matchett

27

That Design Store Limited
EVR Holdings Limited
MelodyVR Ltd
Immersive Construction Ltd

Laced Music Limited
Boxful Limited
Matchett & Company Limited
That Design Store Trading Limited

Stephen
Hancock

33

EVR Holdings Limited
Vodka Haze Limited
Immersive Construction Ltd
MelodyVR Ltd

Zest Caterers Limited
The Zest Hospitality Group Limited
Zest Recruitment Limited
Zest Prestige Limited
Zest Catering Limited
Zest Venues Limited
Zest Consultants Limited
Zest Restaurants Limited
Zest Event Hire Limited

7Digital Group PLC
SD Music Stores Limited
Calmwater Yacht Management
Limited
Radio Independents Group Limited
The New Unique Broadcasting
Company Limited
3 Pembridge Crescent Limited
Central School of Ballet Charitable
Limited
7Digital Trading Limited
Smooth Operations (Productions)
Limited
Oneward Radio Limited
Unique Interactive Limited
UBC Digital Limited

Audioboom Limited
Above the Title Limited

Simon Cole 57
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13.2 Sean Nicolson was also a director of BDK Investments Limited (“BDK”) from its incorporation on
8 March 2011 until 17 March 2011 and Badekabiner Limited (“Badekabiner”) from its incorporation
on 11 March 2011 until his resignation on 7 April 2011. BDK and Badekabiner were Bond Dickinson
shelf companies created for the benefit of clients of the firm. BDK and its subsidiary, Badekabiner,
were subsequently placed into administration on 30 January 2012. BDK and Badekabiner were
dormant companies throughout the periods in which Mr. Nicolson was a director. He was not involved
in BDK’s or Badekabiner’s subsequent activities or their administration proceedings.
13.3 Save as disclosed above none of the Existing Directors or Proposed Directors has:
13.3.1 any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences;
13.3.2 had any bankruptcy order made against him or entered into any voluntary arrangements;
13.3.3 been a director of a company which has been placed in receivership, compulsory liquidation,
creditors’ voluntary liquidation, administration, been subject to a company voluntary
arrangement or any composition or arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its
creditors whilst he was a director of that company or within the 12 months after he ceased to
be a director of that company;
13.3.4 been a partner in any partnership which has been placed in compulsory liquidation,
administration or been the subject of a partnership voluntary arrangement whilst he was a
partner in that partnership or within the 12 months after he ceased to be a partner in that
partnership;
13.3.5 been the owner of any assets or a partner in any partnership which has been placed in
receivership whilst he was a partner in that partnership or within the 12 months after he ceased
to be a partner in that partnership;
13.3.6 been publicly criticised by any statutory or regulatory authority (including recognised
professional bodies); or
13.3.7 been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of any company or from acting in the
management or conduct of the affairs of a Company.
14.

EMPLOYEES

14.1 As at the date of this document the Company has no employees.
14.2 Save for the Proposed Directors, on Admission the Enlarged Group will have one employee.
15.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have been:
(i) entered into by a member of the Enlarged Group within the two years immediately preceding the date of
this document and are, or may be, material; or (ii) entered into by a member of the Enlarged Group and
contain any provision under which any member of the Enlarged Group has any obligation or entitlement
which is (or may be) material to the Enlarged Group as at the date of this document.
The Company
15.1 Acquisition Agreement dated 26 April 2016 between: (1) the Company, and (2) the Vendors
Under the Acquisition Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire from the Vendors
the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR for circa £5.1 million, to be satisfied by the issue of
465,702,743 New Ordinary Shares at an agreed issue price of £0.011 per New Ordinary Share.
The Acquisition Agreement is conditional upon, among other things, the passing of the Resolutions
at the General Meeting (other than Resolution 8) and Admission. The conditions to the Acquisition
Agreement must be satisfied or waived on or before 10 June 2016 or the agreement will terminate.
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The Vendors have given warranties to the Company regarding their title to the share capital of
MelodyVR and their ability to effectively transfer it to the Company, as well as warranties in relation
to the business and affairs of MelodyVR and Immersive, its subsidiary undertaking. In addition, the
Company has given certain warranties to the Vendors in relation to itself, the issue of the
Consideration Shares and compliance with applicable law and regulations. The parties have rights to
terminate the Acquisition Agreement prior to Admission if any of the warranties given to them are
found to be untrue, incorrect or misleading in any material respect.
15.2 Admission Agreement dated 26 April 2016 between: (1) the Company, (2) the Existing Directors,
(3) the Proposed Directors and (4) SPARK Advisory Partners
Pursuant to the Admission Agreement SPARK Advisory Partners, as the Company’s nominated
adviser, has been granted certain powers and authorities in connection with the application for
Admission. Under the terms of the Admission Agreement, the Company, the Existing Directors and
the Proposed Directors have given certain customary warranties to SPARK Advisory Partners and the
Company has given certain customary indemnities and undertakings to SPARK Advisory Partners in
connection with Admission and other matters relating to the Enlarged Group and its affairs. SPARK
Advisory Partners may terminate the Admission Agreement in certain specified circumstances prior
to Admission, principally if any of the warranties has ceased to be true and accurate in any material
respect or shall have become misleading in any respect or in the event of circumstances existing which
make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with Admission. The liability of the Existing
Directors and the Proposed Directors in respect of a breach of the warranties given in the Admission
Agreement are limited in time and amount.
The Admission Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of a number of conditions including
the Acquisition Agreement having become unconditional, the passing of the Resolutions and
Admission. Such conditions must be satisfied (or where possible, waived) by 16 May 2016 (or such
later time as may be agreed by the Company and SPARK Advisory Partners, being not later than
10 June 2016).
15.3 Lock-in and Orderly Market Agreements dated 26 April 2016 between (1) the Company, (2) SPARK
Advisory Partners and (3) each of the Locked-in Persons
Pursuant to the Lock-in and Orderly Market Agreements, each of the Locked-in Persons has
undertaken to the Company and SPARK Advisory Partners that, subject to certain limited exceptions
permitted by Rule 7 of the AIM Rules for Companies, they will not dispose of Ordinary Shares held
by them for a period of 12 months from the date of Admission.

AIM Sch2 (f)
Annex III, 7.3

Each Locked-in Person has also undertaken that for the period of 12 months following the anniversary
of the date of Admission, they will only dispose of Ordinary Shares held by them on an orderly market
basis through the Company’s broker from time to time.
15.4 Broker Agreement dated 25 June 2012 between: (1) the Company and (2) Peterhouse
Pursuant to the Broker Agreement, the Company has appointed Peterhouse to act as Broker to the
Company for the purposes of the AIM Rules for Companies. The Company has agreed to pay
Peterhouse a fee of £25,000 (plus VAT) per annum for its services as broker under this agreement. In
addition, Peterhouse will be entitled to a commission of 5 per cent. of the gross amount of funds raised
by Peterhouse on behalf of the Company, and 2.5 per cent. of the gross amount of other funds raised
by the Company. The Broker Agreement may be terminated by either party on three months written
notice or immediately by a party if the other party is in material breach of the agreement.
15.5 Relationship Agreement dated 26 April 2016 between: (1) the Company, (2) SPARK Advisory
Partners, (3) Mr A Matchett and (4) Mr S Hancock
Under the Relationship Agreement, Anthony Matchett and Steven Hancock separately agree that so
long as each of them remains a substantial shareholder, the Company will be capable of carrying on
its business independently of each of Anthony Matchett and Steven Hancock and that all future
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transactions between the Company and Mr Matchett and Mr Hancock will be at arms’ length. The
agreement further provides that Mr Matchett and/or Mr Hancock, as controlling shareholders, shall
procure that any director of the Company shall not be counted in the quorum on any matter at Board
meetings, where, in the opinion of the independent directors, there is a conflict of interests.
15.6 Warrant Instrument dated 26 April 2016
On 26 April 2016, the Company entered into a warrant instrument constituting New Warrants to
subscribe for, in aggregate, 7,183,622 New Ordinary Shares which will, subject to Admission, be
granted to SPARK Advisory Partners. The Warrants are exercisable at £0.011 per New Ordinary Share
at any time during the period from Admission to 16 May 2019.
15.7 Warrant Instrument dated 17 July 2015
On 17 July 2015, the Company entered in a warrant instrument constituting Warrants to subscribe for,
in aggregate, 4,123,333,324 Existing Ordinary Shares. The Warrants are exercisable at £0.00014 per
Existing Ordinary Share at any time during the period from 17 July 2015 to 31 July 2018. Pursuant
to the terms of this instrument, the auditors of the Company have confirmed that the Share
Consolidation would constitute an adjustment event and as such the rights of the Warrant holders
under this instrument will be amended, such that the Warrants will, upon completion of the Share
Consolidation, be in respect of, in aggregate, 41,233,333 New Ordinary Shares and exercisable at
£0.014 per New Ordinary Share.
15.8 Warrant Instrument dated 30 July 2015
On 30 July 2015, the Company entered in a warrant instrument constituting Warrants to subscribe for,
in aggregate, 923,018,040 Existing Ordinary Shares. These Warrants were issued to the Existing
Directors, Sean Nicolson and Peter Read. The Warrants are exercisable at £0.00012 per Existing
Ordinary Share at any time during the period from 31 July 2015 to 31 July 2020. Pursuant to the terms
of this instrument, the auditors of the Company have confirmed that the Share Consolidation would
constitute an adjustment event and as such the rights of the Warrant holders under this instrument will
be amended, such that the Warrants will, upon completion of the Share Consolidation, be in respect
of, in aggregate, 9,230,180 New Ordinary Shares and exercisable at £0.014 per New Ordinary Share.
15.9 Investment Agreement dated 13 January 2016 between (1) the Company and (2) MelodyVR Ltd
Pursuant to the investment agreement, the Company agreed to subscribe for £212,500 principal
amount of secured convertible loan notes in MelodyVR constituted pursuant to the convertible loan
note instrument summarised in paragraph 15.15 of this Part VII. MelodyVR gave warranties to the
Company in relation to itself and its business and has agreed to indemnify the Company against any
liabilities arising out of or in connection with the use or infringement by MelodyVR of any third party
IPR. The liability of MelodyVR for breach of warranty is limited as to time and amount. MelodyVR
undertook to the Company to use the proceeds of the subscription for certain limited purposes relating
to the business of MelodyVR and the acquisition of Immersive.
15.10 SPARK Advisory Partners Engagement letter dated 24 February 2016 between (1) SPARK Advisory
Partners and (2) the Company
On 24 February 2016, the Company and SPARK Advisory Partners entered into an agreement to
appoint SPARK Advisory Partners to act as its financial adviser, in relation to the reverse takeover of
MelodyVR. Under this agreement, SPARK Advisory Partners will receive from the Company:
15.10.1 a corporate finance fee of £92,500 plus VAT; and
15.10.2 New Warrants to subscribe for such number of New Ordinary Shares as is equivalent to 1%
of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital.
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15.11 NOMAD Agreement dated 24 February 2016 between (1) SPARK Advisory Partners and (2) the
Company
Pursuant to a nominated adviser agreement dated 24 February 2016, the Company also appointed
SPARK Advisory Partners to act as NOMAD to the Company on an ongoing basis as required by the
AIM Rules. The Company has agreed to pay SPARK Advisory Partners, a fee of £30,000 per annum
(plus VAT) for retaining its services as nominated adviser. The agreement contains certain
undertakings and indemnities given by the Company in respect of, among other things, compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company agreed to comply with its legal obligations and
those of AIM and the London Stock Exchange and to consult and discuss with SPARK Advisory
Partners all of its announcements and statements and to provide SPARK Advisory Partners with any
information SPARK Advisory Partners believes is necessary to enable it to carry out its obligations to
the Company or the London Stock Exchange as NOMAD. Pursuant to these arrangements, SPARK
Advisory Partners has agreed, among other things, to provide such independent advice and guidance
to the Directors as they may require to ensure compliance by the Company on a continuing basis with
the AIM Rules. These arrangements contain certain undertakings and indemnities given by the
Company in respect of, among other things, compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
These arrangements continue for an initial period of 12 months from Admission unless terminated for
reason prior to such date in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms thereof.
15.12 Placing Agreement dated 1 June 2015 between (1) the Company, (2) SRG, and (3) Peterhouse
On 1 June 2015, the Company entered into an engagement letter with, pursuant to which the Company
appointed SRG to act as sub-placing agent of Peterhouse SRG and Peterhouse Securities Limited
(“Peterhouse”) in relation to a placing of shares in the Company. This agreement has been completed
in accordance with its terms.
SRG’s fee for the engagement was a (i) corporate finance fee of £100,000; and (ii) a commission of
4 per cent. of total funds raised as a result of introductions made by SRG, in both cases to be satisfied
by the issue of shares in the Company at the placing price. These shares were issued by the Company
on 17 July 2015.
The letter contains an indemnity given by the Company to SRG and certain indemnified persons
against any loss or actions/proceedings/judgements which SRG may suffer or incur directly or
indirectly in relation to the engagement, other than in the event such loss is finally determined by a
court or binding arbitration to be the result of the fraud, negligence or wilful default of SRG or a
breach by SRG of its obligations under the letter.
SRG’s total liability in connection with the engagement is limited to £1,000,000.
15.13 Warrant Instrument dated 26 April 2016
On 26 April 2016, the Company entered into a warrant instrument constituting New Warrants to
subscribe for, in aggregate, 52,594,234 New Ordinary Shares which will, subject to Admission, be
granted to the Existing Directors, Proposed Directors, members of the Advisory Board and
consultants to the Company. The Warrants are exercisable at £0.011 per New Ordinary Share at any
time during the period from Admission to 16 May 2019.
Melody VR
15.14 Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement dated 31 March 2016 between: (1) MelodyVR, (2)
Immersive Construction Limited and (3) Others
Pursuant to the subscription and shareholders’ agreement, MelodyVR agreed to subscribe for 208 new
shares in the capital of Immersive (approximately 51 per cent, of the issued share capital) in
consideration for the payment of £40,000. MelodyVR has the right under this agreement to appoint
two directors to the board of Immersive with the initial appointments being Anthony Matchett and
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Steven Hancock. The remaining shareholders in Immersive have the rights collectively to appoint one
director of Immersive.
Pursuant to the subscription and shareholders’ agreement Immersive and the shareholders in
Immersive other than MelodyVR have each undertaken not to undertake certain actions without the
prior written consent of MelodyVR. These matters include the issue of further shares in Immersive
and amending its articles of association. Under the agreement the shareholders in Immersive other
than MelodyVR have each undertaken not to dispose of any shares in Immersive without the prior
consent of MelodyVR or pursuant to share transfer provisions contained in the agreement. Immersive
and each of the shareholders in Immersive other than MelodyVR have given warranties to MelodyVR
regarding Immersive and themselves.
15.15 Convertible Loan Note Instrument dated 13 January 2016 executed by MelodyVR Ltd
Pursuant to the convertible loan note instrument, MelodyVR constituted £212,500 principal amount
of secured convertible loan notes. Interest accrues on the loan notes at a rate of 10 per cent per annum
and is compounded annually.
All of the principal and accrued interest of the loan notes will automatically convert into new ordinary
shares in MelodyVR immediately prior to completion of the Acquisition. The loan notes can also be
converted at the election of the Company if certain other circumstances including following a flotation
or sale of MelodyVR, following the issue of shares by MelodyVR or at any time following 30 April
2016. The conversion price of the loan notes depends upon the circumstances in which the conversion
takes place. In the case of the Acquisition, the principal and accrued interest converts into new shares
in MelodyVR at the price per share in MelodyVR which is derived from the Acquisition Agreement.
The loan notes may also be redeemed in certain circumstance including immediately prior to the
occurrence of a sale or flotation of MelodyVR, the allotment of any shares in MelodyVR and/or the
occurrence of an event of default.
As with the investment agreement summarised at paragraph 15.9 of this Part VII, MelodyVR has
undertaken to use the proceeds of the issue of the loan notes for certain limited purposes relating to
the business of MelodyVR and the acquisition of Immersive.
As security for its obligations under the loan note instrument, MelodyVR has entered into a debenture
over all of its property, assets and undertakings in favour of the Company.
15.16 The Investment Agreement with the Company referred to in paragraph 15.9 above
15.17 Financial Advisory Agreement between (1) MelodyVR and (2) SRG
On 13 January 2016, MelodyVR entered into an engagement letter with SRG whereby SRG would
act as MelodyVR’s financial advisor in relation to the raising of finance by way of the issue of the
Convertible Loan Notes and assistance in connection with the Acquisition and the admission of the
Company’s shares to trading on AIM.
SRG’s fee for the engagement was: (i) a corporate finance fee of £150,000; and (ii) a commission of
4 per cent. of total funds raised as a result of the issue of the Convertible Loan Notes and 4 per cent.
of any funds raised in connection with Admission, in both cases to be satisfied by the issue of shares
in the Company.
The Financial Advisory Agreement was amended and novated pursuant to a deed dated 26 April 2016
between the Company, MelodyVR and SRG. Pursuant to this deed, subject to Admission, the
Company agrees to satisfy the obligations of MelodyVR under the Advisory Agreement by issuing
the Adviser Shares to SRG.

98

167186

Proof 9

Tuesday, April 26, 2016

22:35

15.18 Convertible Loan Note Instrument dated 31 March 2016 executed by MelodyVR Ltd
Pursuant to the convertible loan note instrument, MelodyVR constituted a further £57,500 of secured
convertible loan notes. Interest accrues on the loan notes at a rate of 10 per cent per annum and is
compounded annually.
All of the principal and accrued interest of the loan notes will automatically convert into new ordinary
shares in MelodyVR immediately prior to completion of the Acquisition. The loan notes can also be
converted at the election of the Company if certain other circumstances including following a flotation
or sale of MelodyVR, following the issue of shares by MelodyVR or at any time following 30 April
2016. The conversion price of the loan notes depends upon the circumstances in which the conversion
takes place. In the case of the Acquisition, the principal and accrued interest converts into new shares
in MelodyVR at the price per share in MelodyVR which is derived from the Acquisition Agreement.
The loan notes may also be redeemed in certain circumstance including immediately prior to the
occurrence of a sale or floatation of MelodyVR, the allotment of any shares in MelodyVR and/or the
occurrence of an event of default.
As with the investment agreement summarised at paragraph 15.9 of this Part VII, MelodyVR has
undertaken to use the proceeds of the issue of the loan notes for certain limited purposes relating to
the business of MelodyVR and the acquisition of Immersive.
As security for its obligations under the loan note instrument, MelodyVR has entered into a debenture
over all of its property, assets and undertakings in favour of the Company.
15.19 Investment Agreement between the Company and MelodyVR Ltd dated 30 March 2016
Pursuant to this agreement, the Company agreed to subscribe for a further £57,500 of secured
convertible loan notes in MelodyVR as constituted by the instrument, details of which are set out in
paragraph 15.18 of this Part VII. MelodyVR gave warranties to the Company in relation to itself and
its business and agreed to indemnify the Company against any liabilities arising out of or in
connection with the use or infringement by MelodyVR of any third party IPR. The liability of
MelodyVR for breach of warranty is limited as to time and amount. MelodyVR undertook to the
Company to use the proceeds of the subscription for certain limited purposes relating to the business
of MelodyVR.
16.

DEPENDENCE ON INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The primary assets of the Enlarged Group are its agreements with artists, music publishers and live venues.
17.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as set out in paragraph 16 of Part III (B) of this document there have been no related party
transactions in the period since 1 January 2013.
18.

LITIGATION

No member of the Enlarged Group is or has been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings, and the Company is not aware of any such proceedings pending or threatened by or against any
member of the Enlarged Group, which may have or have had during the twelve months preceding the date
of this document a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Enlarged Group.
19.

NO SIGNIFICANT CHANGE

19.1 Save for matters disclosed in this document, there has been no significant change in the financial or
trading position of the Company since 31 December 2015, being the end of the last financial period
included in the most recently published Historical Financial Information (as set out in Part III of this
document.)
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19.2 Save for matters disclosed in this document, there has been no significant change in the financial or
trading position of MelodyVR Ltd since 31 December 2015, being the end of the last financial period
included in the Historical Financial Information on MelodyVR published in Part IV of this document.
20.

WORKING CAPITAL

The Existing Directors and the Proposed Directors are of the opinion, having made due and careful enquiry,
that the Enlarged Group will have sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for at least
12 months from the date of Admission.
21.

TAXATION

21.1 Introduction
The following paragraphs are intended as a general guide only to the United Kingdom tax position of
Shareholders who are the beneficial owners of Ordinary Shares in the Company who are United
Kingdom tax resident and, in the case of individuals, domiciled in the United Kingdom for tax
purposes and who hold their shares as investments (otherwise than under an individual savings
account (ISA)) only and not as securities to be realised in the course of a trade.
Certain Shareholders, such as dealers in securities, collective investment schemes, insurance
companies and persons acquiring their Ordinary Shares in connection with their employment or as an
office holder may be taxed differently and are not considered. Furthermore, the following paragraphs
do not apply to:
•

potential investors who intend to acquire Ordinary Shares as part of a tax avoidance
arrangement; or

•

persons with special tax treatment such as pension funds or charities.

Any prospective purchaser of Ordinary Shares in the Company who is in any doubt about their
tax position or who is subject to taxation or domiciled in a jurisdiction other than the United
Kingdom, should consult their own professional adviser immediately.
Unless otherwise stated the information in these paragraphs is based on current United Kingdom tax
law and published HMRC practice as at the date of this document. Shareholders should note that tax
law and interpretation can change (potentially with retrospective effect) and that, in particular, the
levels, basis of and reliefs from taxation may change. Such changes may alter the benefits of
investment in the Company.
21.2 Income Tax – taxation of dividends
The taxation of dividends paid by the Company and received by a Shareholder resident for tax
purposes in the United Kingdom is summarised below and for United Kingdom resident individuals
and trustees is based on draft clause 5 of the Finance (No. 2) Bill 2015-16 as published on 24 March
2016. The Finance (No.2) Bill 2015-16 is not expected to become law (as the Finance Act 2016) until
June/July 2016. Accordingly the draft clauses contained in the Finance (No.2) Bill 2015-16 may be
subject to change.
United Kingdom resident individuals
With effect from 6 April 2016 a new system of taxation for dividends will apply to United Kingdom
resident individual shareholders. From this date dividends received are no longer grossed up to
include a 10% notional tax credit. Instead individuals will pay tax on the amount received.
Dividend income is subject to income tax as the top slice of the individual’s income. Each individual
will have an annual Dividend Allowance of £5,000 which means that they will not have to pay tax on
the first £5,000 of all dividend income they receive.
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Dividends in excess of the Dividend Allowance will be taxed at the individual’s marginal rate of tax,
with dividends falling within the basic rate band taxable at 7.5% (the “dividend ordinary rate”), those
within the higher rate band taxable at 32.5% (the “dividend upper rate”) and those within the
additional rate band taxable at 38.1% (the “dividend additional rate”).
United Kingdom discretionary trustees
The annual Dividend Allowance available to individuals will not be available to United Kingdom
resident trustees of a discretionary trust. From 6 April 2016 United Kingdom resident trustees of a
discretionary trust in receipt of dividends are liable to income tax at a rate of 38.1%, which mirrors
the dividend additional rate.
United Kingdom resident companies
Shareholders that are bodies corporate resident in the United Kingdom for tax purposes, may (subject
to anti-avoidance rules) be able to rely on Part 9A of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 to exempt
dividends paid by the Company from being chargeable to United Kingdom corporation tax. Such
shareholders should seek independent advice with respect to their tax position.
United Kingdom pension funds and charities are generally exempt from tax on dividends that they
receive.
Non-United Kingdom residents
Generally, non-United Kingdom residents will not be subject to any United Kingdom taxation in
respect of United Kingdom dividend income. Non-United Kingdom resident shareholders may be
subject to tax on United Kingdom dividend income under any law to which that person is subject
outside the United Kingdom. Non-United Kingdom resident shareholders should consult their own tax
advisers with regard to their liability to taxation in respect of the cash dividend.
Withholding tax
Under current United Kingdom tax legislation no tax is withheld from dividends or redemption
proceeds paid by the Company to Shareholders.
21.3 United Kingdom Taxation of capital gains
The following paragraphs summarise the tax position in respect to a disposal of Ordinary Shares on
or after 6 April 2016 by a Shareholder resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom. It includes
references to proposed changes to the taxation of capital gains included in the Finance (No.2) Bill
2015-16 as published on 24 March 2016. Most notably draft clause 72 (“Reduction in rate of capital
gains tax”) and draft clause 76 (“Investors’ relief”). The latter, in summary, providing for a reduced
rate of capital gains tax of 10% on gains realised on the disposal of certain ordinary shares, subject to
various conditions being met. The Finance (No.2) Bill 2015-16 is not expected to become law (as the
Finance Act 2016) until June/July 2016. Accordingly the draft clauses contained in the Finance (No.2)
Bill 2015-16 may be subject to change.
To the extent that a Shareholder acquires Ordinary Shares allotted to him, the amount paid for the
Ordinary Shares will generally constitute the base cost of the Shareholder’s holding.
A disposal of Ordinary Shares by a Shareholder who is resident in the United Kingdom for United
Kingdom tax purposes or who is not so resident but carries on business in the United Kingdom
through a branch, agency or permanent establishment with which their investment in the Company is
connected may give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of United Kingdom
taxation of chargeable gains, depending on the Shareholder’s circumstances and subject to any
available exemption or relief.
For individual Shareholders who are United Kingdom tax resident or only temporarily non-United
Kingdom tax resident, capital gains tax at the rate of 10 per cent. for basic rate taxpayers (previously
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18 per cent.) or 20 per cent. for higher or additional rate taxpayers (previously 28 per cent.) may be
payable on any gain (after any available exemptions, reliefs or losses). For Shareholders that are
bodies corporate any gain may be within the charge to corporation tax. Individuals may benefit from
certain reliefs and allowances (including a personal annual exemption allowance) depending on their
circumstances. Shareholders that are bodies corporate resident in the United Kingdom for taxation
purposes will benefit from indexation allowance which, in general terms, increases the chargeable
gains tax base cost of an asset in accordance with the rise in the retail prices index, but will not create
or increase an allowable loss.
Individual Shareholders who continuously hold their Ordinary Shares for no less than three years
from their issue date may, on a subsequent disposal of those Ordinary Shares, qualify for “Investors’
relief”. Investors’ relief is a new relief (introduced in the Finance (No.2) Bill 2015-16 at draft clause
76 and schedule 14) which provides for a reduced rate of capital gains tax of 10% on gains realised
on the disposal of certain ordinary shares, up to a lifetime limit of £10m of gains, subject to various
conditions being met by both the investor and investee company.
The relevant qualifying conditions of Investors’ Relief are considered to be met by the Company
and/or the MelodyVR Group. However neither the Company, its Directors or advisors can guarantee
that those conditions will be or will continue to be met throughout the required share-holding period.
For trustee Shareholders of a discretionary trust who are United Kingdom tax resident, capital gains
tax at the rate of tax of 20 per cent. (previously 28 per cent.) may be payable on any gain (after any
available exemptions, reliefs or losses).
Non-United Kingdom resident Shareholders will not normally be liable to United Kingdom taxation
on gains unless the Shareholder is trading in the United Kingdom through a branch, agency or
permanent establishment and the Ordinary Shares are used or held for the purposes of the branch,
agency or permanent establishment.
21.4 Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (SDRT)
No UK stamp duty or SDRT will be payable on the issue or allotment of Ordinary Shares pursuant to
the Subscription, nor on subsequent transfers or agreements to transfer Ordinary Shares by virtue of
the exemption from 28 April 2014 from stamp duty and SDRT on shares traded on AIM.
The statement in this paragraph 21.4 applies to any holders of Ordinary Shares irrespective of their
residence, and are a summary of the current position and are intended to be a general guide to the
current stamp duty and SDRT position. Certain categories of person are not liable to stamp duty or
SDRT and others may be liable at a higher rate than that referred to above or may, although not
primarily liable for the tax, be required to notify and account for it. Special rules apply to agreements
made by market intermediaries and to certain sale and repurchase and stock borrowing arrangements.
Agreements to transfer shares to charities should not give rise to a liability to stamp duty or SDRT.
21.5 Inheritance Tax
Shares in AIM listed trading companies or holding company of a trading group may qualify for
Business Property Relief for United Kingdom inheritance tax purposes.
22.

GENERAL

22.1 There are not expected to be any gross proceeds of the Admission. The total costs and expenses
relating to Admission are payable by the Company and are estimated to amount to approximately
£485,000 (excluding VAT).
22.2 The Ordinary Shares have been admitted to trading on AIM since 19 September 2006. The Company
will apply for re-admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM following completion of the
Acquisition. No other application will be made for dealings in the Ordinary Shares on any recognised
investment exchange.
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22.3 Haysmacintyre has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in: (i) Part IV(A) of
this document of its Accountant’s Report on the Historical Financial Information on MelodyVR,
(ii) Part III(A) of this document of its Accountant’s Report on the Historical Financial Information on
the Company, and (iii) Part V of its report on the unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the
Enlarged Group.
22.4 SPARK Advisory Partners has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this
document of reference to its name in the form and context in which it appears.

Rule 23.3

22.5 Peterhouse has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of
reference to its name in the form and context in which it appears.
22.6 Where information has been sourced from a third party this information has been accurately
reproduced. So far as the Company and the Directors are aware and are able to ascertain from
information provided by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
22.7 No agreement, arrangement or understanding exists whereby the New Ordinary Shares acquired
pursuant to the Acquisition will be transferred to any other person.
22.8 No agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any compensation agreement) exists between
the Company, any person acting in concert with Company and any of the Directors, recent directors,
Shareholders or recent shareholders of the Company having any connection with or dependence upon
the matters referred to in this document.
22.9 There are no external financing arrangements being sourced in connection with the proposals in this
document. There are therefore no arrangements in place nor any required for the payment of interest
on, repayment of or security for any external liability (contingent or otherwise) as a result of the
proposals in this document.
22.10 The accounting reference date of the Company is 31 December. The current accounting period will
end on 31 December 2016.
22.11 The Issue Price of £0.011 represents a premium of £0.001 over the nominal value of £0.01 per New
Ordinary Share.
22.12 Save as disclosed in this document, no person (other than the Company’s professional advisers named
in this document and trade suppliers) has at any time within the 12 months preceding the date of this
document received, directly or indirectly, from the Company or entered into any contractual
arrangements to receive, directly or indirectly, from the Company on or after Admission any fees,
securities in the Company or any other benefit to the value of £10,000 or more.
22.13 The Company’s auditors during the period covered by the Historical Financial Information were
Welbeck Associates, Chartered Accountants, 31 Harley Street, London W1G 9QS, who are members
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

25.7 (c)

23.

Rule 26.2

DOCUMENTS PUBLISHED ON THE COMPANY’S WEBSITE

Copies of the following documents will be made available at the following website address
www.armstrongventures.com from the date of posting of this document up to the date of the General
Meeting up until the time of the General Meeting:

Rule 26.3 (a)

23.1 the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;

Rule 26.3 (c)

23.2 the audited accounts of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015;

Rule 24.3a (iii)

23.3 the consent letters from SPARK Advisory Partners, Peterhouse and haysmacintyre referred to in
paragraph 22 above;

Rule 26.3 (b)

23.4 the reports set out in Parts III, IV and V included in this document; and

Rule 26.2(a)
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23.5 the material contracts set out in paragraph 15 above.

Rule 26.3(d)

24.

Rule 26.1

AVAILABILITY OF ADMISSION DOCUMENT

Copies of this Admission Document are available for download from the Company’s website at
www.armstrongventures.com and are available free of charge at the offices of SPARK Advisory Partners at
5 St John’s Lane, London EC1M 4BH or by calling 0203 368 3550 and at the Company’s registered office
during normal business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) and shall remain
available for at least one month after Admission.
Dated: 27 April 2016
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ARMSTRONG VENTURES PLC
(incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 05628362)

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that a general meeting of the members of the Company will be held at the offices of
Fieldfisher LLP, 9th Floor, Riverbank House, 2 Swan Lane, London EC4R 3TT at 11.00 a.m. on 13 May
2016 for the purposes of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions:
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.

THAT the waiver by the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers of the obligation on the Concert Party (as
defined in the circular from the Company dated 27 April 2016 of which this notice forms part,
hereinafter referred to as the “Circular”) to make a general offer under Rule 9 of the City Code on
Takeovers and Mergers, as a result of the issue to them of 465,702,743 ordinary shares in the capital
of the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement (as defined in Resolution 2), be and is hereby
approved.

2.

THAT the acquisition by the Company of the entire issued share capital of MelodyVR Ltd (the
“Acquisition”), on the terms and subject to the conditions of the sale and purchase agreement dated
26 April 2016 (the “Acquisition Agreement”) between, the Company and the shareholders of
MelodyVR Ltd as more particularly described in the Circular be and is hereby approved with such
revisions and amendments (including as to price) of a non-material nature as may be approved by the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) or any duly authorised committee thereof, and that all
acts, agreements, arrangements and indemnities which the Directors or any such committee consider
necessary or desirable for the purpose of or in connection with the Acquisition be and are hereby
approved.

3.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, every 100 ordinary shares
of £0.0001 each in the capital of the Company be consolidated and divided into 1 new ordinary share
of £0.01 each.

4.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, Mr A Matchett, having
consented to act, be appointed as a director of the Company with effect from completion of the
Acquisition Agreement.

5.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, Mr S Hancock, having
consented to act, be appointed as a director of the Company with effect from completion of the
Acquisition Agreement.

6.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, Mr S Cole, having
consented to act, be appointed as a director of the Company with effect from completion of the
Acquisition Agreement.

7.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, in accordance with
section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), the Directors be generally and unconditionally
authorised to exercise all of the powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant
rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into shares in the Company (“Rights”):
a.

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £4,657,027.43 each in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Acquisition Agreement;

b.

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £209,090.91 in connection with the issue of the Adviser
Shares (as such term is defined in the Circular) to Mr C Akers, Mr R Backhouse and Mr R
Sargent;
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c.

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £597,778.56 in connection with the grant of warrants to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company pursuant to the terms of warrant instruments
executed by the Company and dated 26 April 2016 (the “Warrant Instruments”); and

d.

in addition to sub-paragraphs (a)–(c) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,591,810.89,

provided that the authority granted by this Resolution shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked by the
Company, expire at the Company’s next annual general meeting, except that the Company may, before
it expires make an offer or agreement which would or might require shares to be allotted or Rights to
be granted and the Directors may allot shares or grant Rights in pursuance of that offer or agreement.
This authority is in substitution for all previous authorities conferred on the directors in accordance
with section 551 of the Act to the extent not utilised at the date it is passed.
8.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolutions 1 and 2, and completion of the
Acquisition Agreement, warrants over 4,615,090 New Ordinary Shares exercisable at £0.011 per New
Ordinary Share are awarded to each of Mr P Read and Mr S Nicolson.
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

9.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolution 7, in accordance with sections 570
and 571 of the Act, the Directors be generally empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in
section 560 of the Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 7, as if section 561(1) of the
Act did not apply to such allotment provided that this power shall be limited to:
(a)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £4,657,027.43 in connection with the Acquisition
Agreement;

(b)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £209,090.91 in connection with the issue of the Adviser
Shares;

(c)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £597,778.56 in connection with the Warrant Instruments;

(d)

the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer of, or invitation to apply for,
equity securities made (i) to holders of ordinary shares in the Company in proportion (as nearly
as may be practicable) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them on the record
date for such offer and (ii) to holders of other equity securities as may be required by the rights
attached to those securities or, if the directors consider it desirable, as may be permitted by such
rights, but subject in each case to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may
deem necessary or expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates
or legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any
regulatory body or stock exchange; and

(e)

otherwise than in connection with sub-paragraphs (a) – (d), up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £718,362.18,

provided that this authority shall expire at the Company’s next annual general meeting. The Company
may, before this authority expires, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity
securities to be allotted after it expires and the directors may allot equity securities pursuant to that
offer or agreement.
10.

THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing of Resolution 1 and 2, the name of the Company
be changed to EVR Holdings PLC.

Notes
1.

Resolution 1 will be taken on a poll by Independent Shareholders.

2.

Members entitled to attend and vote at the General Meeting are also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or any
of their rights to attend and speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in
relation to the General Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares
held by that shareholder which must be identified on the form of proxy. A proxy needs to be a shareholder of the Company.
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A form of proxy which may be used to make such appointment and give proxy instructions accompanies this notice. If you wish
your proxy to speak at the meeting, you should appoint a proxy other than the chairman of the meeting and give your instructions
to that proxy.
3.

A Form of Proxy is enclosed for use by members. To be valid it should be completed, signed and delivered (together with the
power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power of authority)
to the Company’s registrars Neville Registrars, Neville House, 18 Laurel Lane, Halesowen B63 3DA, not later than 48 hours,
excluding non-working days, before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or in the case of a poll taken
subsequently to the date of the General Meeting or any adjourned meeting, not less than 24 hours before he time appointed for
the taking of the poll or for holding the adjourned meeting. Shareholders who intend to appoint more than one proxy can obtain
additional Forms of Proxy from Neville Registrars. Alternatively, the form provided may be photocopied prior to completion. The
Forms of Proxy should be returned in the same envelope and each should indicate that it is one of more than one appointments
being made.

4.

An abstention option has been included on the Form of Proxy. The legal effect of choosing the abstention option on any resolution
is that the shareholder concerned will be treated as not having voted on the relevant resolution. The number of votes in respect
of which there are abstentions will however be counted and recorded, but disregarded in calculating the number of votes for or
against each Resolution.

5.

Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person under section 146 of the Act 2006 to enjoy information rights
(a “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have
a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no
such proxy appointment right or does not wish to execute it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give
instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights.

6.

The statement of rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 1 and 4 above does not apply to
Nominated Persons. The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.

7.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do
so by utilising the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members,
and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

8.

CREST members who wish to appoint one or more proxies through the CREST system may do so by using the procedures
described in “the CREST voting service” section of the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored
members, and those CREST members who have appointed one or more voting service providers, should refer to their CREST
sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. In order for a proxy
appointment or a proxy instruction made using the CREST voting service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message
(a “CREST proxy appointment instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with the specifications of CREST’s
operator, Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (“Euroclear”), and must contain all the relevant information required by the CREST
Manual. To be valid the message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the
instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must be transmitted so as to be received by Neville Registrars, as the
Company’s “issuer’s agent”, (7RA11) 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting (as such
a message cannot be transmitted on weekends or on other days when the CREST system is closed). After this time any change
of instruction to a proxy appointed through the CREST system should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
The time of the message’s receipt will be taken to be when (as determined by the timestamp applied by the CREST Applications
Host) the issuer’s agent is first able to retrieve it by enquiry through the CREST system in the prescribed manner. Euroclear does
not make available special procedures in the CREST system for transmitting any particular message. Normal system timings and
limitations apply in relation to the input of CREST proxy appointment instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member
concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or a CREST sponsored member or has appointed any
voting service provider, to procure that his or her CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as is
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. CREST members and,
where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should take into account the provisions of the CREST
Manual concerning timings as well as its section on “Practical limitations of the system”. In certain circumstances the Company
may, in accordance with Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 or the CREST Manual, treat a
CREST proxy appointment instruction as invalid. The CREST Manual can be reviewed at www.euroclear.com.

9.

CREST members and, where applicable, the sponsors or voting service provider(s), should note that CREST does not make
available a special procedure in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply
in relation to the input of proxy instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST members concerned to take (or of the CREST
member is a CREST personal member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s) take(s) such sections as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST
system by any particular time. In this connection CREST members and where applicable their CREST sponsors or voting service
provider(s) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST
system and timings.

10. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST proxy instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.
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11. Completion and return or submission electronically, of a Form of Proxy will not affect the right of such member to attend and
vote in person at the meeting or any adjournment thereof.
12. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company gives notice that only those
shareholders entered on the register of members of the Company at 11.00 a.m. on 13 May 2016 will be entitled to attend or vote
(whether in person or by proxy) at the General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time.
Changes to entries on the register after 11.00 a.m. on 13 May 2016 will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person
to attend or vote at the meeting or any adjourned meeting (as the case may be).
13. As at 26 April 2016 (being the last business day prior to the publication of this notice of meeting) the Company’s issued share
capital consisted of 23,175,034,357 Existing Ordinary Shares, carrying one vote each, therefore, the total voting rights in the
Company as at 26 April 2016 are 23,175,034,357.
14. Shareholders who prefer to register the appointment of their proxy electronically using the internet can do so at
www.sharegateway.co.uk, and should use their personal proxy registration code as shown on the Form of Proxy. The voting ID,
task ID and shareholder reference number printed on the form of proxy will be required in order to use the services. Alternatively
Shareholders who have already registered with Neville Registrars’ online portfolio service can appoint their proxy electronically
by logging on to their portfolio and clicking on the link to vote. For an electronic proxy appointment to be valid, voting
instructions must be received by Neville Registrars no later than 11.00 a.m. on 11 May 2016. You may not use any electronic
address provided in this notice of meeting to communicate with the Company for any purpose other than those expressly stated.
15. Each member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting which
the Company must cause to be answered. Information relating to the meeting which the Company is required by the Act to
publish on a website in advance of the meeting may be viewed at www.ad-investments.com/adi/home.
16. In accordance with section 311a of the Act, the contents of this notice of meeting, details of the total number of shares of which
members are entitled to exercise voting rights at the General Meeting and, if applicable, any members statements. Members’
resolutions or members’ matters of business received by the Company after the date of this notice will be available on the
Company’s website www.armstrongventures.com.
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